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GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

For the year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 3,867,623 5,037,539 5,793,075 6,137,640 7,035,496

Cost of revenue (1,687,860) (1,990,298) (1,937,823) (1,966,376) (2,512,930)
     

Gross profit 2,179,763 3,047,241 3,855,252 4,171,264 4,522,566

Other income and gains 95,393 118,189 139,568 230,884 223,893

Impairment loss under expected

 credit loss model, net of reversal (275) (11,717) (26,491) 1,607 (8,077)

Selling and marketing expenses (624,716) (697,871) (915,754) (893,513) (955,413)

Administrative expenses (734,560) (853,180) (883,083) (903,111) (955,673)

Development costs (844,076) (922,867) (1,075,400) (1,175,928) (1,159,308)

Other expenses and losses (100,134) (150,308) (307,820) (326,817) (266,118)

Share of results of associates (822) (1,370) (4,936) (15,080) (14,807)

Share of results of joint ventures (567) (1,717) (3,370) (1,783) (1,586)
     

Operating (loss) profit (29,994) 526,400 777,966 1,087,523 1,385,477

Interest income on pledged bank deposits 2,558 3,607 3,181 3,263 819

Exchange gain (loss) on financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss, bank borrowings,

 convertible preferred shares, convertible and

 exchangeable bonds and derivative financial instruments 3,250 (10,030) (1,052) 45,302 18,605

Fair value change on convertible preferred shares 2,809 60,659 110,697 – –

Fair value change on financial assets at 

 fair value through profit or loss – – 219 51,733 20,299

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments – – – 43,323 (2,879)

Net loss on disposal of property held for sale – (68) – – –

Net fair value gain on held for trading investment 58 – – – –

Finance costs (10,409) (12,415) (24,742) (157,680) (185,896)
     

(Loss) profit before taxation (31,728) 568,153 866,269 1,073,464 1,236,425

Taxation (57,209) (91,349) (163,214) (217,644) (253,067)
     

(Loss) profit for the year (88,937) 476,804 703,055 855,820 983,358
     



ANNUAL REPORT 05

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

For the year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Attributable to:

 – Owners of the Company (20,843) 545,573 807,212 953,501 1,062,060

 – Non-controlling interests (68,094) (68,769) (104,157) (97,681) (78,702)
     

(Loss) profit for the year (88,937) 476,804 703,055 855,820 983,358
     

(Loss) earnings per share

 – Basic (RMB cents) (4.12) 102.42 152.68 171.19 191.67

 – Diluted (RMB cents) (4.12) 102.27 152.17 170.96 191.58
     

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 3,140,286 3,391,027 3,667,822 3,869,904 3,944,043

Current assets 2,695,371 3,354,915 4,089,088 6,123,311 6,940,793

Non-current liabilities (314,990) (464,570) (492,756) (1,380,607) (1,256,118)

Current liabilities (1,036,606) (1,482,392) (1,903,106) (1,960,678) (2,554,109)

Non-controlling interests 65,106 133,824 235,273 155,414 239,791
     

Equity attributable to owners of

 the Company 4,549,167 4,932,804 5,596,321 6,807,344 7,314,400
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

2021 continues to be an extraordinary year with both opportunities and challenges. We are proud of our achievements as 

we delivered yet another year of strong all-round performance. 2021 marked our fifth consecutive year of growth in revenue, 

operating profits and net profits, and this would not be made possible without our deep investments made in our technologies, IP 

and sales partnership network. Our 2021 revenue increased by 14.6% YoY, reaching RMB7.0 billion as both our gaming and 

education businesses continued to grow strongly.

GAMING

Our gaming business hit new highs both in terms of revenue and core segmental profits with 6.1% and 7.8% YoY increase, 

respectively, as we continued to pursue a balanced, sustainable growth strategy, which resulted in across-the-board revenue 

growth from PC and mobile platforms, as well as in both China and the overseas markets. We also achieved revenue growth in 

all three of our flagship IPs – Eudemons, Conquer Online and Heroes Evolved.

Domestic regulatory developments in the gaming industry during the year have led to an ever-increasing emphasis on quality 

of gaming contents as well as end-user experience. As a prominent gaming developer in China with a long track record of 

producing some of the most popular games with our legendary IPs, we are extremely well-positioned to capitalize on the growth 

opportunity ahead of us. In 2021, our flagship IP Eudemons continued its upward growth trajectory with a 7.8% YoY revenue 

increase. In the past 5 years, we saw our annual revenue from the Eudemons IP grew by 3.5 times on the back of a series of 

significant enhancements in content, gameplay and overall user experience.

We continued to achieve breakthrough in innovation and extending our competencies to a broader spectrum of game genres. 

In December 2021, we successfully launched our first ACGN mobile game under our new IP Under Oath, which not only 

broadened our game genre capability, but also significantly extends our reach to young players and lays a solid foundation for 

our overseas expansion to capitalize on the huge ACGN addressable market globally. Furthermore, we are actively expanding 

our genre portfolio into casual games as we expect to commence testing of our Neopets Match-3 game this year, as well as 

planning the development of a new card game.

We are also excited by the opportunities offered by the metaverse. We are a strong believer in blockchain and decentralization 

that will bring gaming experience to a whole new level. We are one of the earliest and most experienced gaming developers 

in China with deep expertise in providing immersive experience with highly-engaged communities within our games, and these 

unique capabilities will put us in a great position to develop successful games in the metaverse. In 2021, we initiated planning of 

our first blockchain-based metaverse game under our overseas IP Neopets.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Looking forward, we will continue to pursue a balanced growth strategy which will enable us to continue our growth trajectory in 

the long run. We expect our revenue growth in 2022 to come from both existing games and new games. We will also ramp up 

our effort in exploring the opportunity to develop blockchain-based games.

EDUCATION

Our education revenue in 2021 increased by 32.2% YoY, the highest growth rate in the past four years. The global pandemic in 

the past two years has led to fundamental changes in education which have accelerated the adoption of classroom technology. 

As the world returns to normalcy where most schools are fully open while some students cannot physically learn at school due to 

Covid, virtually all schools are in need of technologies that support a blend of online and offline learning.

As K-12 educators look for technology tools to educate and interact with students in the new normal, our Promethean products 

have proven to be the best option in the market as we continued to maintain our number one market share position in the 

international markets. We are continuing to win customers with our industry-leading hardware and software products, as well as 

our strong service support and professional development capability that integrate our deep education knowledge in the different 

markets that we serve. The fast-growing demand and the confidence that we have built with our customers have also led to higher 

commitments by school districts in our products as we saw significant increase in large, multi-year rollouts during the year.

Our country rollout strategy continued to make progress. During the second half of the year, we successfully completed the first 

pilot phase for English Smart Classroom Lab project in Thailand and expanded our strategic cooperation with Ghana Ministry of 

Education with a target to implement a country-wide blended learning platform. In Egypt, we recently signed a definitive contract 

to supply 94,000 Promethean interactive flat panels to K-12 schools across the country, another major milestone in our long-term 

partnership with the Ministry of Education. We are expecting to commence software monetization in Egypt in 2022, and 

meanwhile, we are actively in discussion to expand our offering in new initiatives around content and metaverse applications.

Looking forward, we expect to see continuous momentum in global blended learning market demand, which will continue to drive 

revenue growth for our Promethean business, and at the same time, we are looking to expand our R&D investments significantly 

in 2022 to enable software and content monetization on our classroom interactive flat panel displays. We will also continue to 

move forward with our several country rollout projects, which will give us a first-mover advantage in these unique opportunities to 

drive large-scale top-down adoption of our products.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

CAPITAL RETURN MEASURES

I would like to reiterate our commitment to enhance shareholder value as we continue to execute capital return measures including 

share buyback and dividends in view of our confidence in future growth prospects and our ability to generate sustained free cash 

flow. In August, we announced a 3-year share buyback program with a total repurchased amount of up to USD300 million, and 

to date, we have repurchased 16.2 million shares amounting to USD38.0 million. In total, we returned USD186.4 million to 

our shareholders in 2021 via a combination of share repurchase and dividends declared, including a USD100 million special 

interim dividend announced in January 2022.

I look forward to continuing our journey and delivering another strong year in 2022. Thank you for your continued support and 

trust. Let’s explore the bright future together.

Liu Dejian

Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(1) FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND REVIEW

Fiscal Year 2021 Financial Highlights

• Revenue was RMB7,035.5 million, representing a 14.6% increase YoY.

• Revenue from the games business was RMB3,641.6 million, representing 51.8% of the Group’s total revenue and 

registering a 6.1% increase YoY.

• Revenue from the education business was RMB3,231.0 million, representing 45.9% of the Group’s total revenue and 

registering a 32.2% increase YoY.

• Gross profit was RMB4,522.6 million, representing an 8.4% increase YoY.

• Core segmental profit1 from the games business was RMB2,119.9 million, representing a 7.8% increase YoY.

• Core segmental loss1 from the education business was RMB411.7 million, representing a 28.4% improvement YoY.

• EBITDA was RMB1,829.4 million, representing a 12.8% increase YoY.

• Operating profit was RMB1,385.5 million, representing a 27.4% increase YoY.

• Non-GAAP operating profit2 was RMB1,507.0 million, representing a 14.6% increase YoY.

• Profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB1,062.1 million, representing a 11.4% increase YoY.

• Non-GAAP profit attributable to owners of the Company2 was RMB1,290.3 million, representing a 13.0% increase 

YoY.

• The Company declared a final dividend of HKD0.40 per ordinary share (2020: HKD0.25 per ordinary share), 

subject to approval at the coming annual general meeting. Total dividends for the year (including special interim 

dividend declared in January 2022) amounted to HKD2.23 per ordinary share (2020: HKD0.50 per ordinary 

share), representing approximately 93.8% of the total profit attributable to the owners for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(1) FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND REVIEW (Cont’d)

Segmental Financial Highlights

FY2021 FY2020 Variance

(RMB’000) Gaming Education Gaming Education Gaming Education

(Restated) (Restated)

Revenue 3,641,562 3,231,003 3,432,666 2,443,941 6.1% 32.2%

Gross profit 3,473,642 995,312 3,301,513 758,605 5.2% 31.2%

Gross margin 95.4% 30.8% 96.2% 31.0% -0.8% -0.2%

Core segmental profit (loss)1 2,119,937 (411,730) 1,967,160 (574,842) 7.8% -28.4%

Segmental operating expenses3

– Research and development (657,547) (500,903) (634,272) (536,678) 3.7% -6.7%

– Selling and marketing (418,952) (530,140) (401,142) (483,215) 4.4% 9.7%

– Administrative (318,294) (350,635) (306,586) (291,157) 3.8% 20.4%

Note 1: Core segmental profit (loss) figures are derived from the Group’s reported segmental profit (loss) figures (presented in accordance 

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 8) but exclude non-core/operating, non-recurring or unallocated items 

including government grants, finance costs of financial instruments, intercompany finance costs, impairment loss (net of reversal), 

impairment loss of goodwill and intangible assets, impairment of interest in an associate, fair value change and exchange loss 

on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), fair value change and exchange gain on derivative financial 

instruments, interest expense and exchange gain on convertible and exchangeable bonds and redundancy payment.

Note 2: To supplement the consolidated results of the Group prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, the use of non-GAAP measures is 

provided solely to enhance the overall understanding of the Group’s current financial performance. The non-GAAP measures are 

not expressly permitted measures under HKFRSs and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures for other companies. 

The non-GAAP measures of the Group exclude share-based payments expense, amortisation of intangible assets arising on 

acquisition of subsidiaries, impairment loss of goodwill and intangible assets, impairment of interest in an associate, fair value 

change on financial assets at FVTPL, fair value change on derivative financial instruments, finance costs, interest income on 

pledged bank deposits and exchange gain on financial assets at FVTPL, bank borrowings, convertible and exchangeable bonds 

and derivative financial instruments.

Note 3: Segmental operating expenses exclude unallocated expenses/income such as depreciation, amortisation and exchange 

difference that have been grouped into SG&A categories on the Company’s reported consolidated financial statements, but 

cannot be allocated to specific business segments for purpose of calculating the segmental profit (loss) figures in accordance 

with HKFRS 8.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2) BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) 

delivered yet another year of strong all-round performance. 2021 marked the fifth consecutive year of growth in revenue, 

operating profits and net profits, and this would not be made possible without deep investments made in the technologies, 

IP and sales partnership network. In 2021, the revenue increased by 14.6% YoY, reaching RMB7.0 billion as both gaming 

and education businesses continued to grow strongly.

Education revenue in 2021 increased by 32.2% YoY, the highest growth rate in the past four years, as the Group saw 

accelerated the market growth driven by increasing demand for blended learning solutions around the world. As K-12 

educators look for technology tools to educate and interact with students in the new normal of learning, Promethean 

products have proven to be the best option in the market as the Group continued to maintain the number one market share 

position in the international markets. The Group’s country rollout strategy also continued to make progress. During the 

second half of the year, the Group successfully completed the first pilot phase for English Smart Classroom Lab project in 

Thailand and expanded the strategic cooperation with Ghana Ministry of Education with a target to implement a country-

wide blended learning platform. In Egypt, the Group recently signed a definitive contract to supply 94,000 Promethean 

interactive flat panels to K-12 schools across the country, another milestone in the long-term partnership with the Ministry of 

Education.

Gaming business recorded 6.1% in revenue growth and 7.8% in core segmental profits growth as the Group continued to 

pursue a balanced, sustainable growth strategy, which resulted in across-the-board revenue growth from PC and mobile 

platforms, as well as in both China and the overseas markets. The Group’s flagship IP Eudemons continued its upward 

growth trajectory with a 7.8% YoY revenue increase. The Group also saw the annual revenue from the Eudemons IP grew 

by nearly 3.5 times in the past 5 years on the back of a series of significant enhancements in content, gameplay and 

overall user experience. In December 2021, the Group successfully launched the new ACGN mobile game under the new 

IP Under Oath (終焉誓約), which not only attests to the ability in new genre development capability, but also significantly 

extends the reach to young players and lays a solid foundation for the overseas expansion to capitalize on the huge 

ACGN addressable market overseas.

The Group would like to reiterate the commitment to enhance shareholder value as the Group continues to execute capital 

return measures including share buyback and dividends in view of the confidence in future growth prospects and the ability 

to generate sustained free cash flow. In August 2021, the Group announced a 3-year share buyback program with a total 

repurchased amount of up to USD300 million, and to date, the Group has repurchased 16.2 million shares amounting to 

USD38.0 million. In total, the Group returned USD186.4 million to the shareholders in 2021 via a combination of share 

repurchase and dividends declared, including a USD100 million special interim dividend announced in January 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2) BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Cont’d)

Gaming Business

Gaming business continued its growth momentum with both revenue and core segmental profit hitting new highs. Revenue 

of gaming business increased by 6.1% YoY to RMB3.6 billion, and core segmental profit increased by 7.8% YoY to 

RMB2.1 billion.

Eudemons Online (魔域), the Group’s core flagship IP, achieved revenue growth of 7.8% YoY, and meanwhile has 

grown its revenue for 7 consecutive years. In 2021, the Group’s focus was on understanding the needs of the players 

together with an optimal monetization strategy that leads to higher revenue generated as a result of an enhanced playing 

experience, while ensuring a balanced ecosystem within the games. The Group is also executed a multi-pronged content 

strategy that leads to expansion of monetizable contents (which add utilities to the players and creates a pleasant user 

experience on top of the core MMORPG elements. Furthermore, the Group launched two expansion packs and multiple 

rejuvenation marketing campaigns during the year for the flagship game Eudemons Online (魔域) to drive revenue growth. 

Another future revenue driver will be the upcoming new game Eudemons Mobile 2 (魔域手遊 2), which underwent several 

rounds of testing during 2021 and is expected to be launched within 2022.

In 2021, overseas revenue increased 7.9% YoY as the Group continued to replicate the successful model for Conquer 

Online (征服) in Egypt and expanded into the Philippines, U.S., Canada and Saudi Arabia. Further, as MOBA remains 

one of the most popular game genres globally, the Group see significant opportunities in the overseas markets for the other 

flagship game Heroes Evolved (英魂之刃) given its success in China with over 200 million registered users, and as such 

the Group has increased its efforts in developing new markets for this game including Pakistan and Vietnam.

The Group reached another key milestone by launching a new IP in 2021 as the Company commenced open-beta testing 

of the first ACGN mobile game Under Oath (終焉誓約) in December 2021 with over 1 million active users and 152,000 

APA in the first month. The successful launch of this game represents an extension of game development capability to the 

ACGN genre, which is another major game genre with hundreds of millions of players globally. The Group currently aims 

to launch the first overseas version of Under Oath (終焉誓約) in Southeast Asia in the second half of this year.

The Group is also excited by the metaverse gaming space that gained tremendous traction in 2021. During 2021, the 

Group initiated planning of its first blockchain-based metaverse game under the well-known overseas IP Neopets (尼奧竉物) 

with an alpha launch of the game scheduled in the second half of 2022. The Group’s vision for this game is to become 

the leading player in the “pet” asset class on the blockchain, and the Group expects to differentiate with a “Play-and-Earn” 

ecosystem with fun gameplay as the primary incentive to play, hence targeting both blockchain and mainstream players, as 

well as an existing base of 150 million Neopets’ players.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to pursue a balanced growth strategy which will enable the Group to continue its 

growth trajectory in the long run. The Group expects its revenue growth to come from both existing games and new games. 

The Group will also ramp up its effort in exploring the opportunity to develop blockchain-based games, both based on its 

own IPs as well as new IPs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2) BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Cont’d)

Education Business

Revenue from the education business increased by 32.2% YoY to RMB3.2 billion, while core segmental loss decreased by 

28.4% YoY. The global pandemic in the past two years has led to fundamental changes in education as blended learning 

model has become a major global trend. The Group is in a strong position to capitalize on this unprecedented opportunity 

as Interactive Flat Panel Display (“IFPD”) is widely seen as the “futureproof” technology to support hybrid learning, and the 

Group is the clear market leader in this category.

2021 is a year of accelerated market growth as the Group saw significant momentum in demand from K-12 schools 

around the world. Shipment volume of interactive flat panel displays in the global K-12 market increased by 24.3% YoY 

in 2021, representing the highest growth in the past 5 years. During the year, the Group continued to build on the market 

leadership position, leading to 32.2% YoY revenue growth for education business. Specifically, the Group delivered 

strong performance in all of the major markets as the Group maintained the No. 1 market share position in 4 of the top 5 

countries in terms of revenue contribution, including the U.S., the U.K., Germany and France. The Group also continued 

to execute with operational excellence to overcome supply chain challenges, as the Group mitigated increase in materials 

cost and freight cost by strategically enhancing the product mix and adoption of best-in-class logistics planning. The gross 

margin for education business was 30.8% in 2021, compared to 31.0% in 2020.

The Group continued to make progress during the year with country rollout. In Thailand, the pilot for English Smart 

Classroom Lab Project was completed with significant quantifiable increase in students’ learning outcomes, and on the 

back of that, the Group expects to move towards a nationwide paid pilot this year. In September 2021, the Group signed 

a MOU with Ghana Ministry of Education to secure a long-term partnership to develop a country-wide blended learning 

platform. The Group also reached another major milestone in Egypt recently by signing a definitive contract to supply 

94,000 Promethean interactive flat panels to K-12 schools, and meanwhile large-scale adoption of Edmodo is expected 

in 2022. The Group believes the adoption of Edmodo in Egypt will lead to further revenue opportunities down the road as 

the Group expects Edmodo to be the go-to platform for contents and services for K-12 students, parents and teachers in the 

country.

In China, the Group continued to execute the B2G strategy by working closely with education departments and schools 

to identify and capture opportunities. During the year, the Group made solid progress with the Virtual Lab platform in 

partnership with National Center for Educational Technology (“NCET”, a unit directly affiliated with the Chinese Ministry 

of Education) by successfully completing the nationwide pilot and covering more than 7,000 schools in 31 provinces that 

provided the foundation for commercial roll-out in 2022. In November 2021, the Group achieved another major win 

as the Group was awarded the tender to be the technical partner for the Ministry of Education’s National K-12 Smart 

Education Platform Project. The Group expects this tender win will enable the Company to capitalize on future B2G revenue 

opportunities, which will become mainstream going forward in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2) BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Cont’d)

Education Business (Cont’d)

Looking forward, the Group expects the overall education business to deliver another strong year in 2022. Global K-12 

classroom penetration of interactive display is expected to rise from 18% to 30% by 2025, providing ample room for 

growth of Promethean panels, while increasing penetration of classroom panels will inevitably open up software and 

content monetization opportunities, which will put the Group in a great position as the leading blended learning service 

provider.

 Corporate Milestones and Awards in 2021

Year 2021 Corporate Development Milestones/Recognitions

April • Fujian Province Huayu Education Technology Co. Ltd.* (福建省華漁教育科技有限公司) (“Fujian 

Huayu”) was awarded “Unicorn Enterprise”* (「獨角獸」企業) by the Office of the Construction 

Leading Group of Digital Fujian of Fujian Province (福建省數字福建建設領導小組辦公室)

• Fujian Province NetDragon Putian Education Technology Co. Ltd.* (福建省網龍普天教育科技

有限公司) (“Fujian Putian”) was awarded “Gazelle Enterprise”* (瞪羚企業) by the Office of the 

Construction Leading Group of Digital Fujian of Fujian Province *(福建省數字福建建設領導小

組辦公室)

June • Fujian NetDragon Websoft Co. Ltd.* (福建網龍計算機網絡信息技術有限公司) (“NetDragon 

(Fujian)”) was awarded “Fuzhou Gulou District Copyright Collaboration Protection Associate”* 

(福州市鼓樓區著作權協同保護聯繫企業) by People’s Procuratorate of Gulou District, Fuzhou 

City and the Gulou Brigade of Fuzhou Cultural Market Comprehensive Law Enforcement 

Detachment* (福州市鼓樓區人民檢察院、福州市文化市場綜合執法支隊鼓樓大隊)

• Fujian TQ Digital Inc. (福建天晴數碼有限公司) (“TQ Digital”) was awarded “2021 Fujian 

Provincial Leading Enterprise in Industry and Information Technology”* “2021 年福建省工業

和信息化省級龍頭企業” by the Department of Industry and Information Technology of Fujian 

Province (福建省工業和信息化廳)

July • Fujian Putian was awarded “Top 10 Cultural Enterprises in Fujian Province” (福建省文化企業十

強) by the Office of Cultural Reform and Development Work Leading Group in Fujian Province (福

建省文化改革發展工作領導小組辦公室)

August • NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded “Top 100 Enterprises with Competitiveness in Software and 

Information Technology Service 2021”* (2021 年度軟件和信息技術服務競爭力百強企業) by 

China Information Technology Industry Federation (中國電子信息行業聯合會)

* For identification purpose only
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Year 2021 Corporate Development Milestones/Recognitions

September • NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded the “2021 Top 500 Enterprises in the Service Industry in 

China”* (2021年度中國服務業企業500強) by China Enterprise Directors Association and 

China Enterprise Confederation (中國企業家協會、中國企業聯合會)

October • NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded “2021 Top 500 Private Enterprises of Investment in Research 

and Development” (2021民營企業研發投入500家) and “2021 Top 500 Private Enterprises 

of Invention Patent” (2021民營企業發明專利500家) by All-China Federation of Industry and 

Commerce (中華全國工商業聯合會)

• NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded “2021 Top 100 Privately Owned Enterprises in Fujian 

Province”* (2021年福建省民營企業100強) by Fujian Province Federation of Industry and 

Commerce (福建省工商聯會)

• NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded “2021 Top 100 Enterprises in the Service Industry in 

Fujian Province”* (2021福建服務業企業 100 強) by Fujian Enterprises and Entrepreneurs 

Confederation (福建省企業與企業家聯合會)

• NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded the “2021 Top 30 Internet Enterprises in Comprehensive 

Strength in Fujian Province” (2021年福建省互聯網企業綜合實力評價30強) by Fujian Internet 

Society (福建省互聯網協會)

• TQ Digital was awarded “2021 Top 100 Enterprises in the Strategic and Emerging Industry 

in Fujian Province”* (2021福建戰略性新興產業企業100強 ) by Fujian Enterprises and 

Entrepreneurs Confederation (福建省企業與企業家聯合會)

November • NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded the “2021 Top 50 Enterprises in Comprehensive Strength in 

the Software and Information Technology Service Industry in Fujian Province”* (2021年福建省

軟件和信息技術服務業綜合競爭力50強企業) by Fujian Software Industry Association (福建省

軟件行業協會)

December • NetDragon (Fujian) was awarded “Top 100 Internet Enterprises in the PRC”* (中國互聯網企業

百強)

(2) BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Cont’d)

 Corporate Milestones and Awards in 2021 (Cont’d)

* For identification purpose only
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(3) LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits with original 

maturity over three months and bank balances and cash of approximately RMB4,356.1 million (31 December 2020: 

RMB4,309.1 million).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB4,386.7 million as compared with 

approximately RMB4,162.6 million as at 31 December 2020.

(4) GEARING RATIO

 The gearing ratio (consolidated bank borrowings/consolidated total equity) was 0.06 (31 December 2020: 0.05). As at 

31 December 2021, total bank borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB402.9 million (31 December 

2020: RMB345.7 million) which included variable-rate loan of RMB191.5 million (31 December 2020: RMB273.1 

million) and fixed-rate loan of RMB211.4 million (31 December 2020: RMB72.6 million). The bank borrowings of 

RMB368.5 million (31 December 2020: RMB310.5 million) were secured by a pledge of property of a subsidiary, right-

of-use assets and corporate guarantee provided by the Company and its subsidiaries and the remaining bank borrowings 

of RMB34.4 million (31 December 2020: RMB35.2 million) were unsecured.

(5) CAPITAL STRUCTURE

 As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total equity amounted to approximately RMB7,074.6 million (2020: RMB6,651.9 

million).

(6) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.
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(7) SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS AND FUTURE 
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, 

associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2021.

During the year, the Group did not have other plans for significant investments and capital assets.

(8) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group operates mainly in the PRC, the United States of America and the United Kingdom. Most of its monetary assets, 

liabilities and transactions are principally denominated in the functional currency of respective group entities, which is 

Renminbi, US dollar and Great Britain Pound. However, the Group also has operations in Hong Kong, Australia and 

Europe and the business transactions conducted in these areas during the year were mainly denominated and settled in 

Hong Kong dollar, Australian dollar and European dollar respectively. The Group currently does not have hedging policy 

in respect of the foreign currency risk. However, the management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure to ensure 

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(9) CREDIT RISK

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due 

to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised 

financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk of trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables, refundable rental deposits and 

loan receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit 

approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, 

the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs 

impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on trade balances based on provision matrix, and trade 

receivables and contract assets which are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The credit risk on restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposit with original maturity over three months 

and bank balances are limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international 

credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks located in the PRC. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that 

the ECL on these balances is insignificant.
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(9) CREDIT RISK (Cont’d)

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of the associates, joint ventures and related companies. The 

Group’s credit risks in these balances are mitigated through the value of the assets held by these entities and the power to 

participate or jointly control the relevant activities of these entities. The directors of the Company believe that there are no 

significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 

12-month ECL. Based on the assessment of the management, the ECL for these balances were insignificant and thus no loss 

allowance was recognised.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with good credit ratings and there is no 

significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets with 

exposure spreading over a number of counterparties and customers.

(10) LIQUIDITY RISK

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending 

covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major 

financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. Based on the assessment of the 

management, liquidity risk encountered by the Group is minimal.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

Passion

We are passionate about work and collaboration with colleagues. We consider our work as a career and contribute our full 
efforts. We enjoy the satisfaction from work, we are optimistic and positive, and are able to disseminate such positive energy in 
the daily interactions with colleagues, together with mutual trust, support and encouragement.

Learning

Learning is a habit of every staff in the Group. We always have curiosity and the urge to learn. We will proactively invest time 
and effort in learning, apply the skills we have learnt and expand our capabilities. We are good at self-examination and draw 
conclusions from happenings around us, and are willing to share and exchange ideas with others to promote mutual teaching 
and learning.

Innovation

Innovation is the driving force behind the success of the Group. We embrace changes, continuously explore and attempt new 
and more effective concepts and methods, in order to launch new technologies and new products.

Aggressiveness

We are featured by aggressiveness. We like to distinguish ourselves by mastering opportunities, expressing opinions and ideas, 
being responsible for or participating in the projects which arouse our interest, gaining resources and support to win market 
opportunities and honestly communicating with others on development requirement. We believe that if everyone volunteers to put 
up their hands, internal impetus and team power will be inspired to expand our business.

Pursuit of excellence

Pursuit of excellence is a working standard for our staff. We aim for high aspirations and excellence, self-challenge and surpassed 
expectations. We plan several steps ahead, striving to provide customers with the highest quality products and services, and 
constantly challenge our own potentials while doing our best.

Fairness

Fairness is the working atmosphere we promote. The Group strives to create a working atmosphere with fair allocation, fair 
procedures, public information and mutual respect. Through a public process and open supervision, the Group ensures that results 
are fair and hopes that all employees can treat everything and everyone objectively and equally.

Customer comes first

Customer comes first is the philosophy in product design and services. Group staff have an acute judgement on market and 
customers. Through technology and services, customer requirements are satisfied and steered quickly, and through continuous 
improvements in customer experience, we can create value for customers and acquire competitive advantages. Each staff also 
adheres to the concept even when providing services to our internal customers.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2021, total number of employees of the Group is 4,834.

1. In 2021, based on the Company’s corporate strategies and objectives, a large number of outstanding talents in various 

professional fields were attracted by our extensive business platform and rapidly growing business trend. A total of 597 

were recruited throughout the year, in which, 91 seniors mainly focusing on the areas of games and education were 

introduced. The Company has always attracted and cultivated emerging forces with an open and innovative mindset. The 

Company also launched the 2022 autumn campus recruitment campaigns in key renowned universities across the country, 

which attracted the attention of high-quality fresh graduates at home and abroad, to continuously bring in new blood 

into the Company. In addition to regular campus recruitment, the Company has established industry-university-research 

cooperation relationships with a number of well-known colleges and universities to continuously promote talent education in 

colleges and universities. Moreover, in respect of on-campus recruitment brand, the Company were awarded the “2021 

Best Employer” (2021 最佳人才僱主獎).

2. The Group was active in exploring the best model for organisational management, with a more open, autonomous and 

liberal culture and the construction and implementation of related mechanisms. Based on the affairs, we are actively 

exploring flexible employment models, aiming to recruit global talents and optimize the talent structure of the organisation. 

By using business tools as a grip for organizing knowledge on a trial basis, we are committed to building a borderless 

organisation, a knowledge-based organisation and an empowering platform organisation. We will continue to promote 

the improvement of organisational efficiency, reduce ineffective approval processes through the structuring of process 

documents, thereby enhancing the internal management efficiency and promoting the disclosure of internal information. 

With implementation of the concept of fairness, the Company discloses the information and procedures of human resources 

management. It enables employees to participate in the management of the Company extensively with the help of BUG 

mechanism with the characteristic of the Company, newly invested AI questionnaires, and commendation/complaint 

collection cabins for mid-level and senior employees to protect their own rights and interests.

3. In terms of cadre management, we continued to promote the normalisation of checking, selection and empowerment of 

cadres to build a talented cadre team. The Company launched the “Young Cadre Program”, and deliberately promoted 

“young people” in the selection of cadres, and selected outstanding young people with more passion, potential and 

execution ability. It can help the Company to replenish more young power. By appointing more young people that 

represent a larger proportion in the team, the cadre team can remain vigorous to boost the thinking and decision-making of 

the Company more up-to-date and future-oriented.
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4. In terms of performance management, we practiced the management concept of affairs-centered and independent 

management, assisted in the implementation of strategies and the breakdown of goals, and established an organisational 

and personal goal and performance assessment system based on this management concept to improve the efficiency 

and effectiveness of performance management and create value for the organisation and business. Correspondingly, we 

promoted the corporate affair-oriented performance appraisal. On one hand, we paid attention to the proactiveness and 

performance improvement of the staff with poor performance. On the other hand, we promoted the application of AI in the 

performance management and talent selection and structure upgrading through performance system and standardisation of 

information management. It combined the strategic demand of the Company to continuously promote talents upgrade and 

review staff’s performance regularly. The Company encouraged, praised, counselled, improved and optimized our staff, 

to create a positive working atmosphere of survival of the fittest. It achieved a win-win situation between individual and the 

organisation and build a harmonious employee relationship by optimizing talents structure and improving staff allocation.

5. In terms of compensation and benefits, we continued to pay attention to the salary dynamics of the market to maintain the 

competitiveness of remuneration packages; we formulated differentiated compensation strategies and allocated resources 

to key talents who are the main creators of the corporate values. We further explored the corporate affair-oriented payroll 

model to boost employee motivation and improve their work productivity. Decentralisation simplifies the process, allowing 

business teams to be more efficient and quickly keep up with the development needs of the Company. We continued 

to improve the welfare systems of the company, introduced digital AI management, promoted the standardisation and 

automation of processes, and improved the satisfaction rate of employees.

6. In terms of talent cultivation, we responded to the needs of corporate affair-oriented management, and started from the 

perspectives of new management concepts, excellent working methods, education concepts and business products to meet 

the learning needs of personnel in the development of the organisation in terms of changes in awareness, cognition and 

skills. We executed the education concept of the Company by applying the Company’s education products. Through AI 

data analysis, deliberate exercises and business tools, we promoted the implementation of the corporate affair-oriented 

concept.

7. In terms of staff services, the Human Resources Shared Services Platform (SSC) integrated the shared services of various 

departments in the Group, and acted as a Human Resources Centre to provide information support for human resources 

decision-making. In 2021, SCC targeted upgrading staff’s experience. Through continuous optimisation and standardisation 

of service system, it kept promoting AI intelligence and improving shared service quality, service efficiency, service efficacy 

to ensure service satisfaction. Making the prevention and control of the epidemic a regular practice. On the one hand, 

we paid close attention to and followed the government policy, quickly upgraded the preventive and control measures of 

the Company, and implemented the main responsibility of prevention and control of the epidemic in the enterprise. On the 

other hand, we actively responded to the call of the government authority for vaccination for the COVID-19, and organized 

vaccination for employees by securing vaccination quotas and arranging special vaccination sites to protect the health of 

employees and build a universal immunisation barrier.
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WORKING ENVIRONMENT

The Group provides a friendly and happy working environment for our staff, with spacious and well-equipped workplace, 

including staff canteen, cafes, activity rooms, indoor and outdoor swimming pool, football court, basketball court, badminton 

court, tennis court, squash courts and fitness center. A relaxed and pleasant working environment does not only enhance a sense 

of belonging among staffs, but also enhance their work efficiency and creativity. The Group also organises various staff activities 

such as carnival, quarter marathon and new year gala.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Liu Dejian, aged 50, Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Mr. Liu led us to become one of the leading online game and mobile Internet operations companies in PRC. He is mainly 

responsible for the overall business strategic development of the Group and is the chief game designer of our game development 

team. Mr. Liu leads the game development team on the design of the online game products. He formulates the development 

policy and contributes to the growth of the Company as a competitive online game operator and developer. Currently, Mr. 

Liu is committed to lead the Company’s transformation to an international design-oriented enterprise, and actively promoting 

Internet education, leading the Group to become China’s leading online education industry force. Apart from his management 

and leadership, Mr. Liu constantly holds training seminars to further enhance the development of our human resources. Under 

his leadership, the Group was honoured as the “Top 30 Cultural Enterprises in the PRC” (全國文化企業三十強) for three 

consecutive years and as “Top 100 Internet Enterprises in PRC” (中國互聯網企業百強) for eight consecutive years. The Group 

was also honoured as “Top 2000 Forbes Global business” (福布斯全球企業兩千強) in May 2014, “Third Award of Top 100 

Forbes Potential Enterprises in PRC” (福布斯中國潛力企業百強榜第三名), and “Top 100 National Software Comprehensive 

Competitiveness Enterprises” (全國軟件企業綜合競爭力百強) in 2015.

Mr. Liu graduated with a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Chemistry from University of Kansas in the USA in 1995, and received 

a doctorate degree in education from Beijing Normal University in 2021. Prior to starting Fujian NetDragon Websoft Co., Ltd. (福

建網龍計算機網絡信息技術有限公司) (“NetDragon (Fujian)”), Mr. Liu had been the vice-president of Beso Biological Research 

Centre, Inc (“Beso”) from 1995 to 2005. He was also the vice-president of Fuzhou Yangzhenhua 851 Bio-Engineering Research 

Inc. (“Fuzhou 851”) from 1995 to 2000 and then promoted to be the president since 2001. Mr. Liu was first introduced to the 

technology of Internet during his study in the USA when he established a website for marketing of softwares. Anticipating that 

Internet would have a good development opportunity in the PRC, he founded NetDragon (Fujian) in 1999 when he came back 

to the PRC.

Mr. Liu was awarded as the “Most Influential Person within the Online Game Industry in China in the Chinese Game Industry 

Annual Conference 2009” in January 2010 (2009年度中國遊戲產業最具影響力人物). He was also awarded as “Excellent 

Entrepreneur of China Game Industry”* (中國遊戲行業優秀企業家) in the China Game Industry Annual Conference in 

December 2009. He was appointed as vice-chairman of Fujian Province Association of Youth Entrepreneur* (福建省青年企

業家協會) in April 2006. He also obtained Fujian Youth Entrepreneur Achievement Award* (福建青年創業成就獎) in April 

2005, Go Tone Fujian IT Industry Top 10 Outstanding Youth* (全球通福建IT行業十大傑出青年) in May 2005, Certificate of 

Fujian Entrepreneurial Tutor of the Chinese Youth Business International Programme* (中國青年創業國際計劃福建創業導師證

書) in June 2005, Fujian Youth Technology Award* (福建省青年科技獎) in March 2010, Software Outstanding Talent in Fujian 

Province* (福建省軟件傑出人才) in September 2010 and Entrepreneurial Excellence Award in Haixi* (海西創業英才獎) in 

April 2012, and he was appointed as a member of the Second Council of The Association for Redound Reposal, Fujian (福建省

誠信促進會第二屆理事會) in July 2012. Mr. Liu received the Management Talent Award* (領軍人物獎) in June 2011, Fujian 

* For identification purpose only
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Business Building Haixi Outstanding Contribution Award* (福建閩商建設海西突出貢獻獎) and Fujian Donations of Non-public 

Ownership Economy Welfare Outstanding Contribution Award* (福建非公有制經濟人士捐贈公益事業突出貢獻獎) in June 

2013. Mr. Liu was awarded as the Entrepreneur of the Year in Entrepreneur Conference of CYZONE* (創業邦年會年度創業人物) 

in November 2013. As the developer of “91 assistant” software first person, Mr. Liu received the Progress Prize Second Award 

in Fujian Province Science and Technology* (福建省科學技術進步二等獎) in January 2014. Mr. Liu was awarded the Special 

Allowance Expert in State Council* (國務院特殊津貼專家) in January 2015, the Publishing Award for Outstanding People in 

Fujian Province* (福建省優秀出版人物獎) in September 2015, Excellent Leader in the Non-public Economy of Fujian Province* 

(福建省非公有制經濟優秀建設者) in May 2016 and the Economic Award of Chinese Businessman of 2016 (2016年度華

人經濟人物) in December of the same year. Mr. Liu was honoured as Senior Engineer* (享受教授、研究員待遇高級工程師) 

with his outstanding technical achievements in May 2017. As the developer of “VR/AR Core Engine Technology Platform” first 

person, Mr. Liu received the Progress Prize Third Award in Fujian Province Science and Technology* (福建省科學技術進步三等

獎) in December 2021. Mr. Liu is also a director of NetDragon Websoft (Hong Kong) Limited (“NetDragon (Hong Kong)”) and 

NetDragon Websoft Inc. (“NetDragon (BVI)”). Mr. Liu is a brother of Liu Luyuan and a cousin of Zheng Hui.

Leung Lim Kin, Simon, aged 67, Vice Chairman of the Board, Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 

Fujian Province Huayu Education Technology Co. Ltd. ("Fujian Huayu")

Dr. Leung joined the Company in March 2015. He is responsible for the planning, consolidation and operation of the education 

business of the Company in the People’s Republic of China and the development of the online education business overseas.

Dr. Leung had over 30 years of experience in both information technology and telecommunications industries. In 2005, he was 

appointed as the president of Motorola Asia-Pacific, a company principally engaged in the production of data communication 

and telecommunication equipment, where he was primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning and implementation in 

the Asia-Pacific region. Since 2008, Dr. Leung was the chief executive officer of Microsoft Greater China region, a company 

principally engaged in developing, manufacturing, licensing and sales of software products, where he was primarily responsible 

for overseeing overall business operations and for developing and implementing a regional strategy.

Prior to joining the Company, Dr. Leung also held management roles at various educational institutions or corporations engaging 

in education business. From 2009 to 2010, he was the governor of the Upper Canada College, an educational institution, 

where he was primarily responsible for establishing and directing policy for the college and overseeing its financial affairs. In 

2012, Dr. Leung was the chief executive officer of Harrow International Management Services Limited, a company principally 

engaged in the management of Harrow International Schools, where he was responsible for the development of new Harrow 

International Schools and education services in Asia.

Dr. Leung received his bachelor of arts degree and a doctorate in laws from the University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1978 

and 2005 respectively and a doctorate in business administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007.

* For identification purpose only
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Dr. Leung currently serves as a member of the Ivey Asia Advisory Board of the Richard Ivey School of Business of the University 

of Western Ontario, an educational institution, where he is primarily responsible for advising the school on its mission strategy in 

Asia. He is also a governor of Tung Wah College, an educational institution, where he is primarily responsible for determining 

key governance issues. From 2010 to 2015, Dr. Leung was a member of the International Advisory Committee of the Hong 

Kong Polytechnic University. From 2015 to 2017, he was appointed as a member of the Steering Committee on Innovation 

and Technology of HKSAR. Dr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of PuraPharm Corporation Limited (Stock 

Code: 1498), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He is 

also a director of ARHT MEDIA INC. (Stock Code: ART), a company listed on TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV).

Liu Luyuan, aged 48, Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer, Compliance Officer and one of the authorised 

representatives of the Company

Mr. Liu is the executive Director, Chief Executive Officer, Compliance Officer and one of the authorised representatives of the 

Company, and also serves as CEO of TQ Digital and director of NetDragon (BVI). Mr. Liu currently shoulders a number of social 

services, such as acting as the director general of the West Taiwan Strait Youth Entrepreneurs Foundation, vice chairman of Fujian 

Youth Development Foundation, vice chairman of the Fujian Youth Federation, executive vice chairman of Fujian Enterprises and 

Entrepreneurs Confederation, as well as the chairman of Fujian Youth Entrepreneurs Association.

As an outstanding representative of the new social community taking part in the construction of the Fujian West-strait Economic 

Zone, Mr. Liu has engaged in the operation and management of software enterprises and technology development since his 

graduation from Chengdu Electronic Technology University in 1997. He has decades of experience in the management and 

administration of technical institutions. Mr. Liu is in charge of overall management. He has set up the project management 

department, and introduced the game project management system to ensure a level of standards for game products. As the 

Company’s spokesman, he is also responsible for coordination with governmental departments, media, and other external parties, 

under which he has built up the Company’s public reputation. By taking part in various activities on behalf of the Company, he 

shared new ideas and new technologies in animation and game industry. Furthermore, he set up the West Taiwan Strait Youth 

Entrepreneurs Foundation to cultivate talent. Mr. Liu was awarded the “May 4th Youth Medal” and the titles of “Fujian Brilliant 

Entrepreneur”, “Fujian Top Ten Economic People” and “Fujian Business Building Haixi Outstanding Contribution Award”.

Mr. Liu graduated from Chengdu Electronic Technology University in 1997, with a degree in electro-mechanical engineering, 

and later received an adjunct professor certificate from Fujian Normal University. Mr. Liu is a brother of Liu Dejian, and cousin of 

Zheng Hui.

Chen Hongzhan, aged 49, Executive Director, Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer

Mr. Chen is the Senior Vice President, Chief Technology Officer and Executive Director of the Company. He is an experienced 

online game developer with over 20 years of experience in the management of game development. He is mainly responsible for 

game development of the Company. The technical team led by Mr. Chen is responsible for the Programme development and the 

technical support to the production of games of the Company. His technical support and experience have raised the efficiency 

and quality of the Company’s game development department.
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Mr. Chen graduated with a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering in Mechanical Design and Manufacture（機械設計及製造）from 

Beihang University（北京航空航天大學）in July 1995. Before joining the Company in 2001, Mr. Chen was a game developer. 

Mr. Chen established his own online game studio from 1996 to 1999. Mr. Chen worked as the project manager in Chongqing 

Dazhong Software Company from 1998 to 2000 and the manager of the technical department in Beijing Beijibing Technology 

Development Company Limited from 2000 to 2001.

Zheng Hui, aged 53, Executive Director, Chairman of NetDragon (Fujian) and NetDragon Communist Party Committee 

Secretary

Mr. Zheng is an executive Director of the Company and is responsible for the overall management of the Group. Mr. Zheng has 

accumulated over 20 years of management and administration experience, providing support to the Group’s operation, and 

coordinating, supervising and managing the duties of various departments. Mr. Zheng is one of the founding shareholders of 

the Company, and he is currently the legal representative and director of Fujian NetDragon Websoft Co, Limited* (福建網龍

計算機網絡信息技術有限公司), Fujian TQ Digital Inc. (福建天晴數碼有限公司), Fujian Province Huayu Education Technology 

Limited* (福建省華漁教育科技有限公司) and Fujian Tianquan Education Technology Limited* (福建天泉教育科技有限公司). 

At the same time, he is also appointed in several positions, which includes the Deputy to the Fujian Thirteenth Provincial People’s 

Congress* (福建省第十三屆人大代表), the Deputy to the Fuzhou Fifteenth Provincial People’s Congress* (福州市第十五屆人大

代表), the Deputy to the Fuzhou Sixteenth Provincial People’s Congress* (福州市第十六屆人大代表), Vice Chairman of Fujian 

Provincial Private Business Chamber of Commerce* (福建省民營企業商會常務副會長), Executive Vice Chairman of Fuzhou 

Private Enterprise Association* (福州市民營企業家協會常務副會長), member of China Culture and Entertainment Industry 

Association* (中國文化娛樂行業協會理事), Chairman of Fujian Cultural Enterprises Association* (福建省文化企業協會會長), 

Chairman of Trade Development Association of Fuzhou City* (福州市服務貿易發展促進協會會長), Executive Vice Chairman 

of the Fuzhou Chamber of E-Commerce* (福州市電子商務商會常務副會長), Vice Chairman of the Fujian Confidentiality 

Association* (福建省保密協會副會長), Vice Chairman of the Fujian Technology Market Association* (福建省技術市場協會副

會長), Vice Chairman of Fuzhou Talent Development Association* (福州市人才發展促進會副會長), Vice Chairman of Fuzhou 

Software Industry Association.

Mr. Zheng was awarded as the Brilliant Entrepreneur of Game Industry in China* (中國遊戲行業優秀企業家) from 2016 to 

2020 and was recognised as the First Batch of Cultural Master in Fuzhou* (福州市首批文化名家) in September 2018. He was 

also awarded the title of “Model Worker” in the thirty-sixth session of evaluation by Fuzhou Municipality People’s Government* 

(福州市第三十六屆勞動模範). He has been appointed as the Secretary of NetDragon Party* (網龍黨委書記) since 2016, has 

received Non-Government Party Award* (非公黨建金雁獎) in 2018, be honoured as Outstanding Party Performer* (市優秀黨

務工作者) in 2019, and was nominated as “Party Building Leaders of Digital Economy” in 2020.

Before founding NetDragon (Fujian) in 1999, Mr. Zheng worked in Beso and Fuzhou 851 from 1992 to 1999. He obtained a 

graduation certificate from the Continuing Education Institute of Beijing Normal University in 2000. Zheng Hui is the cousin of Liu 

Dejian and Liu Luyuan.

* For identification purpose only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Lin Dongliang, aged 59, Non-executive Director

Mr. Lin was appointed as a non-executive Director on 15 October 2007. Mr. Lin graduated with a Master’s degree in 

Engineering Management in 1986 from Tsinghua University.

Mr. Lin is currently a general partner of IDG Capital. He has presided over a variety of investment projects in the IT industry 

since 1995 with remarkable success. Prior to joining IDG Capital, Dongliang was a Senior Research Fellow at the Development 

Research Center of the State Department of China. He also previously worked for Citibank New York in 1992-1993. Mr. Lin 

is currently a non-executive director of IDG Energy Investment Limited (Stock Code: 650), a company listed on the Main Board 

of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lin is also a director of Sichuan Shuangma Cement Co., Ltd.（四川雙馬水泥股份有限公司）(stock 

code: 935), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chao Guowei, Charles, aged 56, Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chao was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 October 2007. Mr. Chao is also the chairman of 

the audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee and nomination committee. Mr. Chao is currently the Chairman of 

the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer of SINA Corporation, a company listed on Nasdaq. Mr. Chao joined SINA 

Corporation as a Vice President of Finance in 1999 and served as its Co-Chief Operating Officer, President and Chief Financial 

Officer before his current position as the Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Chao is also the 

Chairman of the board of directors of Weibo Corporation, a leading social media company listed on Nasdaq and the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange and a director of Leju Holdings Limited, a leading real estate O2O integrated services platform, 

which is listed on New York Stock Exchange, and a director of TuSimple Holdings Inc., a Nasdaq-listed autonomous technology 

company. Prior to joining SINA, Mr. Chao served as an experienced audit manager in PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to provide 

audit and business consulting services for companies in Silicon Valley, California. Mr. Chao was a certified public accountant 

and the member of AICPA. Mr. Chao graduated with a Master’s degree in professional Accounting from the University of 

Texas at Austin in 1993, a Master’s degree in Journalism from the University of Oklahoma in 1991 and a Bachelor’s degree in 

Journalism from the Fudan University in 1988.

Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie, aged 56, Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Lee was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 October 2007. Mr. Lee is also the chairman of our 

remuneration committee, a member of our audit committee and nomination committee.

He is a practicing solicitor and received his LL.B (Honours) degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of 

Hong Kong in 1988 and 1989 respectively. He was then admitted as solicitor in Hong Kong in 1991 and in England and 

Wales in 1997. He joined Howse Williams Bowers, a law firm in Hong Kong, as a consultant in 2014.



ANNUAL REPORT28

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lee is currently the independent non-executive director of Embry Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1388), Newton Resources Ltd 

(Stock Code: 1231), Tenfu (Cayman) Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 6868), Red Star Macalline Group Corporation 

Ltd (Stock Code: 1528), FSE Lifestyle Services Limited (formerly known as “FSE Services Group Limited”) (Stock Code: 331), Ten 

Pao Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1979), and Glory Sun Financial Group Limited (Stock Code: 1282), all companies 

listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee was also an independent non-executive director of each of Landsea 

Green Properties Co., Ltd (Stock Code: 106) between July 2013 to June 2020, and China BlueChemical Ltd (Stock Code: 

3983) between June 2012 and May 2021, all companies listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Liu Sai Keung, Thomas, aged 49, Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 October 2007. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of our 

nomination committee, a member of our audit committee and remuneration committee. He graduated with a MBA degree 

from the Anderson School at the University of California, Los Angeles and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and 

a Master’s degree in Finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1995 and 1999 respectively. Mr. Liu is currently 

the executive director and Chief Operation Officer of VCREDIT Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2003), a company listed on the 

Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Prior to joining VCREDIT Group in 2009, he served as the managing director of strategic 

investments of GroupM China from 2007 to 2009 and the vice president of Star Group Limited from 2006 to 2007. He was 

also served as a business development director of TOM Online Limited and an investment banking associate of the New York 

office of Lehman Brothers Inc.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Yam Kwok Hei, Benjamin, aged 46, Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President

Mr. Yam joined the Group as our Chief Financial Officer in October 2013 and is responsible for financial management, 

investor relations and strategic business development. Mr. Yam has over 15 years of professional experience in financial services 

spanning private equity, corporate finance and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, he was a Partner at Entropy Ventures, a 

cleantech venture capital firm, and before that, he worked for over 7 years at SAIF Partners, a pre-eminent Asian private equity 

firm managing over USD4 billion, where he last served as Senior Vice President and was actively involved in leading the closing 

and exit of numerous investment transactions in Greater China, as well as serving as an active board member of several portfolio 

companies. Mr. Yam started his professional career as an auditor at Arthur Andersen.

Mr. Yam holds a Master of Science degree from Columbia University and a Bachelor of Commerce degree from University of 

British Columbia. He is a Chartered Accountant, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and a Chartered Financial Analyst charterholder.
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Yu Biao, aged 52, Senior Vice President, Chairman of Fujian Huayu (PRC), Chairman of Fuzhou Software Technology 

Vocational College (福州軟件職業技術學院)

Mr. Yu joined the Group in September 2009, Currently, he serves as Senior Vice President of the Company, Chairman of 

Fujian Huayu (PRC) and Chairman of Fuzhou Software Technology Vocational College (福州軟件職業技術學院), and is mainly 

responsible for the planning, consolidation and operation development of the education business of the Company in the PRC and 

the development of its overseas online education business, with a focus on comprehensive business that covers early childhood 

education, basic education, higher education, vocational education, corporate training, and non-formal and lifelong education 

to provide educational authorities, colleges, kindergartens, parents and teachers with professional and convenient education 

services and teaching or training services through collaborations with educational authorities, colleges and enterprises by building 

official services platforms and services portals, so as to promote wider application of information technology in education and 

intelligent education that assisted us in cultivating and providing a large number of talents with practical skills. Mr. Yu also 

concurrently serves as the vice president of the Association of Promoting Reading in the Public of Fujian Province (福建省全民閱

讀促進會副會長), director of VR/AR Vocational Education Steering Committee of Fujian Province (福建省VR/AR行業職業教育

指導委員會), member of Council of Development of Warmth Projects of Fujian Province (福建省溫暖工程促進會), member of 

Digital Art Professional Committee of China Society of Image and Graphics (中國圖像圖形學學會數碼藝術專委會), Director of 

China Unicom 5G Applications Innovation Alliance (中國聯通5G應用創新聯盟理事).

Before joining the Company, Mr. Yu graduated from the Department of Light Industries of Fuzhou University in 1992, majoring in 

food engineering. Mr. Yu was a director of Xiamen Digital Engine Network Co., Ltd. (廈門數字引擎網絡有限公司) in 2000. He 

was the assistant to the dean of Napier College of Fuzhou University (福州大學中英Napier學院) from 2000 to 2007. Mr. Yu 

was the managing director of Fuzhou Bojie Education Consultation Co., Ltd. (福州博傑教育諮詢有限公司) in February 2004, 

deputy director of the Chinese and Australian Class Project of Fuzhou No.8 Secondary School and the Chief Representative of 

the Australian school in China in June 2006 and Managing Director of Fuzhou Bojie Child Education Technology Co., Ltd. (福州

博傑兒童教育科技有限公司) from 2008 to 2009. He has over 20 years of experience in education management.

Lin, Chiachuan, Peter, aged 51, Chief Designer and Vice President

After joining the Group in April 2013, Mr. Lin has participated in its businesses, such as the development and design of 

interface and hardware of the Company’s products, research and development of educational equipment, and design of gaming 

experience. He is currently responsible for the management of User Experience Design Center (UEDC) and Industrial Design 

Centre (IDC) and certain overseas design teams. Mr. Lin served as the senior manager of the design centre of BenQ Corporation 

(BenQ) from 2004 to 2006, and the chief designer of BenQ from 2006 to 2010, responsible for the design of brand-name 

products. He joined Samsung Design China under Samsung Electronics as the creative director/deputy chief in 2012. Mr. Lin 

graduated from Rochester Institute of Technology in New York, the U.S. and obtained a master’s degree of fine arts (MFA). He 

has over 20 years of experience in design and development and management of brand-name products.
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Wang Song, aged 40, Chief Product Officer and Senior Vice President

Mr. Wang joined the Group in 2002 and is responsible for the game projects, such as Eudemons Online 《魔域》 and Conquer 

Online 《征服》. He has also participated in the planning of a number of major projects, including Monster & Me 《幻靈游俠》, 

Zero Online 《機戰》, OL Tou Ming Zhuang Online 《投名狀OL》 and OL Heroes of Might & Magic Online 《英雄無敵OL》. Since 

2004, Mr. Wang has been planning the Eudemons Online 《魔域》 project, and in the past ten years, he has led the Eudemons 

Online 《魔域》 related projects to win numerous awards in China, successfully enter the overseas market, and achieve tens of 

billions of income for the Company. Mr. Wang has also been responsible for the planning and research and development of 

educational products of the Group since 2013. Since 2017, with the change of the Group’s overall education business structure, 

Mr. Wang has been fully responsible for the product business of the Group (including games and education). He is currently the 

Chief Products Officer and Senior Vice President of the Company, mainly responsible for the Company’s core product design, 

major strategic recommendations and major decision making.

Lin Wei, aged 43, Senior Vice President and President of Fujian Huayu (PRC)

Mr. Lin joined the Group in 2008 and is currently the senior vice president of the Group and the president of Fujian Huayu (PRC), 

mainly responsible for organisation and management of sales team, construction and expansion of sales channel and research 

and development of hardware products for the educational business of the Group in the PRC. Before joining the Group, Mr. Lin 

worked for DELL (China) and has over 15 years of experience in IT, mobile Internet and education industries.

Mr. Lin also serves as the instructor of Yanwu Maker at the Software College of Xiamen University and has dedicated to the 

integration of advanced technology (such as AI/VR/AR/big data) with education, so as to move the industry forward. In view 

of this, Mr. Lin actively encourages the implementation of virtual reality technology in higher vocational education. Since the 

inception of the virtual reality competition in the National Vocational Student Skills Competition （全國高等職業技能大賽虛

擬現實賽項） in 2017, Netdragon has been the organiser of this event for two consecutive years. Mr. Lin has facilitated the 

cooperation of Netdragon with National Center for Schooling Development Programme to set up Guoyu Huayu VR World 

Laboratory project, thereby providing VR technology laboratory and talent cultivation programme for research undergraduate 

education, application-type undergraduate education and vocational college. He has formed a VR educational alliance with 

China Association for Educational Technology and The Open University of China to provide VR curriculum design and laboratory 

construction programme for the Open University. Furthermore, Mr. Lin also serves on the editorial board of the “Artificial 

Intelligence”（人工智能）series, teaching materials for basic education published by the Shanghai Educational Publishing House. 

He received the 2020 Echoing China Tencent Education Annual Ceremony Award （二零二零回響中國騰訊教育年度盛典獎） 

and was recognised as the 2020 Education Industry Leader （二零二零年度教育行業領軍人物）.
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Xiong Li, 46 years old, Chief Executive Officer of NetDragon (Fujian), Associate Dean of Chinese Academy of Education 

Big Data, Deputy Director of National Engineering Laboratory for Cyberlearning and Intelligent Technology

Dr. Xiong joined the Group as Chief Executive Officer of NetDragon (Fujian) in July 2014, responsible for the Company’s 

general operation and management. His responsibilities include human resources, NetDragon University, public relations, art 

development and corporate on-the-job training projects. In addition, Dr. Xiong was appointed as deputy director of National 

Engineering Laboratory for Internet Education Intelligent Technology and Application in November 2017. He was also appointed 

as the Associate Dean of Chinese Academy of Education Big Data in January 2019.

Dr. Xiong has over 16 years of management experience in both information technology and internet industries. Before joining the 

Group, Dr. Xiong served as director of human resources at Shanda Group, and then as executive director of human resources and 

director of the office of the president. During this time, he oversaw and operated Shanda’s unique game-oriented management 

system and has applied for an intellectual property patent. Previously, Dr. Xiong was also a project manager of human resources 

at China Mobile where he led the building of competence model and won the 2nd prize of national management innovation 

issued by China’s Ministry of Industry and Information Technology. Dr. Xiong received a bachelor’s degree in automation from 

University of Science and Technology of China in 1999 and a doctorate degree in management science and engineering in 

2004 when graduated early. Dr. Xiong has published over 20 academic papers in domestic and foreign core journals.

Chen Hong, aged 46, Chief Technology Officer (“CTO”) of Fujian Huayu and Senior Vice President

Mr. Chen joined the Group as CTO of Fujian Huayu in April 2018, fully responsible for technical development strategy planning, 

research and development, difficult challenges and innovation, capacity improvement and other technical management issues in 

the education business field. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen served as General Manager of VMware Beijing R&D Center, 

R&D Director of CPD China and Japan, and CTO of SVM (Joint Venture of Sugon and VMware). Mr. Chen has rich management 

experiences in large-scale teams of Chinese and global companies, Sino-foreign joint ventures and startups. He also has excellent 

management skills in Internet education, education artificial intelligence, cloud computing, operating system, network, storage, 

system management automation and large enterprise software development, testing, product management, customer technical 

support, and R&D center management. Mr. Chen obtained a master’s degree in engineering from Beijing Institute of Technology 

in 1999 and a master’s degree in business administration from Tsinghua University in 2008.

Garwin Chan, aged 40, Chief Strategy Officer of Edmodo

Mr. Chan joined the Group in March 2019 as the Chief Strategy Officer of Edmodo. Prior to Edmodo, he was the chief financial 

officer at The Third Stone Holdings Limited, an e-commerce and blockchain startup. Prior to that, Mr. Chan was a private 

equity and credit investment executive, having spent 8 years with Bain Capital in the US and in Asia, before joining a Chinese 

conglomerate to lead their private equity investments. Mr. Chan graduated from Harvard College with a BA in Economics, and 

from Harvard Business School with a Master in business administration.
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Lin Chen, aged 40, Senior Vice President

Mr. Lin joined the Group in 2009, currently serves as the senior vice president of the Group. He is responsible for the 

management of the design center, the design planning center and QA department. Mr. Lin is an experienced expert in the area 

of software quality management. After joining the Group, Mr. Lin has led the QA technology team to continuously improve 

software quality management system and ensure product safety and reliability of the Company, and has in turn achieved 

remarkable result in ensuring software safety. Since 2013, Mr. Li has concurrently served as the head of the design center and 

was responsible for management of the game design, software design, UED and industry design teams. He proactively promotes 

improvement of design ability, cultivation of design talents, consideration and promotion of design method and helping the Group 

to transform into an international design enterprise. Since 2018, Mr. Lin has served as the senior vice president of the Group, 

responsible for the management of the design center, the design planning center and the QA department. Concurrently, he has 

been deeply involved in strategic work of the Group, such as decision-making in research and development of the game and 

education business.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Lin worked in the Global Information Technology Services department, responsible for testing and 

delivery of overseas IT projects. He is experienced in software quality management and overseas business management.

Vin Riera, aged 51, Chief Executive Officer of Promethean

Vin Riera was appointed as Chief Executive Officer at Promethean in January 2017. Vin is responsible for Promethean’s “mission 

to develop the transformative technologies, educational content and dynamic experiences that motivate students to learn”. He is 

committed to furthering the legacy of success and continuing to place Promethean customers at the center of everything it does. 

Prior to working for Promethean, Vin has served as the Chief Executive Officer at Collegis Education, Chief Executive Officer 

at Edmentum and held executive leadership roles at Gateway and Orange Business Services. Vin holds a Bachelor of Business 

Administration from Western New England University and has over 25 years of successful experience across the hardware, 

software and business services fields.

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Lau Hak Kin, Wood, aged 44, Financial Controller, Qualified Accountant, Head of Compliance and Corporate Affairs and 

Company Secretary

Mr. Lau joined the Group as Financial Controller and Head of Compliance and Corporate Affairs in February 2014 and 

was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Group in September 2014. Mr. Lau holds a bachelor’s degree in business 

administration, majoring in accountancy, from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a CFA 

charterholder. He has over 10 years of experience in financial management, risk management, accounting, taxation and auditing 

and previously worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers and acting chief financial officer of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited before 

joining the Group.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 

ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 29 July 2004 and is 

an investment holding company. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 

24 June 2008.

The Group is principally engaged in online and mobile games development, including games design, programming and 

graphics and online and mobile games operation, education business, mobile solution, products and marketing business and 

property project business.

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 55 of Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in “Management Discussion and 

Analysis” section on pages 11 to 15.

Details of analysis of the financial key performance are set out in “Management Discussion and Analysis” section on pages 9 to 

10.

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES

Competition in the online and mobile game industry in the global market, including the PRC, is becoming increasingly intense. 

There are already several online and mobile game companies, such as Zynga.com, Electronic Arts, Perfect World, IGG Inc, 

NetEase.com, Tencent Holdings Limited and Changyou.com, which have successfully listed their shares on NASDAQ, or the 

Hong Kong Stock Exchange. These companies all have strong financial resources. Moreover, there are many venture-backed 

private companies focusing on online game development further intensifying the competition, particularly in the global market. 

Recently, many of the competitors have not only been aggressively recruiting talent to bolster their game development capabilities, 

but also increasing their spending on game marketing. Increased competition in the online and mobile game market may make it 

difficult for the Group to retain our existing employees, attract new employees, acquire new players and sustain our growth rate.

The Company is affected by the emergence of new technologies and games. New technologies in online game development or 

operations could render the games that the Group designs or plans to develop obsolete or unattractive to players, thereby limiting 

our ability to recover the development costs, which could potentially adversely affect our future profitability and growth prospects.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES (Cont’d)

The Group relies on the spending of our game players for our revenue, which may in turn depend on the players’ level 

of disposable income, job security, perceived future earnings capabilities and willingness to spend. The global economy 

experienced a slowdown since the financial crisis, and the slowdown was further exacerbated by European debt crisis. It is 

uncertain how long and to what extent global economic difficulties will continue and how much adverse impact it will have on the 

economies in markets where we operate our games, such as North America, Europe, and Asia. If our game players reduce their 

spending on playing games due to such uncertain economic conditions, our business, financial condition and results of operations 

may be adversely affected.

Details of the risks relating to the contractual arrangements are set out on pages 53 to 57.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The future success of the Group is heavily dependent upon the continued service of our key executives and other key employees. 

In particular, the Group relies on the expertise and experience of Liu Dejian, an executive Director, in our business operations. 

Mr. Liu is mainly responsible for overall business strategic development and is the chief game designer of our game development 

team. Mr. Liu leads the game development team on the design of our online game products. He formulates our development 

policy and contributes to our growth as a competitive online game operator and developer.

The operating environment of the online game industry is changing rapidly. In order to maintain profitability and financial and 

operational success, the Group must continuously develop new online games that are attractive to players, make improvements to the 

existing games that appeal to players and enhance the technical and artistic features of all of our games. The success of our games 

largely depends on our ability to anticipate and respond effectively to the ever changing customer preferences and demand.

The Group’s suppliers include primarily server and bandwidth leasing companies and game operation service providers and 

it also relies on third party service providers in various aspects. The distribution and payment channels comprise (i) direct sales 

supported by online payment service providers and distribution partners, (ii) pre-paid card sales supported by distributors 

throughout the PRC, and (iii) cooperation channels supported by our cooperation partners. In addition, the Group relies on third 

parties in providing Internet support to our online games and also relies on an independent third party for the license from the 

GAPP, which is fundamental to our business, to publish our games.

The performance and the results of operation of the Group as set out in this Annual Report are historical in nature and past 

performance is not a guarantee of future performance. This Annual Report may contain forward-looking statements and opinions 

that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual result may also differ materially from expectations discussed in such forward-looking 

statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor the Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume any obligations or 

liabilities in the event that any of the forward-looking statements or opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

In relation to human resources, the Group is committed to complying with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) 

Ordinance, and ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and race discrimination, as well as the Employment 

Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to occupational safety of employees of the Group, so as to 

safeguard the interests and well-being of its employees.

The Group is also committed to safeguarding the security of personal data. When collecting and processing such data, the 

Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and the guidelines issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner 

for Personal Data, with a view to protecting the privacy of its employees and customers.

On the corporate level, the Group complies with the requirements under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws 

of Hong Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”), the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) for, 

among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance, and the Group has adopted the Model Code for 

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”).

Workplace Quality

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. The Group 

has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions of employment, expectations for employees’ conduct and behavior, 

employees’ rights and benefits. We establish and implement policies that promote a friendly and respectful workplace.

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets of an enterprise and regards human resources as its corporate wealth. 

We provide on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance our employees’ career progression. Through different 

training, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational and management skills are enhanced.

Health and Safety

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training and 

guidelines are implemented to ensure the working environment is healthy and safe. The Group provides health and safety 

communications for employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness of occupational health and safety issues.

The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, staff are entitled to 

medical insurance benefits as well as other health awareness programmes.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page 124.

The interim dividend of HKD0.40 for the six months ended 30 June 2021 was paid on 18 October 2021.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKD0.40 per share. The final dividend is expected to be 

payable on or before Friday, 8 July 2022 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 

Thursday, 9 June 2022, amounting to approximately RMB178,317,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year under review, the Group acquired certain property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 December 

2021.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in 

note 14 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the Company’s issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 42 of Notes to 

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of 

Changes in Equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company had reserves available for distribution to shareholders, which comprises 

the dividend reserve of approximately RMB810,514,000 (2020: approximately RMB118,044,000), share premium of 

approximately RMB1,985,077,000 (2020: approximately RMB2,219,742,000) and retained earnings of approximately 

RMB242,381,000 (2020: approximately RMB288,248,000) of the Company.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue from sales of goods or rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and the 

Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 20.9% and approximately 8.8%, respectively, of the Group’s total revenue 

for the year. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest supplier accounted 

for approximately 62.1% and approximately 35.9%, respectively, of the Group’s total purchase for the year.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or shareholders (which to the best knowledge of 

the Directors) owned more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five 

largest suppliers and customers during the year.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Dejian (Chairman)

Dr. Leung Lim Kin Simon (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Liu Luyuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zheng Hui

Mr. Chen Hongzhan

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lin Dongliang

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chao Guowei, Charles (Notes 2, 3 and 5)

Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie (Notes 1, 4, 5 and 8)

Mr. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas (Notes 1, 3, 6 and 7)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

Notes:

1. Member of Audit Committee

2. Chairman of Audit Committee

3. Member of Remuneration Committee

4. Chairman of Remuneration Committee

5. Member of Nomination Committee

6. Chairman of Nomination Committee

7. Member of Share Award Scheme Committee

8. Chairman of Share Award Scheme Committee

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 23 to 28.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company and each of the non-executive Director and 

independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company, all for an initial term of three years 

commenced on 24 June 2008 and renewable automatically for successive terms of one year each commencing from the day 

next after the expiry of the current term unless and until terminated in accordance with its terms or by either party thereto giving to 

the other not less than three months’ prior written notice. Each of the executive Directors will receive a salary which is subject to 

annual review at the discretion of the Board.

The determination of the salary payment to the Directors will be based on salaries paid by comparable companies, time 

commitment, the duties and responsibilities of the Directors in the Company, the Company’s performance and its remuneration 

policy.

Each of the executive Directors may also be entitled to a bonus payment in such amount as shall be determined by the Board in 

its absolute discretion provided that the aggregate sum of such bonus payments in any financial year shall, unless the Board shall 

determine otherwise, not exceeding 1% of the audited consolidated net profit of the Group after taxation but before extraordinary 

items in the relevant financial year.

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Liu Dejian, Dr. Leung Lim Kin, Simon and Mr. 

Chao Guowei, Charles, will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

In accordance with article 86(3) of the articles of association of the Company, any Director appointed from time to time by the 

Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company 

and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Mr. Liu Dejian, Dr. Leung Lim Kin, Simon and Mr. Chao Guowei, Charles being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at 

the AGM of the Company. None of the Directors proposed for re-election has a service contract with the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 

compensation).

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Chao Guowei, Charles, Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 

and Mr. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas and considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, 

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)), which were required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 

they were taken or deemed to have under provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be entered in the register kept by the 

Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions 

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name of Director

Name of 

Company

Capacity and 

nature of interests

Number of shares 

and underlying 

shares held or 

amount of 

registered capital 

contributed 

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

(Note 1)

Liu Dejian (Note 2) The Company Beneficial owner, through 

 a controlled corporation and 

 beneficiary of a trust

250,822,457 (L) 46.00%

Leung Lim Kin, Simon 

 (Note 4)

The Company Beneficial owner 5,446,310 (L) 1.00%
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Name of Director

Name of 

Company

Capacity and 

nature of interests

Number of shares 

and underlying 

shares held or 

amount of 

registered capital 

contributed 

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

(Note 1)

Liu Luyuan (Note 2) The Company Beneficial owner and 

 beneficiary of certain trust

250,822,457 (L) 46.00%

Liu Luyuan (Note 3) NetDragon (Fujian) Beneficial owner RMB299,880,000 (L) 99.96%

Zheng Hui (Note 2) The Company Beneficial owner and through 

 controlled corporations

250,822,457 (L) 46.00%

Zheng Hui (Note 3) NetDragon (Fujian) Beneficial owner RMB299,880,000 (L) 99.96%

Chen Hongzhan (Note 5) The Company Beneficial owner and 

 beneficiary of certain trust

11,197,019 (L) 2.05%

Chao Guowei, Charles 

 (Note 6)

The Company Beneficial owner 438,500 (L) 0.08%

Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 

 (Note 7)

The Company Beneficial owner 632,519 (L) 0.12%

Liu Sai Keung, Thomas 

 (Note 8)

The Company Beneficial owner 818,019 (L) 0.15%

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the shareholder‘s long position in the shares, underlying shares and share capital of the relevant member of the 
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

2. Liu Dejian is interested in 100.00% of the issued voting shares of DJM Holding Ltd., which in turn is interested in 35.04% of the issued 
voting shares of the Company. Liu Dejian is also interested in 0.35% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is represented by 
beneficial interest of 1,884,000 shares and a beneficiary of a trust of 197,019 shares.

Liu Luyuan is interested in 4.26% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is represented by interest held as a beneficiary of 
certain trust holding in aggregate 21,541,819 shares, and the rest being underlying shares of interest of 1,684,000 share options 
granted by the Company.

Zheng Hui is interested in 100.00% of the issued share capital of Fitter Property Inc., which in turn is interested in 3.49% of the issued 
voting shares of the Company. Zheng Hui is interested in 100.00% of the issued share capital of Eagle World International Inc., which in 
turn is interested in 2.55% of the issued voting shares of the Company. Zheng Hui is also interested in 0.27% of the issued shares of the 
Company which is represented by beneficial interest of 1,497,000 shares.

Liu Dejian is a brother of Liu Luyuan and a cousin of Zheng Hui who have agreed to act in concert to acquire interests in the shares in the 
Company. All of Liu Dejian, Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui are deemed to be interested in 46.00% of the issued voting shares of the Company 
through their direct and deemed shareholding in all of DJM Holding Ltd., a trust in favour of Liu Luyuan, a trust in favour of Liu Dejian, Fitter 
Property Inc., Eagle World International Inc. and their respective shares held as beneficial owner in each of their personal capacities.

3. Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui are interested in 0.07% and 99.89%, of the registered capital of Fujian NetDragon Websoft Co., Ltd. (福建網
龍計算機網絡信息技術有限公司) (“NetDragon (Fujian)”) respectively. Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui have agreed to act in concert to acquire 
interests in the registered capital of NetDragon (Fujian). All of Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui are deemed to be interested in 99.96% of the 
registered capital of NetDragon (Fujian).

4. Leung Lim Kin, Simon is interested in 1.00% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is represented by beneficial interest of 
1,446,310 shares and the rest being the underlying shares of interest of 4,000,000 share options granted by the Company.

5. Chen Hongzhan is interested in 2.05% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is represented by personal interest of 156,200 
shares and interest held as a beneficiary of certain trust holding in aggregate of 11,040,819 shares.

6. Chao Guowei, Charles is interested in 0.08% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is the underlying shares of interest of 
438,500 shares options granted by the Company.

7. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie is interested in 0.12% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is represented by personal interest of 
114,519 shares and the rest being underlying shares of interest of 518,000 share options granted by the Company.

8. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas is interested in 0.15% of the issued voting shares of the Company which is represented by personal interest of 

300,019 shares and the rest being underlying shares of interest of 518,000 share options granted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and chief 
executive of the Company had any interest and short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or 
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they 
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be entered in the register kept by 
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” stated in this report and note 51 of the Notes 

to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Company’s 

business, to which the Company was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material 

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year under review.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than a Director or chief executive 

of the Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the 

Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, 

which were required to be entered in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or, who were directly or 

indirectly interested in 10% or more of the issued voting shares of any other member of the Group:

Name of 

Shareholder

Name of 

Company

Capacity and 

nature of interests

Number of shares 

and underlying 

shares held or 

amount of registered 

capital contributed 

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

(Note 1)

DJM Holding Ltd. The Company Beneficial owner 191,078,100 (L) 35.04%

IDG Group 

 (Note 2)

The Company Beneficial owner 55,533,320 (L) 9.82%

Ho Chi Sing 

 (Note 2)

The Company Through controlled 

 corporations

55,533,320 (L) 9.82%

Zhou Quan 

 (Note 2)

The Company Through controlled 

 corporations

50,470,735 (L) 9.26%

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the shareholder ‘s long position in the share capital of the relevant member of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

2. The IDG Group is comprised of four limited partnerships, namely IDG Technology Venture Investments, L.P., IDG-Accel China Growth 

Fund L.P., IDG-Accel China Growth Fund-A L.P. and IDG-Accel China Investors L.P., being interested in approximately 2.00%, 6.03%, 

1.23% and 0.56% respectively, in the Company who are deemed to be acting in concert to acquire interests in the Company, and their 

respective controlling entities. The controlling structure of each of the above partnerships is as follows:

a) IDG Technology Venture Investments, L.P. is controlled by its sole general partner, IDG Technology Venture Investments, LLC, which 

in turn is controlled by its managing members, Zhou Quan and Ho Chi Sing.

b) IDG-Accel China Growth Fund L.P. and IDG-Accel China Growth Fund-A L.P. are controlled by their sole general partner, IDG-

Accel China Growth Fund Associates L.P., which in turn is controlled by its sole general partner, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP 

Associates Ltd.. IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP Associates Ltd. is held as to 35.00% by each of Zhou Quan and Ho Chi Sing.

c) IDG-Accel China Investors L.P. is controlled by its sole general partner, IDG-Accel China Investors Associates Ltd., which in turn is 

held as to 100.00% by Ho Chi Sing.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) 

who had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which 

would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were 

required to be entered in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly 

interested in 10% or more of the issued voting shares of any other member of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in note 51 to the 

consolidated financial statements of Group. Save as disclosed in below sections of this report, all other material related party 

transaction did not constitute non-exempted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

ND STRUCTURE CONTRACTS

ND Cooperation Framework Agreement

With a view to offer further protection to the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole by means of contractual 
arrangements, Fujian TQ Digital Inc. (福建天晴數碼有限公司) (“TQ Digital”) and Fujian NetDragon Websoft Co., Ltd. (福建網
龍計算機網絡信息技術有限公司) (“NetDragon (Fujian)”) and its equity holders entered into the structure contracts (together with 
the contracts entered into between NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian TQ Online Interactive Inc. (“TQ Online”) as set out below, the 
“ND Structure Contracts”), which superseded the cooperation arrangements between TQ Digital and NetDragon (Fujian) effective 
from 1 January 2007. The registered owners of NetDragon (Fujian) are: (i) Liu Luyuan, an executive Director (as to approximately 
0.07%), (ii) Zheng Hui, an executive Director (as to approximately 99.89%), (iii) Chen Minlin, an employee of Fuzhou 851 (as to 
approximately 0.02%), and (iv) Lin Yun, an employee of the Group (as to approximately 0.02%).

In view of the Enterprise Income Tax law adopted by the National People’s Congress of the PRC on 16 March 2007, a wholly 
foreign owned enterprise, TQ Online, has been set up to gradually substitute TQ Digital in our operation. TQ Online has entered 
into the ND Structure Contracts with NetDragon (Fujian) on 16 May 2008. As TQ Digital is and will still be the party operating 
the existing versions of the Group’s online games, all ND Structure Contracts entered into between TQ Digital and NetDragon 
(Fujian) will be retained.

Under the ND Structure Contracts, NetDragon (Fujian) is responsible to collect the revenue generated from the operation of the 
games. Through the ND Structure Contracts, we are able to recognise and receive the economic benefits of the business and 
operations of NetDragon (Fujian). The ND Structure Contracts enable TQ Digital and TQ Online to control over and to acquire 
the equity interests in and/or assets of NetDragon (Fujian) when permitted by the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

On 15 October 2007, TQ Digital and NetDragon (Fujian) entered into a cooperation framework agreement (the “ND 
Cooperation Framework Agreement”) pursuant to which TQ Digital and NetDragon (Fujian) agreed to cooperate in the provision 
of services relating to the online game development for and the operation of the online game business of NetDragon (Fujian). 
The ND Cooperation Framework Agreement and the terms of reference of the management committee (the “ND Management 
Committee”) laid down the principles that the ND Management Committee shall have right to determine the amount of license 
and service fees payable by NetDragon (Fujian) with reference to the amount of expenditure incurred by NetDragon (Fujian) 
in the conduct of its business and operations and its working capital requirements, including the guiding principles that (i) 
NetDragon (Fujian) shall pay the maximum amount of fees to TQ Digital without incurring any loss for each financial year; and 
(ii) the net asset value of NetDragon (Fujian) shall not exceed its net asset value as at 31 December 2006, being approximately 
RMB15,000,000. Further details of ND Management Committee are set out in the section of “Corporate Governance 
Report” under the paragraphs of “ND Management Committee”. This principle will ensure that all of the net profit after tax of 
NetDragon (Fujian) in each financial year shall be paid to TQ Digital as service or license fees, and will give flexibility to the ND 
Management Committee to implement the ND Structure Contracts and its underlying principles more effectively in response to 
constantly changing the PRC laws and regulation.

On 16 May 2008, TQ Online and NetDragon (Fujian) entered into another cooperation framework agreement with the same 
terms as the ND Cooperation Framework Agreement, save as to the date, duration and the substitution of TQ Digital by TQ 
Online. The term of such cooperation framework agreement is 10 years commencing from 16 May 2008 and ending on 15 
May 2018, and automatically renewable for successive 10 year terms provided that TQ Online does not issue any notice of 
termination one month before the termination date.
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ND STRUCTURE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

ND Cooperation Framework Agreement (Cont’d)

As a result of the ND Structure Contracts, TQ Digital and TQ Online are able to control NetDragon (Fujian), and accordingly, it 
is regarded as our subsidiary and its results are to be consolidated into our consolidated financial statements. Since NetDragon 
(Fujian) was under the common control of the same group of persons before and after our formation, the results and financial 
positions of NetDragon (Fujian) is combined into our consolidated financial statements using merger accounting as if NetDragon 
(Fujian) was part of us since its respective date of establishment or since the date when it first came under the common control.

In accordance with the terms of the ND Cooperation Framework Agreements, TQ Digital and TQ Online (where relevant) 
entered into (1) cooperation and license agreements in respect of online games; (2) online games software development service 
agreements; and (3) technical support service agreements with NetDragon (Fujian), for the purpose of license, development of 
online games and provision of technical services to NetDragon (Fujian). Details of the agreements are set out below:

Date of
agreement signed Name of agreement Summary of agreement Terms of agreement

15-10-2007 and
20-11-2007

Cooperation and
license agreements in
respect of online games

TQ Digital will license online
game softwares to NetDragon
(Fujian) for use in the PRC

• 10 years commencing from  
01-01-2007 to 31-12-2016*

• Consideration for an initial license 
fee and a per annum license fee 
determined as a percentage of 
NetDragon (Fujian)’s annual gross 
revenues

15-10-2007 Online game software
development service
agreement

TQ Digital will provide online
software development service
to NetDragon (Fujian)

• 10 years commencing from 
01-01-2007 to 31-12-
2016*

• Consideration of a service fee
15-10-2007 Technical support

service agreement
TQ Digital will provide
technical support services to
NetDragon (Fujian)

• 10 years commencing from 
01-01-2007 to 31-12-
2016*

• Consideration of a per annum 
services fee determined as 
a percentage of NetDragon 
(Fujian)’s annual gross 
revenues

16-05-2008 Online game software
development service
agreement

TQ Online will provide online
software development service
to NetDragon (Fujian)

• 10 years commencing from 
16-05-2008 to 15-05-
2018▲

• Consideration of a service fee

* automatically renewable for successive 10 year terms provided that TQ Digital does not issue any notice of termination one month before 
the termination date

▲ automatically renewable for successive 10 year terms provided that TQ Online does not issue any notice of termination one month before 
the termination date
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ND STRUCTURE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

ND Cooperation Framework Agreement (Cont’d)

Date of

agreement signed Name of agreement Summary of agreement Terms of agreement

16-05-2008 Technical support service

agreement

TQ Online will provide

technical support services to

NetDragon (Fujian)

• 10 years commencing from  

16-05-2008 to 15-05-2018▲

• Consideration of a per annum 

services fee determined as 

a percentage of NetDragon 

(Fujian)’s annual gross revenues

01-03-2009 Cooperation and license

agreements in respect

of online games

TQ Online will license online

game softwares to NetDragon

(Fujian) for use in the PRC

• 10 years commencing from  

01-03-2009 to 28-02-2019▲

• Consideration for an initial license 

fee and a per annum license fee 

determined as a percentage of 

NetDragon (Fujian)’s annual gross 

revenues

ND Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

On 28 September 2007, TQ Digital, NetDragon (Fujian) and all equity holders of NetDragon (Fujian) entered into an equity 

interest pledge agreement, pursuant to which all such equity holders granted to TQ Digital a continuing first priority security 

interests over their respective equity interests in the registered capital of NetDragon (Fujian), representing all of the equity interest 

in its registered capital, for the purpose of securing the performance of the contractual obligations by NetDragon (Fujian)’s equity 

holders under the ND Structure Contracts.

▲ automatically renewable for successive 10 year terms provided that TQ Online does not issue any notice of termination one month before 

the termination date
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

ND STRUCTURE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

ND Agreement for the Exclusive Right to Acquire Equity Interest and Assets

On 15 October 2007, TQ Digital, NetDragon (Fujian) and all of the equity holders of NetDragon (Fujian) entered into an 

agreement for the exclusive right to acquire equity interest and assets, pursuant to which NetDragon (Fujian) and all its equity 

holders granted to TQ Digital or its designee (a) a right to acquire part or all of the equity interest in the registered capital of 

NetDragon (Fujian); and (b) a right to acquire part or all of the assets of NetDragon (Fujian) from the equity holders of NetDragon 

(Fujian) as and when permitted by the relevant PRC laws and regulations. The amount of consideration payable by TQ Digital 

to the equity holders of NetDragon (Fujian) shall be a nominal amount or the lowest possible amount permissible under the 

applicable PRC law. If the minimum amount of consideration stipulated under the relevant PRC laws and regulations is higher than 

the nominal amount at the time of exercise of the acquisition right, Liu Dejian, Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui had jointly, severally and 

irrevocably undertaken to reimburse the Company or its subsidiaries of any amount in excess of the nominal amount.

ND Equity Holders’ Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

On 15 October 2007, all equity holders of NetDragon (Fujian) entered into an equity holders’ voting rights proxy agreement 

(the “ND Proxy Agreement”) with TQ Digital and NetDragon (Fujian), pursuant to which all equity holders of NetDragon (Fujian) 

have irrevocably authorised TQ Digital or a nominee designated by TQ Digital (which will likely be a director of TQ Digital) to 

exercise all their voting rights in NetDragon (Fujian). The term of the ND Proxy Agreement shall continue indefinitely for so long as 

NetDragon (Fujian) subsists in order to secure our control over NetDragon (Fujian).

ND Other Contracts

The Directors expect that there may be other contracts, such as service agreement and/or cooperation and license agreement, 

to be entered from time to time (the “ND Other Contract(s)”) between the Company and its subsidiaries on the one hand and 

NetDragon (Fujian) on the other. Save as disclosed in this report, no ND Other Contract subsisted at the end of the year or at 

any time during the year under review.
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ND STRUCTURE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

Change in one of the Registered Owners of NetDragon (Fujian)

On 3 May 2021, the then registered owners of NetDragon (Fujian), NetDragon (Fujian) and TQ Digital have entered into the 

following agreements in relation to the change in registered owner of equity interests in NetDragon (Fujian) from Liu Dejian to 

Zheng Hui:

(1) the equity transfer agreement entered into between Liu Dejian and Zheng Hui, pursuant to which Liu Dejian agreed to 

transfer 3.2337% equity interest in NetDragon (Fujian) to Zheng Hui at a consideration of RMB9,701,050;

(2) the pledge release agreement entered into between TQ Digital and Liu Dejian, pursuant to which TQ Digital and Liu Dejian 

agreed to release the pledge over Liu Dejian’s equity interest in NetDragon (Fujian); and

(3) the supplemental ND structure contracts, which included:

(i) the supplemental equity interest pledge agreement entered into between TQ Digital and Zheng Hui, pursuant to 

which Zheng Hui agreed to grant to TQ Digital a continuing first priority security interests over the equity interest as a 

result of the equity transfer of Liu Dejian to Zheng Hui; and

(ii) the supplemental agreement entered into between TQ Digital, NetDragon (Fujian) and the then registered owners 

of NetDragon (Fujian) to amend (a) the Agreement for the Exclusive Right to Acquire Equity Interest and Assets; (b) 

the Equity Holders’ Voting Rights Proxy Agreement; and (c) the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, pursuant to which, 

among other things, Liu Dejian shall be released from all rights and obligations under these three agreements, and the 

rights and obligations imposed on TQ Digital, NetDragon (Fujian) and the remaining registered owners of NetDragon 

(Fujian) under these three agreements remain unchanged.
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BEST ASSISTANT CONTROL DOCUMENTS

WAIVER FROM THE STOCK EXCHANGE AND ANNUAL REVIEW

As Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui, being the executive Directors and the controlling shareholders of the Company, are interested in an 

aggregate of 99.96% in NetDragon (Fujian), NetDragon (Fujian) is technically an associate of Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui, and 

therefore a connected person of the Company. Transactions between the Company, NetDragon Websoft Inc. (“NetDragon (BVI)”), 

TQ Digital, TQ Online or NetDragon (Hong Kong) or NetDragon (USA) (all being wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) on 

one hand and NetDragon (Fujian) on the other hand, including the ND Structure Contracts and the ND Other Contracts, would 

technically constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the 

Company from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirement of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the 

ND Structure Contracts and the ND Other Contracts. Details of the waiver, together with its conditions, are set forth in the listing 

document of the Company dated 27 May 2008 (the “Listing Document”).

On 10 February 2015, Fujian Tianquan Education Technology Limited (“Fujian Tianquan”), Fujian Province Huayu Education 

Technology Limited (“Fujian Huayu”) and NetDragon (Fujian) have entered into the Best Assistant Control Documents (as defined 

below). Pursuant to the Specific Waiver granted by the Stock Exchange to the Company at around the time of Listing, the 

framework of the ND Structure Contracts may be cloned in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned enterprise, 

operating company or foreign-invested telecommunication enterprise (“FITE”) that the Company might wish to establish, without 

obtaining the approval of the Shareholders on terms that the protections for the Shareholders described in the Specific Waiver 

will apply.

The Best Assistant Control Documents are cloned from the ND Structure Contracts such that Fujian Tianquan will receive service 

fees from Fujian Huayu, and the total amount of which shall be determined by the Best Assistant Management Committee (as 

defined below) with reference to the amount of expenditure incurred by Fujian Huayu in the conduct of its business and operations 

and its working capital requirements under the guiding principles that (i) Fujian Huayu shall pay the maximum amount of fees to 

Fujian Tianquan without incurring any loss for each financial year; (ii) the net asset value of NetDragon (Fujian) at the end of the 

year, on a stand alone basis or when aggregated with all of its subsidiaries including but not limited to Fujian Huayu and its 

subsidiaries, shall not exceed its net asset value as at 31 December 2006, being approximately RMB15,000,000; and (iii) the 

net asset value at the end of the year of Fujian Huayu shall not exceed its registered capital as at 31 December 2014, being 

approximately RMB200,000,000.

The Directors confirm that this arrangement ensures that substantially all economic benefits generated from the operation of Fujian 

Huayu will be enjoyed by Fujian Tianquan and will give flexibility to the Best Assistant Management Committee to implement the 

Best Assistant Control Documents and its underlying principles more effectively in response to constantly changing PRC laws and 

regulations.
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BEST ASSISTANT CONTROL DOCUMENTS (Cont’d)

WAIVER FROM THE STOCK EXCHANGE AND ANNUAL REVIEW (Cont’d)

As the Best Assistant Control Documents are cloned from the ND Structure Contracts, transactions under the Best Assistant Control 

Documents are exempt from Shareholders’ approval.

The amount of revenue and assets subject to the contractual arrangements under the ND Structure Contracts and the Best Assistant 

Control Documents accounted for approximately 46.1% and 10.3% of the Group’s total revenue and assets, respectively, for the 

year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the ND Structure Contracts, the ND Other Contracts and the 

Best Assistant Control Documents and confirmed that the relevant transactions carried out thereunder during the year ended 31 

December 2021 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the ND Structure Contracts, the ND Other 

Contracts and the Best Assistant Control Documents, have been operated so as to allow (a) the economic interest generated by 

NetDragon (Fujian) flows to TQ Digital and TQ Online; and (b) the economic interest generated by Fujian Huayu flows to Fujian 

Tianquan; and the new structure contracts (including the Best Assistant Control Documents) entered into, renewed and/or cloned 

during the year ended 31 December 2021 were entered into on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the Company is 

concerned and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Each of NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu has provided to the Company an undertaking that they will allow the Company 

and its auditor to have full access to relevant records of NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu, respectively.

On 10 February 2015, Fujian Tianquan Education Technology Limited (“Fujian Tianquan”), Fujian Province Huayu Education 

Technology Limited (“Fujian Huayu”) and NetDragon (Fujian) entered into the Best Assistant Cooperation Framework Agreement 

(as defined below), a technical support service agreement, an equity interest pledge agreement, an exclusive acquisition rights 

agreement and a proxy agreement (collectively, the “Best Assistant Control Documents”). The registered owner of Fujian Huayu is 

NetDragon (Fujian).

Save for the entering into of the Best Assistant Control Documents, details of which are disclosed below, there were no other 

new arrangements pursuant to or under the contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group 

and the PRC operational entity during the year ended 31 December 2021, and there was no material change in the contractual 

arrangements and/or the circumstances during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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BEST ASSISTANT CONTROL DOCUMENTS (Cont’d)

Best Assistant Cooperation Framework Agreement

On 10 February 2015, Fujian Tianquan and Fujian Huayu have entered into a cooperation framework agreement (the “Best 

Assistant Cooperation Framework Agreement”) pursuant to which Fujian Tianquan and Fujian Huayu agreed to cooperate in the 

provision of value-added telecommunications services relating to the online educational softwares business development for and 

the operation of the online educational softwares business of Fujian Huayu. The Best Assistant Cooperation Framework Agreement 

and the terms of reference of the management committee (the “Best Assistant Management Committee”) laid down the principles 

that the Best Assistant Management Committee shall have right to determine the amount of license and service fees payable by 

Fujian Huayu with reference to the amount of expenditure incurred by Fujian Huayu in the conduct of its business and operations 

and its working capital requirements, including the guiding principles that (i) Fujian Huayu shall pay the maximum amount of fees 

to Fujian Tianquan without incurring any loss for each financial year; (ii) the net asset value of NetDragon (Fujian) at the end of 

the year, on a stand alone basis or when aggregated with all of its subsidiaries including but not limited to Fujian Huayu and its 

subsidiaries, shall not exceed its net asset value as at 31 December 2006, being approximately RMB15,000,000; and (iii) the 

net asset value at the end of the year of Fujian Huayu shall not exceed its registered capital as at 31 December 2015, being 

approximately RMB200,000,000. This principle will ensure that all economic benefits generated from the operation of Fujian 

Huayu in each financial year will be enjoyed by Fujian Tianquan as service or license fees, and will give flexibility to the Best 

Assistant Management Committee to implement the Best Assistant Control Documents and its underlying principles more effectively 

in response to constantly changing the PRC laws and regulation.

As a result of the Best Assistant Control Documents, Fujian Tianquan is able to control Fujian Huayu, accordingly, it is regarded 

as subsidiary of Best Assistant (Cayman) and its results are to be consolidated into financial statements of Best Assistant (Cayman). 

Since Fujian Huayu was under the common control of the same group of persons before and after our formation, the results and 

financial positions of Fujian Huayu is combined into financial statements using merger accounting as if Fujian Huayu was part of 

us since its date of establishment or since the date when it first came under the common control.
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BEST ASSISTANT CONTROL DOCUMENTS (Cont’d)

Best Assistant Cooperation Framework Agreement (Cont’d)

In accordance with the terms of the Best Assistant Cooperation Framework Agreement, Fujian Tianquan entered into the technical 

support service agreement with Fujian Huayu, for the purpose of license, development of educational softwares business and 

provision of technical services to Fujian Huayu. Details of the agreement are set out below:

Date of

agreement signed Name of agreement Summary of agreement Terms of agreement

10-02-2015 Technical support Fujian Tianquan will provide • For an indefinite term commencing

service agreement technical support services from 10-02-2015, unless

to Fujian Huayu Fujian Huayu have transferred all

its assets or equity interests to

Fujian Tianquan or a party

designated by Fujian Tianquan

• Consideration of a per annum

services fee determined as

a percentage of Fujian Huayu

annual gross revenues

Best Assistant Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

On 10 February 2015, Fujian Tianquan, Fujian Huayu and NetDragon (Fujian) entered into an equity interest pledge agreement, 

pursuant to which NetDragon (Fujian) granted to Fujian Tianquan a continuing first priority security interests over its equity interests 

in the registered capital of Fujian Huayu, representing all of the equity interest in its registered capital, for the purpose of securing 

the performance of the contractual obligations by Fujian Huayu under the Best Assistant Control Documents.

Best Assistant Exclusive Acquisition Rights Agreement

On 10 February 2015, Fujian Tianquan, Fujian Huayu and NetDragon (Fujian) entered into an exclusive acquisition rights 

agreement, pursuant to which Fujian Huayu and NetDragon (Fujian) granted to Fujian Tianquan or its designee (a) a right to 

acquire part or all of the equity interest in the registered capital of Fujian Huayu; and (b) a right to acquire part or all of the 

assets of Fujian Huayu from NetDragon (Fujian) as and when permitted by the relevant PRC laws and regulations. The amount 

of consideration payable by Fujian Tianquan to NetDragon (Fujian) shall be a nominal amount or the lowest possible amount 

permissible under the applicable PRC law.
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BEST ASSISTANT CONTROL DOCUMENTS (Cont’d)

Best Assistant Proxy Agreement

On 10 February 2015, NetDragon (Fujian) entered into a proxy agreement with Fujian Tianquan and Fujian Huayu, pursuant to 

which NetDragon (Fujian) have irrevocably authorised Fujian Tianquan or a nominee designated by Fujian Tianquan to exercise 

all their voting rights in Fujian Huayu. The term of the Best Assistant Proxy Agreement shall continue indefinitely for so long as 

Fujian Huayu subsists in order to secure our control over Fujian Huayu.

REASONS FOR ENTERING INTO THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

As NetDragon (BVI) and Best Assistant are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Cayman Islands respectively, 

their PRC subsidiaries, TQ Digital, TQ Online and Fujian Tianquan are considered as wholly foreign-invested enterprises. The PRC 

government restricts foreign investment in value-added telecommunications businesses. The arrangements under the contractual 

arrangements are designed specifically to confer upon TQ Digital and TQ Online (in the case of the ND Structure Contracts) and 

Fujian Tianquan (in the case of the Best Assistant Control Documents) the right to enjoy all the economic benefit of NetDragon 

(Fujian) and Fujian Huayu respectively, and to prevent leakages of assets and values of NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu to 

their ultimate shareholders.

RISK RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

There is no assurance that the contractual arrangements are in compliance with existing or future PRC laws and regulations.

The Company has not encountered any interference from any governing bodies in operating its business through NetDragon (Fujian) 

and/or Fujian Huayu under the contractual arrangements.

However, it cannot be assured that the PRC government or judicial authorities would agree that the contractual arrangements comply 

with PRC licensing, registration, other regulatory requirements or policies that may be adopted in the future. If the PRC government 

or judicial authorities determines that the contractual arrangements do not comply with applicable laws and regulations, it could 

have broad discretion in dealing with such incompliance, including:

1. requiring the nullification of the contractual arrangements;

2. levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated from the operations under the contractual arrangements;
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RISK RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Cont’d)

There is no assurance that the contractual arrangements are in compliance with existing or future PRC laws and regulations. (Cont’d)

3. revocation of the business licenses or operating licenses of NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu, TQ Digital, TQ Online and/

or Fujian Tianquan;

4. discontinuing or placing restrictions or onerous conditions on the business operations of NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu, 

TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian Tianquan;

5. imposing conditions or requirements which the Group may not be able to comply with or satisfy;

6. requiring the Group to undergo a costly and disruptive restructuring; and

7. taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful to or even shut down online game business and/or 

online education business of the Group.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences could result in a material and adverse effect on the Group’s ability 

to conduct its business. In addition, if the imposition of any of these consequences causes TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian 

Tianquan to lose the rights to direct the activities of NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian Huayu or their respective rights to receive 

their economic benefits, the Group would no longer be able to consolidate the financial results of NetDragon (Fujian) and/or 

Fujian Huayu and thus affect its financial results.
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RISK RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Cont’d)

Each of TQ Digital, TQ Online and Fujian Tianquan relies on the contractual arrangements to control and obtain the economic 

benefit from NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu, the operating entities in the PRC, which may not be as effective in providing 

operational control as direct ownership.

If NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu and/or their ultimate shareholders breach their obligations under the contractual 

arrangements or if TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian Tianquan loses effective control over NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian 

Huayu for any reason, TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian Tianquan would need to bring a claim against them under the terms 

of the contractual arrangements. The contractual arrangements are governed by the PRC law and provide that any dispute arising 

from these arrangements will be submitted to the Fuzhou International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission, for arbitration, 

the ruling of which will be final and binding. Furthermore, personal liabilities of ultimate shareholders of NetDragon (Fujian) 

and Fujian Huayu may also subject the equity interest they hold in NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu to court preservation 

actions or enforcement. The legal framework and system in the PRC, particularly those relating to arbitration proceedings, is not 

as developed as other jurisdictions such as Hong Kong. As a result, significant uncertainties relating to the enforcement of legal 

rights through arbitration, litigation and other legal proceedings remain in the PRC, which could limit TQ Digital, TQ Online and/

or Fujian Tianquan’s ability to enforce the contractual arrangements and exert effective control over NetDragon (Fujian) and/or 

Fujian Huayu. If NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu and/or their ultimate shareholders fail to perform their respective obligations 

under the contractual arrangements, and TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian Tianquan is unable to enforce the contractual 

arrangements, or suffer significant delay or other obstacles in the process of enforcing the contractual arrangements, the Group’s 

business and operations could be severely disrupted, which could materially and adversely affect its results of operations.

Certain terms of the ND Structure Agreements and the Best Assistant Control Documents may not be enforceable under PRC laws.

Under PRC laws, an arbitral body granting any injunctive relief or provisional or final liquidation order to preserve the assets of 

or any equity interest in PRC legal entities in case of disputes shall submit the application to courts in the PRC. Therefore, such 

remedies may not be available to TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian Tianquan, notwithstanding the relevant contractual 

provisions contained in the ND Structure Agreements and the Best Assistant Control Documents. PRC laws allow an arbitral body 

to award the transfer of assets of or an equity interest in NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu in favour of an aggrieved party. In 

the event of non-compliance with such award made by the arbitral body, enforcement measures may be sought from the court.

In the event that NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu and/or any of their ultimate shareholders breaches any of the ND Structure 

Contracts and/or the Best Assistant Control Documents, TQ Digital, TQ Online and/or Fujian Tianquan may not be able to 

obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to exert effective control over NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian 

Huayu and conduct its business could be materially and adversely affected and the financial performance of the Group could be 

materially and adversely affected.
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RISK RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Cont’d)

The contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and any finding that TQ Digital, TQ Online, 

Fujian Tianquan, NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian Huayu owes additional taxes could substantially reduce the consolidated net 

income and the value of the Group.

Under the contractual arrangements, NetDragon (Fujian) will transfer all of its profits to TQ Digital and TQ Online, while 

Fujian Huayu will transfer all of its profits to Fujian Tianquan. Such profits will be net of any accumulated loss, working capital 

requirements, expenses and tax and therefore substantially reduce NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu’s taxable income. 

These arrangements and transactions are related party transactions which must be conducted on an arm’s length basis under 

applicable PRC tax rules. In addition, under PRC laws and regulations, arrangements and transactions among related parties may 

generally be subject to audit or scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities within ten years after the taxable year when the arrangements 

or transactions are conducted. As a result, the determination of service fees and other payments to TQ Digital and TQ Online by 

NetDragon (Fujian) and to Fujian Tianquan by Fujian Huayu under the contractual arrangements may be challenged and deemed 

not in compliance with such tax rules. The Group could face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities 

determine that the contractual arrangements were not entered into on an arm’s length basis and therefore adjust the taxable 

income of NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian Huayu in the form of a transfer pricing adjustment which refers to the prices that 

one member of a group of affiliated corporation’s charges to another member of the group for goods, assets, services, financing 

or the use of intellectual property. A transfer pricing adjustment could, among other things, result in a reduction, for PRC tax 

purposes, of expense deductions recorded by NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian Huayu, which could in turn increase NetDragon 

(Fujian) and/or Fujian Huayu’s tax liabilities. Any such adjustment could result in a higher overall tax liability of the Group. In 

addition, the PRC tax authorities may impose late payment fees and other penalties on NetDragon (Fujian) and/or Fujian Huayu 

for any unpaid taxes. The consolidated net income of the Group may be materially and adversely affected if NetDragon (Fujian) 

and/or Fujian Huayu’s tax liabilities increase or if it is subject to late payment fees or other penalties. As a result, the value of the 

Group may be materially and adversely affected.
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ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE GROUP TO MITIGATE THE RISKS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has implemented the following measures to ensure the effective operation 

of the Structured Contracts and the Group’ s compliance with the Previous Structured Contracts and the Structured Contracts:

• major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from 

government authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

• the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the Previous Structured Contracts and the Structured 

Contracts at least once a year;

• the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance with the Previous Structured Contracts and the 

Structured Contracts in its annual/interim report to update the Shareholders and potential investors;

• the Directors will provide periodic updates in the annual/interim reports regarding the qualification requirements as 

stipulated under the FITE Regulations and the development of the Foreign Investment Law, including the latest relevant 

regulatory development as well as the plan and progress in acquiring the relevant experience to meet these qualification 

requirements; and

• the Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review 

the implementation of the Previous Structured Contracts and the Structured Contracts, review the legal compliance and to 

deal with specific issues or matters arising from the Previous Structured Contracts and the Structured Contracts.

UNWINDING OF THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

It is the intention of the Group to unwind the contractual arrangements when foreign investment in the development and operation 

of online game and online education business is no longer restricted in the PRC.

However, as at the date of this report, there is no unwinding of any of the contractual arrangements or failure to unwind when the 

restrictions that led to the adoption of the contractual arrangements are removed.
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Tenancy Agreements between TQ Digital, NetDragon (Fujian) and Fuzhou Yangzhenhua 851 Bio-Engineering Research 

Inc. (“Fuzhou 851”)

On 20 January 2015, NetDragon (Fujian) entered into the renewal tenancy agreement (the “2015 Renewal Tenancy 

Agreement”) with Fuzhou 851 to renew the 2012 Renewal Tenancy Agreements for a period from 22 January 2015 to 21 

January 2018. On 19 January 2018, NetDragon (Fujian) entered into the renewal tenancy agreement (the “2018 Renewal 

Tenancy Agreement”) with Fuzhou 851 to renew the 2015 Renewal Tenancy Agreement. As Fuzhou 851 is 100% wholly 

owned by DJM Holding Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company and therefore, Fuzhou 851 is a connected person of the 

Company under the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions contemplated under the 2018 Renewal Tenancy Agreement constitute 

continuing connected transactions of the Company. The aggregate annual cap for the 2018 Renewal Tenancy Agreement 

based on the total annual rental payable under the 2018 Renewal Tenancy Agreement for each of the financial years ended 31 

December 2018, 2019 and 2020 is RMB7,724,103 (equivalent to approximately HKD9,412,000).

Further details of the 2018 Renewal Tenancy Agreement are set forth in the announcement of the Company dated 19 January 

2018.

On 19 January 2021, NetDragon (Fujian) entered into the renewal tenancy agreement (the “2021 Renewal Tenancy 

Agreement”) with Fuzhou 851 to renew the 2018 Renewal Tenancy Agreement for a term of three years commencing from 

22 January 2021 to 21 January 2024. As Fuzhou 851 is owned as to approximately 11.61% and 88.39% by DJM Holding 

Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company and Liu Dejian, an executive Director, respectively and therefore, Fuzhou 851 

is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules According to HKFRS 16 ‘’Leases’’ which has come into effect on 

1 January 2019, the Group is required to recognise the value of the right-of-use assets on its statement of financial position in 

connection with the 2021 Renewal Tenancy Agreement, this transaction will be regarded as acquisition of assets by the Group 

pursuant to the Listing Rules. The transaction contemplated under the 2021 Renewal Tenancy Agreement constitutes connected 

transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Group entered into the following transaction which constituted continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules. The 

transaction falls within the ambit of Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting and announcement requirements 

but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transaction 

subsisted during the year under review are set out as follows:

Transaction in relation to Recreation Centre Agreement between TQ Digital and Fuzhou 851

On 24 April 2018, NetDragon (Fujian) entered into the renewal recreation centre agreement (the “2018 Renewal Recreation 

Centre Agreement”), pursuant to which Fuzhou 851 agreed to provide certain services regarding the usage of various recreation 

facilities at the Recreation Centre to the Group and its staff for a period from 25 April 2018 to 24 April 2021 at an annual fee 

of RMB9,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HKD11,780,000).

Further details of the 2018 Renewal Recreation Centre Agreement are set forth in the announcement of the Company dated 24 

April 2018.

On 23 April 2021, NetDragon (Fujian) entered into the renewal recreation centre agreement (the “2021 Renewal Recreation 

Centre Agreement”), pursuant to which Fuzhou 851 agreed to provide certain services regarding the usage of various recreation 

facilities at the Recreation Centre to the Group and its staff for a period from 25 April 2021 to 24 April 2024 at an annual fee 

of RMB11,700,000 (equivalent to approximately HKD13,984,000).

Further details of the 2021 Renewal Recreation Centre Agreement are set forth in the announcement of the Company dated 23 

April 2021.

CONFIRMATION OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above transaction conducted during the year ended 31 December 

2021 and confirmed that the transaction:

(i) has been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(ii) has been entered into either on normal commercial terms or, if there are no sufficient comparable transactions to judge 

whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to or from 

independent third parties;

(iii) has been entered into in accordance with the 2018 Renewal Recreation Centre Agreement and the 2021 Renewal 

Recreation Centre Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company 

as a whole; and

(iv) has not exceeded the annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2021 as disclosed in the relevant announcement the 

Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

For further details of the nature and extent of each of the connected person’s interest in each of the Transactions, please refer 

to the section headed “Corporate Governance Report – Directors’ Interest In Transaction, Arrangement or Contract” below. 

The Company has complied with the applicable requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing 

connected transactions.

AUDITOR’S LETTER ON DISCLOSED CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition, the Company has engaged its auditor to report on the ND Structure Contracts, the ND Other Contracts, the Best 

Assistant Control Documents and the Transactions under the 2021 Renewal Recreation Centre Agreement of the Group in 

accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 

Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 

Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor 

has issued unqualified opinion containing the conclusion in respect of the ND Structure Contracts, the ND Other Contracts and 

the Best Assistant Control Documents which are in compliance with the Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The auditor has also issued unqualified opinion containing the conclusions in respect of the transaction under the 2021 Renewal 

Recreation Centre Agreement set out above which are in compliance with the Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws in the Cayman Islands which 

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee on 15 October 2007 which comprises three independent non-executive Directors, 

namely, Chao Guowei, Charles (chairman), Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie and Liu Sai Keung, Thomas.

The audit committee is primarily responsible for the review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, risk 

management and internal control system. It has met with the external auditors of the Group to review the accounting principles 

and practices adopted by the Company and the audited annual financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2021.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code”) as set out 

in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules and the code of conduct for Directors in their dealings in the Company’s securities. Having 

made specific enquiry to all the Directors of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required 

standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 as contained in Appendix 14 of 
the Listing Rules.

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages 71 to 83.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of 
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or 
her office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability 
insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

None of the Director nor any of their respective associates, as defined in the Listing Rules, has interest in any business that 
competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, or has any other conflict of interests with 
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company bought back a total of 12,967,500 shares on the Stock Exchange 
at an aggregate consideration of HKD238,755,418 before expenses. All such shares were subsequently cancelled in February 
2022. The repurchases were made for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole with a view to enhancing the 
earnings per share of the Company.
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Details of the share buy-backs are as follows:

Month of purchase

Number of
ordinary

shares 
bought back

Price per share
Aggregate

consideration
paidHighest Lowest

HKD HKD HKD

August 2021 332,500 17.14 16.56 5,628,360.50
September 2021 6,734,000 19.36 17.32 124,236,922.50
October 2021 850,000 18.56 17.28 15,233,030.00
November 2021 1,200,000 17.96 16.76 20,906,060.00
December 2021 3,851,000 20.45 17.56 72,751,045.00

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest 

practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolution of the shareholders of the Company dated 24 May 2018, the Company adopted a new share option 

scheme (the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) to replace its previous share option scheme.

The 2018 Share Option Scheme was adopted for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants (being 

employees (whether full-time or part time), executives or officers of the Group (including executive and non-executive directors 

of Members of the Group) and business consultants, agents and legal and financial advisers of the Group who the Board 

considers, in its sole discretion, will contribute or have contributed to the Members of the Group) (“Participants”) as incentives 

and/or rewards for the Eligible Participants’ contribution to the Group, and any of its associated companies, the Group’s holding 

company and the subsidiaries and the associated companies to the Group’s holding company (the “Members of the Group”).

The 2018 Share Option Scheme became effective on 24 May 2018 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain 

in force for 10 years from that date.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the 2018 

Share Option Scheme is 53,341,969 shares, representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of adoption 

of the Share Option Scheme and 9.86% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report. As at the 

date of this report, there are a total of 47,041,969 shares available for issue under the 2018 Share Option Scheme, which 

represented 8.70% of the issued shares of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options granted 

to each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) within any 12-month 

period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share options in excess of this limit is 

subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. A grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme to a director, 

chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance by 

the independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the Option). In 

addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or 

to any of their associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued, upon exercise of all options already granted 

and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding), to such person in the 12-month period up to and 

including the date of the grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on 

the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HKD5 million, are subject to shareholders’ approval 

in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer upon payment of a nominal 

consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determined by the directors, 

save that such a period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options and subject to the provisions 

for early termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme. There is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option 

must be held before it can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options shall be not less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s 
shares on the date of offer of the share options, which must be a date on which the Stock Exchange is open for business of 
dealing in securities; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately 
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of offer.
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Pursuant to the resolution of the shareholders of the Company dated 24 May 2018, the Company adopted a new share option 
scheme (the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) to replace the existing share option scheme which expired on 12 June 2018 (the 
“2008 Share Option Scheme”). Details of the share options outstanding and movement during the year ended 31 December 
2021 are as follows:

2008 Share Option Scheme

Grantee Date of grant Exercise Price

As at 

1 January 

2021

Number of share options

As at 

31 December 

2021Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed

HKD

Independent non-executive Directors

Chao Guowei, Charles 04.12.2013 15.72 238,500 – – – – 238,500

31.03.2017 23.65 100,000 – – – – 100,000

Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 04.12.2013 15.72 318,000 – – – – 318,000

31.03.2017 23.65 100,000 – – – – 100,000

Liu Sai Keung, Thomas 04.12.2013 15.72 318,000 – – – – 318,000

31.03.2017 23.65 100,000 – – – – 100,000

Others

Employees 28.04.2011 4.80 341,867 – 46,192 – 295,675 –

22.07.2011 4.60 8,000 – 8,000 – – –

23.04.2012 5.74 127,517 – 41,850 – – 85,667

12.09.2012 7.20 50,250 – – – – 50,250

16.01.2013 11.164 131,250 – 82,750 – – 48,500

25.04.2014 14.66 278,000 – 278,000 – – –      

Total 2,111,384 – 456,792 – 295,675 1,358,917      
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2018 Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)

Grantee Date of grant Exercise Price

As at 

1 January 

2021

Number of share options

As at 

31 December 

2021Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed

HKD

Executive Directors

Leung Lim Kin, Simon 24.01.2020 21.07 4,000,000 – – – – 4,000,000

Independent non-executive Directors

Chao Guowei, Charles 24.01.2020 21.07 100,000 – – – – 100,000

Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 24.01.2020 21.07 100,000 – – – – 100,000

Liu Sai Keung, Thomas 24.01.2020 21.07 100,000 – – – – 100,000

Others

Employees 24.01.2020 21.07 2,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 1,000,000      

Total 6,300,000 – – – 1,000,000 5,300,000      

Notes:

1. For vesting period and exercise period of the options granted under the 2008 Share Option Scheme and the 2018 Share Option 

Scheme, please refer to note 43 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before various dates during 2021 on which the options were exercised was 

HKD20.11.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the Share Option Scheme disclosed above and set out in note 43 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, 

at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to 

any arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective spouse or minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 

of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or in any other body corporate.
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The Company

The Board approved and adopted the share award scheme (the “NetDragon Share Award Scheme”) on 2 September 2008 

and it was amended by the resolution passed on 31 August 2018 to extend a period of 10 years, in which selected employees 

of the Group are entitled to participate. Unless early terminated by the Board, the NetDragon Share Award Scheme shall be 

valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing on 31 August 2018. The Board shall not grant any award of shares if 

the nominal value of awards in aggregate granted by the Board under the NetDragon Share Award Scheme is over 10% of the 

issued capital of the Company from time to time.

Pursuant to the rules of the NetDragon Share Award Scheme, the Group has signed an agreement with Bank of Communications 

Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of administering the NetDragon Share Award Scheme and holding the awarded 

shares before they are vested.

Details of the shares awarded under the NetDragon Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021 are as 

follows:

Grantee Date of grant

Average 

price per

share

Outstanding at 

1 January 

2021

Granted 

during period

Awards 

vested 

during period

Forfeited 

during period

Outstanding at 

31 December 

2021

Vesting 

period

(HKD)

(Note)

Executive Directors

Leung Lim Kin, Simon 19 April 2018 18.96 436,320 – 190,890 27,270 218,160 30 April 2018 – 

 30 April 2022

Leung Lim Kin, Simon 26 March 2021 18.96 – 120,000 120,000 – – 26 March 2021

Others

Employees 19 April 2018 18.96 340,320 – 112,790 79,450 148,080 30 April 2018 – 

 30 April 2022     

776,640 120,000 423,680 106,720 366,240     

Note: These shares were purchased by the Trustee of the Share Award Scheme at an average price of HKD18.96 per share.
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The Company (Cont’d)

366,240 awarded shares granted to a number of selected participants, including employees and directors, were outstanding 

as at 31 December 2021. The awarded shares, will be transferred to the selected directors or employees at nil consideration, 

subject to receipt by the Trustee of (i) transfer documents duly signed by the Trustee and the selected employee within the period 

stipulated in the vesting notice issued by the Trustee to the selected employee; and (ii) a confirmation letter from the Company that 

all vesting conditions having been fulfilled.

Subject to the acceptance by the relevant selected employees, such transferred awarded shares may be held by the selected 

employees in their own names or such nominees, including any trustees, as designated by the selected employees.

Best Assistant Education Online Limited (“Best Assistant”)

On 7 August 2012, Best Assistant adopted a share award scheme as amended on 13 February 2015 (the “Best Assistant Share 

Award Scheme”) in which selected participants include senior management employees of Best Assistant and/or its subsidiaries 

(“Best Assistant Group”), consultants to Best Assistant Group employed by any member of the Company, its associated companies 

or their subsidiaries (excluding Best Assistant Group) and any person who contributes to the development of Best Assistant Group 

which has been certified and determined by the board of directors of Best Assistant with the affirmative vote of one director 

appointed by IDG Investors, Vertex or Alpha.

Subject to early termination, the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten years 

commencing on 7 August 2012. Best Assistant may also transfer shares awarded under the Best Assistant Share Award 

Scheme whether vested or unvested to other trusts and if there is a change in control of Best Assistant, all awarded shares shall 

immediately be vested. The board of directors of Best Assistant may also waive any vesting conditions with the affirmative vote 

of one director appointed by IDG Investors, Vertex or Alpha. The maximum number of shares which may be granted to the 

participants under the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total issued share capital 

of Best Assistant from time to time or such number of shares as determined by the board of directors of Best Assistant with the 

affirmative vote of one director appointed by IDG Investors, Vertex or Alpha.

Pursuant to the rules of the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme, Best Assistant has signed an agreement with the Trustee, for the 

purpose of administering the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme and holding the awarded shares before they are vested.

Subject to, inter alia, the receipt by the Trustee of (i) the prescribed transfer documents duly signed by the selected participants 

within the period stipulated in the vesting notices; and (ii) confirmation from Best Assistant that all vesting conditions having been 

fulfilled, the awarded shares will be transferred to the selected participants at nil consideration upon vesting.

As at 31 December 2021, no awarded shares were granted under the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme.
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On 6 January 2015, Best Assistant entered into a subscription agreement (“Series A Agreement”) with IDG-Accel China Growth 

Fund-L.P., IDG-Accel China Growth Fund-A L.P., IDG-Accel China Investors L.P. (together referred to as “IDG Investors”), Vertex 

Legacy Continuation Fund Pte Ltd. (formerly held by Vertex Asia Fund Pte. Ltd.) (“Vertex”), Hong Kong Alpha Group Limited (formerly 

known as Alpha Animation and Culture (Hong Kong) Company Limited) (“Alpha”), Catchy Holdings Limited, DJM Holding Ltd., 

Creative Sky International Limited and NetDragon Websoft Inc. (“NetDragon BVI”), a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the 

Company (collectively referred to as “Series A Investors”) for the allotment and issue of an aggregate of 180,914,513 Series 

A preferred Shares (“Series A Preferred Shares”) for a total consideration of USD52,500,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HKD409.5 million). The Series A Agreement and the issue and allotment of the Series A Preferred Shares were completed on 13 

February 2015. The net proceeds raised from the issuance of Series A Preferred Shares of Best Assistant were also applied and 

fully utilized as intended.

Assuming all of the Series A Preferred Shares are fully converted into ordinary shares of Best Assistant, the Company’s interest in 

ordinary shares of Best Assistant will be reduced from 90.28% to approximately 83.40%.

As at 31 December 2021, no Series A Preferred Shares have been converted into ordinary shares of Best Assistant.

ACQUISITION OF EDMODO, INC. AND ISSUE OF SERIES B PREFERRED SHARES BY BEST 
ASSISTANT

On 6 April 2018, Best Assistant, Digital Train Limited (“Digital Train”) as purchaser, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Best Assistant, 

Educate Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the purchaser, Edmodo, Inc. (“Edmodo”), Fortis Advisors 

LLC, in its capacity as representative of the shareholders of Edmodo, and the Company, solely with respect as guarantor for 

the timely performance of the obligations of Best Assistant and Digital Train entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the 

“Agreement and Plan of Merger”), pursuant to which Digital Train acquired Edmodo, for consideration in the form of cash and 

stock collectively valued in the amount of USD137,500,000, by way of merger under the laws of the State of Delaware.

Upon closing which took place on 2 May 2018, the Merger Sub merged with and into Edmodo, the separate corporate 

existence of Merger Sub ceased, and Edmodo shall continue its corporate existence as a wholly owned subsidiary of Digital 

Train in accordance with Delaware law.

The consideration (subject to downward adjustment as provided in the Agreement) was satisfied by (i) payment of an amount in 

cash equal to USD15,000,000 and (ii) the issue of 112,560,245 Best Assistant Series B Shares.

As at 31 December 2021, no Series B Preferred Shares have been converted into ordinary shares of Best Assistant.
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On 10 November 2019, the Company, Best Assistant, NetDragon BVI, Digital Train, Promethean World Limited, Nurture 

Education (Cayman) Limited (the “Investor”), Madison Pacific Trust Limited as the Agent and the Security Agent entered into the 

Bond and Warrant Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which (i) Best Assistant agreed to issue to the 

Investor and the Investor agreed to purchase the Convertible and Exchangeable Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of 

USD150 million (equivalent to approximately HKD1,174.5 million); and (ii) simultaneously with the issue of the Convertible and 

Exchangeable Bonds, the Company would issue to the Investor the unlisted warrants. The issue of Convertible and Exchangeable 

Bonds and the Warrants to the Investor is a strategic collaboration with the Investor, an institutional investor with extensive 

experience and active investments in the Greater China education sector.

Closing of the Purchase Agreement took place on 9 March 2020, and Best Assistant has issued to the Investor, Convertible and 

Exchangeable Bonds which can be converted to 279,510,479 ordinary shares of Best Assistant, representing 11.16% of the 

total outstanding share capital of Best Assistant on a fully diluted and as-converted basis, and the Company has issued the unlisted 

Warrant to the Investor which can be converted to 11,502,220 Warrant Shares of the Company. As a result of the payment of 

the Company’s dividend and pursuant to the relevant warrant instrument, effective as of 28 February 2022, the subscription price 

of the relevant warrant instrument is adjusted from HKD21.1998 to HKD19.6698. The net proceeds raised from the issuance of 

Convertible and Exchangeable Bonds and warrants were also applied and fully utilized as intended.

As at 31 December 2021, no Convertible and Exchangeable Bonds were converted into ordinary shares of Best Assistants and 

no warrants were converted into shares of the Company.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM TOP-UP PLACING AND SUBSCRIPTION

On 13 February 2020, the Company entered into the placing and subscription agreement (the “Placing and Subscription 

Agreement”) with DJM Holding Ltd. (the “Vendor”), Mr. Liu Dejian and China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong 

Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant to which (i) the Vendor agreed to place, through the Placing Agent, on a fully 

underwritten basis, 33,000,000 ordinary shares held by the Vendor (the “Top-up Placing Shares”) at the price of HKD23.70 

per Top-up Placing Share; and (ii) the Vendor conditionally agreed to subscribe for 33,000,000 new ordinary Shares to be 

subscribed for by the Vendor, being the number of the Top-up Placing Shares actually placed by the Placing Agent on behalf 

of the Vendor pursuant to the terms of the Placing and Subscription Agreement (the “Top-up Subscription Shares”) at the Price of 

HKD23.70 per Top-up Subscription Share (the “Top-up Placing and Subscription”). The aggregate nominal value of the Top-up 

Subscription Shares is USD330,000. The closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the Placing 

and Subscription Agreement was HKD23.20. The Directors are of the view that the Top-up Placing and Subscription will benefit 

the Group’s long term development and broaden the Company’s equity base to facilitate the future growth and development of its 

business.
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Completion of the Top-up Placing took place on 17 February 2020 and the Top-up Subscription took place on 25 February 

2020. A total of 33,000,000 Top-up Placing Shares have been successfully placed to not less than six placees and the 

33,000,000 Top-up Subscription Shares had been allotted and issued to Mr. Liu Dejian pursuant to the general mandate. The 

aggregate gross proceeds from the Top-up Placing and Subscription are approximately HKD782.10 million and the aggregate 

net proceeds from the Top-up Placing and Subscription are approximately HKD773.44 million after deducting the commission 

payable to the Placing Agent, professional fee and other related costs and expenses in relation to the Top-up Placing and 

Subscription. On such basis, the net price of each Top-up Subscription Share is approximately HKD23.44.

As at 31 December 2021, all net proceeds from the Top-up Placing and Subscription have been utilised as intended for funding 

the expansion of education business.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

(“Deloitte”), the auditor of the Company. A resolution will be submitted in the AGM of the Company to re-appoint Deloitte as 

auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Lim Kin, Simon

Vice Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022



ANNUAL REPORT 71

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Directors believe that good corporate governance practices serve as an effective risk management for the Company and 

hence, the shareholders of the Company will benefit from the high standard of corporate governance.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 

of the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year, save as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report, the Company has complied with the provisions as 

previously set out in the CG Code in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code (the “New CG Code”) came into effect and the 

requirements under the New CG code will apply to corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on or after 

1 January 2022. The Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance practice of the Company to ensure 

compliance with the New CG Code and align with the latest developments.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has established its code of conduct regarding securities transaction by Directors, senior management and relevant 

employees on terms no less exacting than the required standard indicated by the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the 

Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required 

standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions during the year under 

review.

THE BOARD

The Board is composed of five executive Directors (including the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company) and 

four non-executive Directors (of whom three are independent non-executive Directors), whose biographical details are set out in 

“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 23 to 28. Save as disclosed herein, none of the members of the Board 

has any financial, business, family or other material relevant relationship to one another.

Each of the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company, all 

for an initial term of three years commencing on 24 June 2008 and renewable automatically for successive terms of one year 

each commencing from the day next after the expiry of the current term unless and until terminated in accordance with the terms 

of the appointment letter or by either party thereto giving to the other not less than three months’ prior written notice.

Duties of the Board including delegation to management

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day 

operations of the Company to the committees and senior management within the control and authority framework set by the 

Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the 

nomination committee and the share award scheme committee. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.
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Duties of the Board include:

(i) ensuring, maintaining and overseeing the internal control systems of the Group;

(ii) setting the objectives of management of the Group;

(iii) monitoring the performance of management of the Group;

(iv) ensuring that a framework of prudent and effective controls is in place to enable risks to be assessed and managed; and

(v) overseeing the management of NetDragon’s relationships with stakeholders, such as, shareholders, customers, the 

community, interest groups, employees and others who have a legitimate interest in the responsible conduct of the Group’s 

business.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board held four meetings and the attendance of each of the Directors at Board, 

committee and general meetings held in 2021 is set out below:

Directors

Full

Board

Audit

Committee

Remuneration

Committee

Nomination

Committee

Share Award

Scheme

Committee*

Annual

General

Meeting

Executive Directors

Liu Dejian (Chairman) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Leung Lim Kin Simon (Vice Chairman) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Liu Luyuan (Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Zheng Hui 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Chen Hongzhan 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Non-executive Director

Lin Dongliang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Independent non-executive 

 Directors

Chao Guowei, Charles 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 0/1

Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

Liu Sai Keung, Thomas 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 0/1

* The Share Award Scheme Committee of the Company did not hold any meeting during the year under review.
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The CG Code provision E.1.2 requires that the Chairman of the Board should attend the annual general meeting of the Company 

(“AGM”) and should invite the Chairman of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other committee (as appropriate) 

to attend the AGM and in their absence, he should invite another member of the committee or failing this his duly appointed 

delegate(s) to attend. These persons should be available to answer questions at the AGM. Mr. Liu Dejian, the Chairman of the 

Board, could not attend the AGM of the Company held on 3 June 2021 as he had another engagement which was important to 

the Company’s business. Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie and Mr. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas both are members of the audit committee, 

Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie attended the AGM held on 3 June 2021. Due to other commitment, Mr. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas and 

the chairman of the audit committee, Mr. Chao Guowei, Charles did not attend the AGM of the Company held on 3 June 2021.

Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail. Draft minutes are circulated to Directors for comments within 

reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Directors are entitled, upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the 

Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors 

to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

In full compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors, at 

least one of whom has appropriate professional accounting qualifications. The Board considers that all independent non-executive 

Directors have appropriate and sufficient industry or finance experience and qualifications to carry out their duties so as to protect 

the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

In addition, the Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. These Directors have served on the Board for more than nine years and 

their independence have been verified. The Nomination Committee is fully satisfied that they demonstrate complete independence 

in character and judgement both in their designated roles and as board members. The Board considers that all independent 

non-executive Directors are being considered to be independent by reference to the factors stated in the Listing Rules.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, 

with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. The Directors are also 

provided with monthly updates which contain periodic financials with summaries and covering highlights of the Company’s 

major businesses of key events, outlook and business related matters of the Group. The monthly updates present a balanced 

and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and position. The non-executive Director and independent 

non-executive Directors may take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in carrying out their functions, after 

making a request to the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

With reference to the ND Structure Contracts entered into among TQ Digital, TQ Online and NetDragon (Fujian), the executive 

Directors, Messrs. Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui, are interested in an aggregate of 99.96% in NetDragon (Fujian). Transactions 

between the Company, NetDragon (BVI), TQ Digital, TQ Online, NetDragon (Hong Kong) or NetDragon (USA) (all being 

wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) on one hand and NetDragon (Fujian) on the other hand, including the ND Structure 

Contracts and the ND Other Contracts would technically constitute connected transactions. Details for the ND Structure Contracts 

and the ND Other Contracts are set out in pages 44 to 48 in the section of “Report of the Directors” under the paragraphs of “ND 

Structure Contracts”.

With reference to the Best Assistant Control Documents entered into among Fujian Huayu and NetDragon (Fujian), NetDragon 

(Fujian) and Fujian Huayu (being a subsidiary of NetDragon (Fujian)) are technically associates of Messrs. Liu Dejian, Liu Luyuan 

and Zheng Hui, and therefore connected persons of the Company. Transactions between the Company or its subsidiaries, except 

Best Assistant (Cayman) and subsidiaries of Best Assistant (Cayman) (the “Best Assistant Group Companies”) on one hand and 

Best Assistant (Cayman) or Best Assistant Group Companies on the other hand, including the Best Assistant Control Documents 

would technically constitute connected transactions. Details for the Best Assistant Control Documents are set out in pages 49 to 

53 in the section of “Report of the Directors” under the paragraphs of “Best Assistant Control Documents”.

With reference to the continuing connected transactions for the Renewal Tenancy Agreement entered into between TQ Digital or 

NetDragon (Fujian) on one hand and Fuzhou 851 on the other and with reference to the continuing connected transactions for 

the Renewal Recreation Centre Agreement and the Renewal Recreation Centre Agreement entered into between TQ Digital or 

NetDragon (Fujian) on one hand and Fuzhou 851 on the other hand, Fuzhou 851 is 100% wholly owned by DJM Holding Ltd., 

a substantial shareholder of the Company. Thus, Fuzhou 851 is deemed to be a connected person to the Company.

With reference to the Series A Agreement entered into, among others, Best Assistant (Cayman) and the Series A Investors for the 

allotment and issue of an aggregate of 180,914,513 Series A Preferred Shares for a total consideration of USD52,500,000 

(equivalent to approximately HKD409.5 million), DJM Holding Ltd. was allotted 2,987,605 Series A Preferred Shares. DJM 

Holding Ltd. is a substantial shareholder of the Company and is wholly owned by Mr. Liu Dejian, the chairman and an executive 

Director. Thus, DJM Holding Ltd. is considered as a connected person to the Company.

Details for the continuing connected transactions are set out in pages 59 to 60 in the section of “Report of the Directors” under 

the paragraphs of “Continuing Connected Transactions”.

Save as the above, none of the Directors is materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or 

contract of significance of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 or as at the end of the year.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the chairman and the chief executive officer are held by Mr. Liu Dejian and Mr. Liu Luyuan, respectively.

In order to reinforce their respective independence, accountability and responsibility, the role of the chairman is separated from 

that of the chief executive officer. The chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in 

accordance with good corporate governance practice and ensuring the effectiveness of the Board. With the support of the senior 

management, the chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information 

in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings.

The chief executive officer focuses on managing the Company and its subsidiaries, developing and implementing objectives, 

policies and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. The chief executive officer is in charge of the Group’s day-to-day 

management and operations and is also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating the organisational structure, 

control systems and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on 15 October 2007 which has adopted written terms of 

reference in compliance with the CG Code Provision. The primary duties of our audit committee are to review and supervise our 

financial reporting process, risk management, internal control and corporate governance systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the quarterly, interim and annual consolidated financial results of the Group. In addition, the Audit 

Committee also reviews and approves the pricing policy and the performance for the continuing connected transactions and 

connected transactions relating to ND Structure Contracts, ND Other Contracts and Best Assistant Control Documents of the 

Group.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021. The major work performed by the Audit 

Committee in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 included reviewing and recommending the re-appointment of 

external auditor, approving the terms of engagement (including the remuneration) of the external auditor and the audit plan, 

reviewing the unaudited interim report and interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2021, reviewing the 

audited financial statements and final results announcement for the year ended 31 December 2021, reviewing the work of the 

Group’s internal audit and assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal control, risk management, corporate 

governance and cost control. The Audit Committee also discussed with the management to ensure that the Company is having 

adequate resources, qualified and experienced staff of the accounting and financial reporting function, and training programmes 

and budget.

Our Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Chao Guowei, Charles, Lee Kwan Hung, 

Eddie and Liu Sai Keung, Thomas. Chao Guowei, Charles is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Group’s audited 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The 

Audit Committee is of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting standards and 

requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective system of internal control to safeguard the 

shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board has entrusted the Audit 

Committee and professional external consultant with the responsibility to review the internal control and risk management systems 

of the Group, which include financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review on the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management 

system of the Group through discussion with the audit committee on audit findings and control issues. These procedures provide 

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material errors, losses and fraud, and manage rather than eliminate risks of 

failure in the Group’s operational systems and in the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting 

and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board, based on the review of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the Group has maintained sound and effective risk 

management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2021.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 15 October 2007 which adopts 

the model of determining remuneration packages and policy for all executive Directors and senior management and make 

recommendation on the remuneration of non-executive Directors to the Board. The remuneration of all our Directors and senior 

management is subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that levels of their remuneration and 

compensation are appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting to review the salary structure of the 

employees of the Company as well as the remuneration of senior management staff. The Remuneration Committee also reviewed 

the remuneration of the Directors by assessing their performance and with reference to the remuneration level of directors of 

comparable listed companies and also approved the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts.

Our Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Chao Guowei, Charles, Lee Kwan 

Hung, Eddie and Liu Sai Keung, Thomas. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and 

competence.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and senior management of the Company are reviewed and determined by the 

Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market 

statistics.

The Group has adopted the Share Option Scheme, the NetDragon Share Award Scheme and the Best Assistant Share Award 

Scheme to motivate Directors and eligible employees. Details of the schemes are set out in the paragraphs headed “Share Option 

Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”. None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 

2021.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) on 15 October 2007 which has adopted 

written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code Provision. The Nomination Committee determines the nomination 

policy and follows a formal, fair and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. The Nomination 

Committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifies suitably qualified candidates to become Board 

members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates nominated for directorships and 

succession planning for directors. During this process, the Nomination Committee considers candidates based on merit and with 

due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, a meeting was held to review the structure, size and composition of 

the Board and assessed the independence of the three independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The Nomination 

Committee is of the view that the current Board demonstrates a balanced composition with sufficient independence element.

Our Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Chao Guowei, Charles, Lee Kwan 

Hung, Eddie and Liu Sai Keung, Thomas. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Potential new directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skill and experience which the Nomination Committee 

considers will make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.

On 30 August 2013, the Board adopted the board membership diversity policy for maintaining the appropriate skills and 

experience required by the Company’s business and a diversity of perspectives on the Board.
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The following is a summary of the board diversity policy:

• reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills, 

experience and background on the Board;

• recommending candidates for appointment to the Board by considering merit against objective criteria and with due regard 

for the benefits of diversity on the Board; and

• conducting the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board by considering the balance of talents, skills, experience, 

independence and knowledge of the Board and the diversity of the Board.

The achievement of these criteria will be measurable on an objective review, which can enhance the diversity of background and 

experience of individual directors and the effectiveness of the Board in protecting shareholders’ interests.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee recommends candidates for nomination to the Board, which approves the final choice of candidates. 

The Nomination Committee was responsible to maintain the nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) 

and review the same regularly. The objective of the Nomination Policy is to assist the Company in fulfilling its duties and 

responsibilities as provided in its terms of reference. This Nomination Policy sets out, inter alia, the selection criteria and the 

evaluation procedures in nominating candidates to be appointed or re-appointed as Directors of the Company.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any 

existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a variety of factors including without limitation the 

following in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

(a) Reputation for integrity;

(b) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and other relevant sectors relate to the Company and/or its 

subsidiaries;

(c) Commitment in respect of sufficient time and attention to the Company’ s business;

(d) Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural/educational and professional background, skills, 

knowledge and experience;

(e) The ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the Company’ s success;
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(f) Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the appointment of an independent non-executive 

Director; and

(g) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

The Committee believes that independence is an important part of fulfilling the Directors’ duty to supervise the management of the 

business and affairs of the Company. Non-executive Directors and Executive Directors are required to disclose his/her competing 

businesses to the Company. Cross-directorships in Hong Kong or overseas between Directors are also reviewed annually. 

The Nomination Committee is accountable for assessing whether any competing businesses or interlocking directorships could 

materially interfere with the exercise of objective and unfettered judgement by relevant Directors or their ability to act in the best 

interests of the Group.

ND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the ND Management Committee pursuant to the ND Structure Contracts to oversee the business and 

operations of NetDragon (Fujian).

The ND Management Committee comprises four members, of which each of TQ Digital and NetDragon (Fujian) is entitled to 

appoint two members from its respective board of directors. Other than by reason of retirement, resignation, incapability or death, 

a member of the ND Management Committee may only be removed by the party who originally appointed such member. As a 

general requirement, the members appointed by NetDragon (Fujian) must also be the equity holders of NetDragon (Fujian) as well 

as directors of TQ Digital. In the case where the number of members who concurrently act as a director of both TQ Digital and 

NetDragon (Fujian) is less than two, TQ Digital is entitled to appoint an additional member of the ND Management Committee. 

As such, under the ND Structure Contracts, the ND Management Committee is allowed to have a maximum of five members.

Currently, the ND Management Committee comprises Liu Dejian and Liu Luyuan who were appointed by NetDragon (Fujian), and 

Zheng Hui and Chen Hongzhan who were appointed by TQ Digital. The directors of NetDragon (Fujian) comprise Liu Dejian, Liu 

Luyuan, Zheng Hui, being executive Directors, and Wang Song, being a member of our senior management. Further details of 

the above members of the ND Management Committee are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in 

this annual report.
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BEST ASSISTANT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Best Assistant Management Committee was established on 3 March 2015 pursuant to the Best Assistant Control Documents 

to oversee the business and operations of Fujian Huayu. Through its control over Fujian Huayu, the Best Assistant Management 

Committee is also able to oversee the business and operations of the subsidiaries of Fujian Huayu. The Best Assistant 

Management Committee comprises four members, of which each of Fujian Tianquan and Fujian Huayu is entitled to appoint two 

members from its respective board of directors. Other than by reason of retirement, resignation, incapability or death, a member 

of the Best Assistant Management Committee may only be removed by the party who originally appointed such member. In the 

case where the number of members who concurrently act as a director of both Fujian Tianquan and Fujian Huayu is less than 

two, Fujian Tianquan is entitled to appoint an additional member of the Best Assistant Management Committee. As such, under 

the Best Assistant Control Documents, the Best Assistant Management Committee is allowed to have a maximum of five members.

Currently, the Best Assistant Management Committee comprises Liu Dejian and Liu Luyuan who were appointed by Fujian Huayu, 

and Zheng Hui and Wang Song, who were appointed by Fujian Tianquan. The directors of Fujian Huayu comprise Liu Dejian, 

Liu Luyuan, Zheng Hui, Chen Hongzhan, being executive Directors, and Wang Song. Zheng Hui is also the general manager of 

Fujian Huayu.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME COMMITTEE

In recognition of the contribution of employees and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual 

operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group, the Company 

established a share award scheme committee on 2 September 2008 for the purpose of administration of the Share Award 

Scheme.

Our share award scheme committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie and Liu 

Sai Keung, Thomas and members of the senior management, namely Yam Kwok Hei, Benjamin and Lau Hak Kin.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT OF DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the 

relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest and business of the Group and such 

induction materials will also be provided to newly appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All Directors 

have been updated on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure 

compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. The Directors confirmed that they have 

complied with the Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code effective on 1 April 2012 on Directors’ training. In 2021, all Directors 

have participated in continuous professional development by reading materials/in house briefing on regulatory and corporate 

governance matters to develop and refresh their knowledge.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal action against the Directors.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors, is set out as follows:

RMB’000

Audit services 9,044

Non-audit services 219
 

9,263
 

The above non-audit services include professional advisory fees relating to the quarterly review services, accounting services and 

internal control review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and 

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 

and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. The Directors acknowledge such responsibilities. The 

Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statements of the Company’s external auditors regarding their responsibilities on the financial statements are set out in the 

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 118 to 123.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lau Hak Kin, Financial Controller and Head of Compliance and Corporate Affairs of the Company, has been appointed by 

the Company as company secretary since September 2014. He is also the primary contact person of the Company. During the 

year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Lau Hak Kin has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update 

his skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company recognises the importance to maintain an on-going dialogue with the shareholders. The management personnel 

responsible for investor relations held regular meetings with equity research analysts, fund managers and institutional shareholders 

and investors. A shareholders’ communication policy, which is reviewed by the Board on regular basis, had been established to 

promote effective engagement with shareholders, both individual and institutional, investors and other stakeholders, giving them 

ready access to balanced and understandable information about the Company and corporate proposals and making it easy for 

Shareholders to participate in general meetings.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands 

Companies Law (2012 Revision). However, according to article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any one or 

more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company 

carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board 

or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 

business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. 

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself 

(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure 

of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A 
DIRECTOR

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a director of the Company are laid down in article 88 of 

the Company’s Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the 

Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a shareholder (other 

than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention 

to propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall 

have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office provided that the minimum length of the period, during which 

such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of 

the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the 

dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of 

such general meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and 

transfer office: Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

For other enquiries or proposals to the Board, Shareholders may send writ ten enquiries to the Company by  

fax: (852) 2850 7066 or mail to Units 2001-05 & 11, 20th Floor, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the 

Directors, the Company maintains a sufficient public float with more than 25% of the issued shares of the Company being held by 

the public.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Dividend Policy is adopted and approved by the board of directors of the Company as the guideline on dividend distribution 

regarding future dividends to be paid by the Company with effect from 26 March 2019. The Company is committed to 

maintaining sufficient resources and flexibility to meet the Company’ s financial and operational requirements. At the same time, 

the Company continually seeks ways to enhance shareholders’ value to ensure sustainable long-term yields for shareholders.

The dividend payout ratio shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its absolute discretion after 

taking into account the Company’ s financial results, future prospects and other factors, and subject to:

－ the Articles of Association of the Company;

－ the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the Cayman Islands;

－ any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is bound from time to time;

－ the investment and operating requirements of the Company; and

－ any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles of Association of the Company, all of our shareholders have equal 

entitlement to dividends and distributions. The Board shall have the right to review the Dividend Policy from time to time as it 

deems fit according to the financial and business development requirements of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of 

relevant information to its shareholders. The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with its shareholders 

through various means. The Directors host the annual general meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their 

enquiries. The Company also updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance through its 

annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the Company has provided an effective communication platform 

to the public and the shareholders.

There has not been any significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 

2021.

The AGM will be held at Boardroom 6, Renaissance Harbour View Hotel, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Thursday, 

2 June 2022.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report of the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2021 in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The ESG Report focuses of the principle 

business activities of the Group that have significant ESG impacts and covers the sustainability performance and policies on the 

Company and its subsidiaries.

ESG GOVERNANCE

As a global leader in building internet communities, the Group believes that it is responsible to promote sustainable development, 

to help build a fair and equal society and to achieve high standard of corporate governance. The Group is fully committed to 

achieve ESG excellence by effective implementation of the governance structure and strict compliance of the Group’s policies. 

The Group firmly believes that as the Group follows through on the sustainability visions, the Group would also be put in a great 

position to deliver sustainable return for the investors. The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of ESG related 

issues and risks in business operations, implementing the ESG strategies, and reviewing the ESG report. In addition, regular 

briefings and reporting are arranged to keep the Board abreast of the latest ESG trend and the Group’s ESG performance. The 

management and staff of the Group with corresponding expertise in ESG issues would assist the Board in identifying relevant 

ESG issues to the Group, monitoring the progress and implementation of ESG policies, procedures and initiatives.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ opinions are important for the Group to achieve continuous improvement. The Group maintains regular 

communication channels with key stakeholders, including customers, employees, suppliers, media, shareholders, regulators and 

the communities, to understand their expectations and address their concerns. The Group collects feedbacks from stakeholders 

regularly through a range of channels such as general meetings, Company websites, interviews, constructive discussions, surveys 

and feedback programmes.
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IDENTIFYING MATERIAL ISSUES

Stakeholder participation facilitates the identification of potential risks as well as business opportunities. Based on the stakeholders’ 

feedback from various communication channels, ESG issues were ranked and prioritised in terms of their importance to 

stakeholders and to the Group’s business development. Results of the materiality analysis is presented in the following materiality 

matrix:

ESG Aspects ESG Materiality Topics for the Group

A: Environmental
A1: Emissions 1. Air Emissions and Gas Emissions
A2: Use of Resources 2. Waste Management
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources 3. Energy Consumptions
A4: Climate Change 4. Water and Effluent Consumption

5. Materials Consumptions
6. Environmental Risk Management
7. Climate Changes
8. Human Resources Arrangement

B: Social 9. Employment and Remuneration Policy
B1: Employment 10. Diversity and Equal opportunity
B2: Health and Safety 11. Employees’ Health and Workplace Safety
B3: Development and Training 12. Employee Development
B4: Labour Standards 13. Anti-child and Forced Labor
B5: Supply Chain Management 14. Supplier Management
B6: Product Responsibility 15. Quality and Safety of Goods and Services
B7: Anti-Corruption 16. Intellectual Property Rights and Protection of Privacy and Data Safety
B8: Community Investment 17. Anti-corruption and Anti-money Laundering

18. Community Investment
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group currently engages in online gaming and online education business and its nature of business is not related to 

manufacturing or other business which produces emissions (including greenhouse), waste (hazardous and non-hazardous), or 

other business which have a significant effect on the environment. Therefore, the Group does not contribute to any significant 

impact in these areas.

The Group recognises the importance of implementing policies and strategies in line with best practices to address climate 

change risks and mitigate the associated impacts on the Group’s business operations. Climate change risks, such as rising sea 

levels, extreme weather events and rising temperatures, can impact the Group’s business, assets and stakeholders. Therefore, 

the Group is committed to doing its part to combat climate change and conserve the recourses by monitoring the Group’s most 

relevant environmental issues.

Emissions

The Group has enhanced its management of emissions through technological and recycling solutions that seek to reduce the 

emission of relevant pollutants and greenhouse gases, waste discharged into water and land, as well as the generation of 

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

The Group commit to reducing the Greenhouse Gases (“GHG”) emissions in line with the Paris Agreement (i.e., to limit global 

warming to 1.5°C). The Group has set ambitious decarbonisation targets to realise this and will annually purchase enough 

carbon credits to compensate for the remaining GHG emissions and achieve carbon neutrality.

The Group has drastically reduced direct (scope 1) and indirect (scope 2) energy consumption of the Group and will continue 

to decarbonise this by transitioning to renewable energy at the Group’s headquarter, offices and sites. To tackle the emissions 

associated with the transportation of goods, the Group is promoting road travel where possible, and opening 3 new US hubs, 

which the Group anticipates drastically improving routing efficiency. To tackle staff mobility, the Group will revise the global 

travel policy with more restrictive travel protocols, learning from the Covid-19-related carbon savings. The Group will also explore 

greener travel incentives for employees in sites where commuting via public transport is feasible and transitioning towards electric 

vehicle use.
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Use of Resources

The Group has been minimizing the adverse effect of its business on the environment by enhancing operational efficiency and 

implementing environmental measures. All the operations of the Group are committed to ensure compliance with the relevant laws 

of the jurisdiction where it belongs and to review the practices of business on a regular basis, in order to identify methods for 

enhancing sustainable development and deploy measures for more effective use of resources.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group runs its daily office operation with the objectives of energy conservation, adequate utilisation of resources with waste-

recycling, as well as enhancing environment awareness of the staff. The Company has spared no effort to advocate “reducing”, 

“re-use” and “recycling” and reduce energy consumption by encouraging the staffs the use of email for internal and external 

communications, using e-files at the server, double-sided printing and photocopying, promotion of the use of recycled paper, 

reduce unnecessary printing and photocopying, making best effort in recycling all office supplies and equipment using LED 

lighting and further installation of occupancy and motion sensors, and reducing the packaging around the purchased products, 

number of containers and the resultant transport emissions by increasing volume of the container.

Climate change

Climate change has been an alarming issue all over the world. Some may even coin it as climate “emergency”. Hence, the 

Group has identified and assessed the risks of climate change and developed measures to safeguard the safety of its employees, 

including strictly complying with relevant extreme weather guidelines issued by the government. The Group has worked out 

emergency guidelines and measures to reduce damage from disaster attacks in the future. The Group will also follow the Carbon 

Neutrality Project, which aims to decarbonise the Group through for example, reduction in transport, which will promote the 

Group’s environmental credentials and reduce its environmental impact. Policies for climate changes will be reviewed on a 

regular basis to ensure their effectiveness.



ANNUAL REPORT88

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Summary of Environmental Performance

A1: Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions relating to 

operational activities covering buildings, staff mobility 

and transport.

In 2021, the Group’s GHG emissions were 

9,610 tCO2e.

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) 

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and intensity (per 

ActivPanel)

Scope 1 – 1 tCO2e (<1%)

Scope 2 – 288 tCO2e (3%)

Scope 3 – 9,321 tCO2e (97%)

Total – 9,610 tCO2e

KPI = 0.055 tCO2e/ActivPanels sold

Number of ActivPanels sold = 175,088

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and 

intensity (per ActivPanel)

Hazardous waste produced = 3,100 kg

KPI = 0.0177Kg/ActivPanels sold

Number of ActivPanels sold = 175,088

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and 

intensity (per ActivPanel)

Non-hazardous waste – 10.4 tonnes

KPI = 0.00006 tonnes/ActivPanels sold

Number of ActivPanels sold = 175,088
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in 

total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (per ActivPanel)

Only Electricity used in offices.

Electricity – 892 MWh

KPI = 5.10kWh/ActivPanels sold

Number of ActivPanels sold = 175,088

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (per 

ActivPanel)

Water usage 1,246 m3

KPI = 0.007 m3/ActivPanels sold

Number of ActivPanels sold = 175,088

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set, and 

steps taken to achieve them.

Electricity used in Office 5% reduction of previous 

years usage.

Achieved by additional LED lighting and further 

installation of occupancy and motion sensors.

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) 

set, and steps taken to achieve them.

There are no issues sourcing water.

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in 

tonnes).

Total weight of packaging materials placed on the 

Global market 6,825 tonnes.

KPI= 0.034 tonnes/ActivPanels sold

Number of ActivPanels sold = 175,088
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B. SOCIETY

I. Employment

The Group offers equal opportunities to all job seekers regardless of race, color, nationality, religion, gender, age, disability or 

other bias prohibited by any other relevant laws. The policy of the Group is to select the most suitable person who corresponds 

to particular job requirements taking into account of educational background, working experiences, skills, personal integrity 

and considerations such as potential to grow in line with the Group. The Group treats every staff with equality and none of 

their appointment, remuneration packages and promotions will be affected on the grounds of their social identity, such as race, 

ethnicity, nationality, gender, religion, age, sexual orientation, political grouping and marital status.

In order to attract, nurture and retain qualified employees, the Group is committed to offer professional development opportunities 

and a healthy working environment for all the employees. In addition, the Group also pursues the principle of employment with 

equality. The Group requires the employees to bear high standard of business ethics and promotes good personal integrity.

The Group conducts reviews of the remunerations and benefits scheme regularly to ensure the remunerations and benefits remain 

competitive. Moreover, the Group continues to review the scheme annually and adjusts the remunerations and other benefits of 

the employees in accordance with the prevailing market condition, including medical scheme, health check, overseas business 

trip insurance, training allowance and retirement benefits.

The Group strongly advocates community spirit of mutual respect and equal opportunities. The Group strictly complies with the 

laws of Equal Opportunities, including Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination 

Ordinance and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. To ensure diversification and equality in career opportunities, the 

principles of recruitment, remuneration and promotion of the Group are based on the working experiences, skills and performance 

of the employees, who will not be discriminated on the grounds of age, race, disability, gender or family.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had its overall headcount of 4,834 with 97% of full-time employees, 89% of the 

employees were based in PRC and Hong Kong and the remaining 11% were based overseas including US and UK. Male and 

female employees accounted for 62% and 38% of the overall headcount respectively. Employees aged between 30 and 50 

accounted for 48% of the overall headcount while employees aged under 30 and above 50 accounted for 44% and 38% of the 

overall headcount respectively.
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During the reporting period, the Group recorded a turnover rate of approximately 39%. The table below shows the employee 

turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region:

2021 

Turnover 

rate*

By Gender

Male 22%

Female 69%

By Age Group

Under 30 38%

Between 30 and 50 44%

Above 50 10%

By Geographical Region

China 42%

Hong Kong 7%

Others 21%

* The turnover rate is calculated by: (number of employees who left the Group during the year/average number of employees at the 

beginning and end of the year) x 100%
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II. Health and Safety

Health and safety of employees are the most important obligations concerned by the Group. The Group’s management team 

endeavors to identify, assess and eliminate possible health and safety risks existing in the Group’s operations. During the past 

three years, the Group was not aware of any material work-related health and safety incidents and no work-related fatalities in 

the Group.

1. Safety

1.1. Security staff are deployed on duty for 24 hours a day to monitor full coverage of all working venues and they conduct 

patrols and inspections strictly to ensure a safe working environment. We have established fire services system and 

professional fire services team in place and organise regular training sessions on fire safety annually, such as fire and 

evacuation drills, rescue drills for lift-trapped victims and explosion prevention drills, to improve our rescue and employees’ 

self-rescue ability and safety awareness.

1.2. We have also formulated safety standards and rules for practices and operations in various job positions, accompanied by 

a comprehensive training programme, to ensure the operational safety of employees.

1.3. During the pandemic, the Company has developed clear-cut mechanism for epidemic prevention and control and gained 

in-depth understanding of the relevant procedures including those of entering the Company, quarantine and disinfection, 

which enabled us to handle emergencies in an orderly and efficient manner. These helped us to ensure that offices in the 

two places will survive the epidemic and resume normal work order quickly. No case of infection was found following the 

resumption of work.

2. Health

In compliance with the national EHS regulations, we have continuously improved our environmental safety protective system to 

ensure a safe working environment and hold ourselves accountable to the society and our employees.

2.1. Material security: The Group has established strict rules for various processes, such as procurement, acceptance inspection 

and equipment maintenance, to ensure food safety and normal operation of equipment.

2.2. Energy consumption such as water and electricity has been under strict control at our workplace to reduce emissions and 

save energy.

2.3. We organise regular medical examination for all staff annually and has established a medical clinic with recruited 

professional doctors and nurses as well as required facilities to ensure that diagnosis and treatment are provided for 

common diseases, and preliminary treatment will be provided to accidental injury cases for timely transfer to hospital for 

further treatment.
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III. Development and Trainings

Staff Training

NetDragon University is a base for nurturing management and technological talents of the Group. As a powerful support and an 

important part of the overall strategy of the Group, NetDragon University is committed to providing professional and systematic 

training services to staff. In 2021, NetDragon University assumed the important role of supporting and empowering knowledge 

organisation for the whole organization, actively promoting the implementation of knowledge organisation affairs; practicing the 

concept of Huayu Education, through knowledge precipitation and best practice extraction, supplemented by different learning 

means and learning products, to realize the overall professional capacity of NetDragon, and help the career development of 

NetDragon students and the upgrading of NetDragon talents.

Achievements in 2021

In line with the strategic development and key business development of the Company, during 2021, the enterprise-school 

cooperation department and Netdragon Digital Education Town formed an integrated system of “industry-teaching-creation” 

and continued to promote the research and study projects in the Education Town; each faculty group made every effort to assist 

the Company in achieving the annual goals of education business-related projects and improving the skills of key positions. 

In response to the “corporate affair-oriented” concept put forward by the Company, the Company implemented the value of 

learning culture, carried out mandatory learning for all employees, drove the learning atmosphere and empowered employees’ 

thinking through the quality content production; helped promote the knowledge organisation of the Company, developed tools 

for certification development affairs, and promoted the implementation of the certification development affairs of the Company; 

in terms of management training, the Company established a learning zone for management posts, which iterated management 

post courses and promoted management post learning to help the Company continuously upgrade its management.

In 2021, NetDragon University organised a total of 205 various training events with total attendance of 111,045 participants 

(excluding external forums and teaching within NetDragon University.
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1. External Training:

• NetDragon University and Netdragon Digital Education Town formed an integrated system of “industry-teaching-creation”, 

developed and designed four types of curriculum systems and 23 study courses integrated with academic subjects for the 

Education Town’s study programs, attracting a total of 5,000 people to the town.

• Through expansion training to support the attraction of Digital Education Town, serving 4,493 people, including 19 

sessions of quality development for the external customer team of the Party Construction Institute, 1 session of winter 

camp for research and technology sports, and 16 sessions of quality development for research projects, with an average 

satisfaction score of 4.85.

• CAFA Design Methodology: Completing “Design Methodology” in the CAFA, the only higher education institutions of Arts in the 

Ministry of Education, systematic curriculum development and class of the CAFA can boost to achieve the productization target 

of Design Methodology curriculum. It is also the best practice of Netdragon AI courseware + practical teaching. Project solution 

integrates electronic textbooks and affair tools, which are education products of the Company, so as to relieve teacher’s teaching 

and guidance pressure and enhance efficiency of preparing coursework and class. Enhancing learning experience of students 

through the platform of case study, project-based learning, affair tools and design methodology, and educational concept of 

learning-based-on-need are also successfully achieved. The project was of great significance in upgrading design methodology 

knowledge curriculum system. Its in-depth teaching model, curriculum design SOP, granular database of teaching activities were 

successfully applied in various productization projects of methodology.

• Beijing Normal University’s “Design and Learning Project”: Supporting the Smart Learning Institute of Beijing Normal 

University to complete research and development and teaching of the 2021 school curriculum of the Design and Learning 

programme. The programme adopted an “online + offline” teaching method, and was based on the “PBL project-based 

learning” and empowered by design methodological transaction tools. 19 education product designs, covering areas 

including subject education, quality education, vocational education and others were accomplished with the joint guidance 

of graduate students, undergraduate students, veteran designers and university and college teachers from more than 30 

universities and colleges, thus enhancing the innovative design capabilities. Meanwhile, the curriculum not only integrated 

NetDragon’s concept of “learning on demand” with products such as AI courseware and electronic textbooks, but also 

introduced design literacy such as “discovering beauty” into the curriculum, helping students to keep their passion for life. It 

was well received by teachers and students.

• Promotion of design methodology in the society: Completing revision of the teaching materials (electronic version) for 

Product Design Methods for higher vocational education and delivered a new version of teaching materials to 28 higher 

vocational colleges and universities. Follow-up materials would be published and delivered to 143 cooperative colleges 

and universities. At the same time, phase I of design methodology training for teachers was organized and completed 

covering 4 colleges and universities. With the aid of online workshop training and certification, sharing of key teaching 

strategies and provision of a rich granular database of teaching activities, and teaching programs, college teachers could 

therefore prepare and present course materials of “Design Methodology” in a more professional and easier way, in turn 

ensuring efficiency in teaching.
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2. Internal Training:

Mandatory learning programs for all employees: According to the “corporate affair-oriented” management needs 

of the Company, we have designed and developed more than 20 online series of courses, one course per week, which are 

launched from the perspectives of new management concepts, excellent working methods, education concepts and business 

products, with clear corporate characteristics and case practices, and each course has achieved 90% of participation and 

completion rate which satisfied the learning needs of personnel in the development of the organisation in terms of changes in 

awareness, cognition and skills. In 2021, we completed 36 delivery tasks with more than 140,000 participants.

Skills promotion project for key positions: We continued to push forward the implementation of the requirements 

for upgrading key positions, assisted the education business to promote agile development, and promoted the upgrade of the 

research and development system; launched a special Unity source code training program to improve the 3D development 

capabilities of the Company; promoted the upgrade of service awareness in Taihe Yayu Company to improve the working 

atmosphere and enhance the service experience; used affairs tools as a grip, analyzed personnel skills data, and formed The 

case study of core value and roadmap for deliberate practice, covering 90 senior designers in the design center; in-depth talent 

training cooperation with Fuzhou University and Fujian Normal University, etc., sorting out the pre-service training program for 

8 key positions in each center, and recruiting more than 40 quality graduates for the Company in total with the new school 

recruitment model of training for recruitment.

Senior management seminar projects: According to the voting results of the issues in the “Vice President Strategy 

Discussion Pool”, more than 300 senior management students were invited to participate in discussion sessions. 110 people 

participated in two rounds of discussion sessions in order to conduct team discussions and make collective efforts for the strategic 

business issues of the Company, and 92 viewpoints and countermeasures were collected to support the strategic business 

development needs of the Company.

Management training projects: We have launched an online management post learning zone, which includes mandatory 

management post courses based on the management requirements of the Company and excellent management theories in the 

industry; combined with the problems encountered in the actual work of the management post, we help the management post to 

improve their management ability and help the Company to continuously upgrade its management through the form of survey and 

research, online micro-class pre-study and offline workshop.

Routine training projects:

Skills training: In 2021, NetDragon University organised a total of 64 trainings on skills with 4,416participants, including 

24 NetDragon Skills Forums with 1,991 participants.

Experiential training: The development of 14 teams was completed with 469 participants.

New staff training: A total of 17 training sessions were organised for new staff with 1,409 participants.
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Certification projects:

Internal affairs certification: We have completed the design of the certification development methodology tools; 

completed the sorting out of the implementation process of the certification operation methodology and the design of the 

electronic documentation of the certification operation; completed the development and optimization of the certification 

development methodology course series, and completed the online and offline teaching of TOPTOON customers; completed 

the development of eight typical cases in the non-objective category; and in the year of 2021, completed the development/

optimization/cancellation/reuse of a total of 139 subjects.

U3D series certification: In 2021, the Unity programming development primary certification and the Unity programming 

development intermediate certification were organized monthly; with 19 participants for the primary certification and 20 

participants for the intermediate certification.

Design methodology certification: a total of 14 sessions of design methodology primary certification were organised with 

233 participants in total and 13 sessions of design methodology improvement class certification with 37 participants in total.

3. Construction of Platform Function and Content:

Construction of platform function: We launched a new version of the course module (teaching class), which covers the 

original open classes and adds classroom practice capabilities and offline session functions; providing sharing functions at the 

learning resource level (including the web end); supporting oral questions in the examination module; supporting the validation 

of 2 simulated training courses, and providing feedback to submit function-related suggestions to help optimize the learning 

experience.

Construction of platform content: In 2021, a total of 1,184 courses were uploaded, including 108 training certification 

courses.

Platform operation: In 2021, the accumulative learning time was 270,723.23 hours with average learning time per person 

of 24.58 hours. For the three examination questions per day at the Company level: 181 examinations were organized with 

average daily participation of 982 persons and a rate of accuracy of 55%.

Overview of administrator cultivation: In 2021, a total of 23 administrators were cultivated and the accumulative 

number of administrators cultivated amounted to 284 persons.



ANNUAL REPORT 97

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IV. Labour practices

The Group has been in strict compliance with the Employment Ordinance and in no circumstances engaged in any forced labour 

or child labour.

V. Management of the Supply Chain

In 2021, Promethean World Limited (“Promethean”) had a total of 23 key suppliers. The geographical split of these suppliers was 

as follows:

Indicators 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Number of Key suppliers1 23 22 21 23 17 15 11

By region:

Asian countries other than PRC and

 Hong Kong 1 3 3 2 2 4 1

Australia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

UK 1 0 1 2 0 0 1

US 8 7 8 11 5 1 1

PRC 5 6 7 6 7 5 4

UAE 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Hong Kong 5 2 2 1 1 4 3

European Countries other than UK 3 3 0 1 2 1 1

Total amounts invoiced by

 key suppliers (GBP million) 335.9 198.2 175.1 246.9 183.7 95.8 90.7

1 Key Suppliers refers to suppliers of products/services whose total contract sum amounted to $1m or more in any given year.

Promethean has a documented supplier on-boarding process that is undertaken in respect of significant suppliers of products to 

the Group. This process includes a review of quality processes, Health & safety, training & development, labour ethics and the 

environment.

The Promethean’s operations team periodically visit significant suppliers in the normal course of business.

During the year, the Promethean Group was not aware that any key suppliers had any significant actual and potential negative 

impact on business ethics, environment protection, human rights and labour practices nor was the Group aware that any of them 

had any non-compliance incident in respect of human rights issues.

Engaging suppliers: Key ODM suppliers are managed by the Quarterly Business Review (QBR) process.
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The number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented. Promethean’s two suppliers of Interactive Flat Panels account 

for 70% of total company spend are managed by the QBR process. Other Key suppliers based on pareto 80% value are 

managed by six or twelve month business reviews.

These are implemented and monitored by way of a QBR presentation pack which is produced for the review meeting and 

subsequent actions logged and reviewed/closed out at the following meeting.

VI. Product Liability

The Group enforces a complete set of internal policies and procedures on information security management based on the 

framework in the “Information Safety Technology and Personal Information Safety Standard” (GB/T 35273-2020) that released 

by PRC Government in March 2020, which cover all relevant business lines of the Group. These policies and procedures include 

the following:

• Full-cycle preventive measures covering data collection, transmission, storage and usage phases

• Clear definition of data owners’ right

• Mechanism to handle collection of complaints and response procedures

• Mechanism for reporting of data breach incidences

• Data protection impact assessment

• Organizational measures to strengthen information security management

• Regular engagement and cooperation with the regulatory bodies

Privacy and Data Security Principles of the Group are as follows:

Data Collection Phase：

• Principle of Legality: No data collected from any illegal channels

• Principle of Minimum Necessity: Only collect the data necessary to fulfill the application

• Principle of Autonomy: Set isolated application scenarios and provide unbundled services, allowing for user’s autonomy

• Principle of Authorized Consent: Fully inform users about the intent, method and range of the data collection before their 

authorization, and no data collection without user authorization
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Data Storage and Transmission Phase：

• Shortest Time Principle: The storage period is the minimum time required

• De-Identification Management: Apply de-identification after the data collection, store the data separately and strengthen 

access and usage control

• Encryption Measures: Apply national encryption standard during data storage and transmission

Data Access and Application Phase：

• Principle of Access Control: Implement minimum access control strategy, internal supervision and approval process for data 

revision and download

• Principle of Purpose Limitation: Data application must comply with the purpose stated during collection phase, any 

applications beyond the stated purpose need separate authorization

• Principle of Publicity Restrictions: Utilize de-identification technology to exclude sensitive information in the presentation of 

personal data to protect privacy and security

The Group is committed to protecting personal data owners’ rights during all business operations. Users have explicit rights and 

convenient channels to inquire, revise, delete, revoke the authorization of all their personal data.

The fully complies with all relevant laws and regulations on cross border transmission of personal data to ensure users’ privacy 

and personal data are safe and protected. The Group achieved segregated management of onshore and offshore personal data 

by implementing effective business structures together with the use of technology infrastructures of the Group. Going forward, the 

Group will continue to strive to uphold the highest global standard to enhance Privacy and Data Security.

Based on the standard of a computerised software test, the Group has performed strictly product inspection, including function 

test, weak network test, safety test, compatibility test, integration test and interface test, etc. and applied extensively automated 

testing technology to avoid and control, to the largest extent, risks of human factors to ensure the product functions and various 

indexes meet the quality standard. Moreover, for the purpose of a further guarantee for continuous improvement on product 

quality and on the quality of the production procedures, the Group has established an analysis mechanism for causes to defects 

and prevention measures for defects through big data management of BUG, along with regular technologies exchanges with 

corporates and universities, as well as continuous improvement and testing for related new tools and new methods.
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The Group has taken the following measures to guarantee product quality:

1. Giving out daily journals on quality, demonstrating on a multidimensional scale the quality and progress of the latest version 
of the products, and coordination for issues addressing on a timely basis to avoid and control risks to the largest extent in 
order to ensure the progress of the products;

2. On the basis of the 7 x 24 cloud service of the automated testing technology, performing self-development of a tailored 
testing cloud platform to conduct various specific tests such as functions, compatibility, network and safety for the products 
for a comprehensive protection of quality;

3. Strict implementation of the procedures and standards related to quality control, including review of product demand, test 
activities such as management of test plans, management of test rules, management of test performance, management of 
feedback on risks and management of bug information;

4. Establishment of a quality monitoring and control system through online dial testing, by performing regular/triggered dial 
testing tasks automatically to discover production defects in a timely manner, instant monitoring and control of product 
quality can be guaranteed;

5. In accordance with the requirements under Cybersecurity Law of the PRC (網路安全法) and other relevant laws and 

regulations, the Group developed standards for security test and regulations or guidelines for testing in relation to five 

areas, namely protection of personal privacy on Apps, information security for users, real-name registration, content security 

and anti-addiction system of games, Moreover, the Group submitted testing reports on product conformity in a timely 

manner using self-developed security scanner and its online quality monitoring technology that is unique in the industry for 

the purpose of compliance. These measures supported the Company’s products in complying with laws and regulations of 

the State.

6. Minor Internet User Protection

• To protect minor internet users, 16 self-operated games of the Group (including <Eudemons>, <Conquer>, and 

<Heroes Evolved>) are connected to the national real-name registration system. Furthermore, the Group implemented 

playing-time controls for minor gamers in accordance with the <Notice on Further Strengthening Regulation to 

Effectively Prevent Online Gaming Addictions Among Minors> issued by the National Administration of Press and 

Publication.

• Add age-appropriate reminders in prominent positions within the game download, user registration and user log-on 

interfaces of the games according to the requirements by China Audio-video and Digital Publishing Association, and 

applies similar age-appropriate reminders in all promotion materials.

• Promote the online parental supervision platform launched by the Group to help parents prevent excessive use of 

online services by minors and provides all-channel and seamless service support for parents and has a dedicated 

process and team in place to deal with minor gamer refund issues in compliance with relevant regulations and 

industry best practices.
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In 2021, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes concerning 

the provision and use of the Group’s products and services, including but not limited to, product and service information and 

labelling, marketing communications including advertising, promotion and sponsorship, and property rights including intellectual 

property rights that have a significant impact on the Group.

Health, Safety and Environment: Promethean Limited transitioned over to the revised International Environmental Management 

Systems Standard ISO 14001:2015 in 2018

In accordance with the ISO 14001 certification requirements, Promethean Limited are subject to annual surveillance audits and 

a recertification audit every three (3) years. At the recertification audit, which, due to Covid Restrictions, took place remotely 

in July 2021, Promethean Limited was confirmed as demonstrating that Promethean Limited operated in line with and met the 

requirements of ISO14001:2015. The next surveillance audit is expected to take place in July 2022.

An Environmental Management System is a structured framework used by organisations to manage and reduce their impact on 

the environment.

It brings with it many benefits for a business, including:

• Reduced impact on the environment to maintain a healthy planet for future generations

• Legal compliance

• Reduced operational costs by improving efficiency

• Competitive advantage during a tender process

The Group has had no health & safety related product recalls during the six years ending 31 December 2021.

Product Recalls

During the six years ending 31 December 2021, Promethean has had no significant product failures. Any normal run rate failures 

are covered by Promethean’s warranty offerings.
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Customer Enquiries

Promethean also monitors customer feedback and product related enquiries. Of the customer enquiries received over the course of 

the four years ending 31 December 2021, less than 1% of such enquiries result in a complaint.

As per the below table in six (6) years Promethean had 563,829 inbound contacts to the Contact Centre, 405 of these were 

complaints, as such only 0.07% were complaints.

Year

Contacts

into Support

Complaints

received

%

Complaints

2016 91,615 41 0.04%

2017 94,294 76 0.08%

2018 99,818 111 0.11%

2019 113,158 93 0.08%

2020 77,600 38 0.05%

2021* 87,344 46 0.05%
   

Total 563,829 405 0.07%
   

* Up to 31 December 2021

The complaints are dealt with on a case by case basis via feedback Customer Satisfaction surveys. These are dealt with by a 

dedicated team who record the feedback and in return contact the customers in order to best resolve the complaint.

ClassFlow and Data Privacy

ClassFlow is a service which collects personally identifiable information from teachers, parents and students. Since its initial 

release in 2014, Promethean has made significant efforts to comply with data privacy regulations around the world. Promethean 

has made significant efforts to ensure that it is particularly sensitive to its use of personally identifiable information belonging to 

students (children under the age of 18). To that end, Promethean has developed a privacy policy which is constantly updated 

with each new release of the Service and takes into consideration the ever-changing legal regulatory landscape on a global 

level. To date, there have been no incidents of security or data breaches related to the ClassFlow Service.
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Quality Assurance

Promethean’s commitment to a continual improvement in our processes and products is a pillar of our business strategy. 

Maintaining quality and achieving customer satisfaction are mutual goals of both Promethean and our Suppliers. To achieve these 

objectives, Promethean’s global Quality Assurance is working with our supplier/business partners to continually improve product/

processes to ensure that very high standards, in terms of Quality, Reliability, Cost and Delivery (QCD) performance, are achieved.

The overall responsibilities include ensuring that Quality Assurance principles are built into the supplier/business partners new 

product release and product life cycle processes; driving a culture of continual improvement whilst also ensuring that they maintain 

ISO 9001 Quality Management System certification, compliance and other relevant standards.

VII. Anti-corruption

The Group goes to great length to ensure the employees adhere to business ethics at the highest standard. In December 2001, 

the Group released the ‘Employee Disciplinary Action Measures’, which provides a full set of code of conduct, including 

comprehensive rules related to business ethics. The policy is now at its 7.3 version and has undergone 15 rounds of updates in 

the past two decades. Apart from providing trainings to all employees, the Group actively communicate the relevant business 

ethics principles to employees of suppliers and business partners. Leveraging the unique technological capability, the Group has 

also developed functions in the internal OA system to collect, handle and resolve “complaints and compliments for middle to 

senior-level employees” and so called internal “BUG”. These two functions are intended to collect anonymous complaint reports 

towards unfair policies and rules, or unethical behavior by certain employees, especially those in middle to senior level-positions. 

The whistleblower’s information is also being well protected and kept strictly confidential. To ensure proper execution, the Group 

has a dedicated Internal Audit Department that works together with the Human Resources Department to implement the program. 

Over the years, this robust governance measure has served to extensively detect problems within the Group operations, leading 

to creation of internal process and procedures to prevent the same problems from happening.

In addition to the above, the Group strictly requires all subsidiaries to follow relevant regulations globally, such as ‘Prevention of 

Bribery Ordinance’ in Hong Kong, ‘Foreign Corrupt Practices Act’ in the US, and the Group has also adopted relevant aspects of 

OECD Anti-Bribery Convention rules into the Group’s policies.

During 2021, the Group did not have any fraud cases such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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VIII. Community Contribution (Public Service Activities)

Major Community Contribution Events of NetDragon in 2021

The Group is committed to fulfilling corporate social responsibility in providing feedback to the community by maintaining long-

term sustainability of our businesses and the communities in which we operate and actively engaging in community contribution 

activities.

The activities undertook by the Group as at 31 December 2021 include:

January NetDragon’s intelligent classroom solution was adopted as a statewide project by 

the Ministry of Education of Sarawak, Malaysia

The Minister of Education, Science and Technology Research of Sarawak state of Malaysia approved 

NetDragon’s holistic edtech intelligent education solution, which will be used in the first phase of the 

statewide project aiming to provide local students with equal access to digital education. The project will 

explore whether students could effectively master the skills required by the 21st century society through 

digital education. It was also intended to solve the problem of imbalance in the teaching of science and 

mathematics subjects caused by shortage of teachers in rural schools.

Fujian Province Huayu Education Technology Limited (福建省華漁教育科技有限公司) 

(“Fujian Huayu”) participated in the research on the topic of “Blockchain + Chinese 

Education”

The research on the topic of “Blockchain + Chinese Education” participated by Fujian Huayu was 

successfully completed. The research was initiated by Cultural China Fund under the Chinese Language 

and Culture Education Foundation, and brought together an expert research team consisting of Tsinghua 

University, Beijing No.4 Online School, Fujian Huayu and other individuals. Through implementation and 

results of the research, Fujian Huayu was able to promote the application of blockchain technology in 

digital education combining with the characteristics of decentralization, traceability and non-tampering of 

blockchain technology. This research has generated much value for the enhancement of the credibility of 

teaching data, an open and fair education policy, copyright protection of digital education resources, and 

construction of an intelligent and open education ecosystem.
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Fujian Huayu joined hands with the China’s lunar and planetary exploration 

projects to explore a new model of space education

Fujian Huayu signed a cooperation framework agreement with 嫦娥奔月航天科技(北京)有限責任公司 

and Kuaike Intelligent Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.. In the future, Fujian Huayu will cooperate with the 

cooperative parties in the areas of education and digital media distribution for China’s lunar planetary 

exploration projects to develop digital products for popularization of aerospace science education.

By joining hands with 嫦娥奔月公司 and Kuaike Intelligent Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (快課智能

公司) and leveraging advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence and big data, Fujian Huayu 

will develop digital products for popularization of aerospace science education, which will fully stimulate 

interest of young people to actively explore the mysteries of science, enhance their awareness of the 

aerospace and promote patriotism, and sow the seeds of “ Chinese dream, the dream of flight, the dream 

of aerospace” in the young generation, in turn contributing to the development of China’s aerospace 

education.

The 6th Smart Learning Academic Week kicked off and NetDragon supported future 

education with its innovative design

The 6th Smart Learning Academic Week was held online from 13 to 20 January 2021, which was 

organised by Beijing Normal University, the National Engineering Laboratory of Cyberlearning and 

Intelligent Technology and Application for Internet Education (互聯網教育智能技術及應用國家工程實

驗室), and the Institute of Smart Learning of Beijing Normal University, in cooperation with Fujian Huayu. 

Through holding seminars of specific themes and the Global Future Education Design Competition (全球

未來教育設計大賽), local and overseas well-known academic experts, teachers and representatives from 

technology enterprises were invited to participate in the event and give deep thought to the application of 

artificial intelligence, analysis of learning, virtual reality and other technologies in education, as well as the 

trend and direction of education reform in the post-pandemic era. The event aimed at further strengthening 

academic exchanges and promoting two-way empowerment of technology and education.
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A letter of appreciation was issued by the Ministry of Education to Fujian Huayu for 

sowing seeds of hope in the poverty-stricken areas

Fujian Huayu received a letter of appreciation from the Department of Science and Technology of the 

Ministry of Education. It is stated in the letter that: “Fujian Huayu, adhering to a high sense of social 

responsibility, has actively responded to the call of the Ministry of Education, participated in the critical 

moves to implement the cyber intelligence support project, and given a generous donation of hardware 

facilities of VR innovation and smart laboratory to the impoverished counties. Fujian Huayu has received full 

recognition and heartfelt appreciation from local government of the impoverished counties. The great act 

of love by Fujian Huayu has enabled the teachers and students in impoverished areas to share the results 

of educational informatization, has sown the seeds of hope in those areas, and has contributed valuable 

effort to the cultivating socialist successors in all-round development.”

In recent years, the Department of Science and Technology of the Ministry of Education has carried out 

in-depth poverty alleviation, through science and technology in colleges and universities, and poverty 

alleviation through education, and has taken critical moves for implementation of the cyber intelligence 

support project, in order to improve the information infrastructure and teaching environment of schools 

in impoverished areas. When taking the critical moves, Fujian Huayu donated hardware facilities of VR 

innovation and smart laboratory to three impoverished counties, namely Chuxiong in Yunnan, Ziyun in 

Guizhou and Sanjiang in Guangxi. At the same time, Fujian Huayu also cooperated with the National 

Center for Educational Technology to jointly donate a complete set of products and resources for virtual 

experiments, and provide training services to facilitate the enhancement of the level of educational 

informatization in local areas.

Fujian Huayu helped to organize the Global Future Education Design Competition (全

球未來教育設計大賽) to expand the boundary of individualised education

From 18 to 20 January 2021, the finals of the “2020 Global Future Education Design Competition” 

was successfully held. The competition was organised by Beijing Normal University and implemented 

by the International Exchange and Cooperation Office of Beijing Normal University, the student union 

of Beijing Normal University, the Smart Learning Institute of Beijing Normal University, the International 

Research and Training Centre for Rural Education of the UNESCO, and Fujian Huayu, with the theme of 

“seeing the future through the pandemic, seeing the world through students, and seeing education through 

design”. It aimed at raising society’s awareness of inclusive education, promoting the achievement of the 

United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals, and preparing rich and effective solutions for the future 

education, full of uncertainties, based on the perspective of university students worldwide.
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February NetDragon’s Design Methodology has been used in the classroom of the CAFA!

NetDragon Websoft Inc. allied with CAFA to jointly develop the professional course for game design, 

and the course content and effectiveness of teaching were highly appraised by the teachers and students 

of CAFA. This cooperation was a beneficial attempt of school-enterprise interaction as well as a useful 

exploration of school-enterprise alliance for cultivation of creative talents.

Fujian Huayu joined hands with Beijing Normal University Education Group (北師大

教育集團) to create AI courseware

Fujian Huayu entered into a cooperative agreement with Beijing Normal University Education Group, 

pursuant to which both parties will commence production of the first batch of AI courseware for children’s 

music teaching. Fujian Huayu will use AI, 3D and other technologies to simulate real classroom teaching 

scenarios to present the knowledge in children’s music teaching and provide lively and interesting teaching 

content so as to provide enlightenment teaching to children in a more intelligent way. It was reported that 

the first batch of AI courseware for children’s music teaching would be prioritised to be adopted by 12 

kindergartens which were affiliates of Beijing Normal University Education Group.

March The Global Digital Education Resource Production Base was selected on the list of 

key tasks of the National Digital Economy Pilot Zone (國家數字經濟試驗區區重點任務清

單)

The Fujian Provincial Government issued the “Work Plan for the National Digital Economy Innovation and 

Development Pilot Zone (Fujian) “ (《國家數字經濟創新發展試驗區(福建)工作方案》) and announced 

the list of key tasks in the pilot zone. The Global Digital Education Resource Production Base under 

construction by NetDragon was selected as an important starting point for the pilot zone to accelerate the 

construction of the “Digital Silk Road” (數字絲路). To be included as one of the key tasks of the National 

Digital Economy Innovation and Development Pilot Zone (Fujian) is another important milestone for the 

construction of the Global Digital Education Resource Production Base. In the next stage, the base will 

make good use of the preferential policies, further accelerate the pace of construction and strive to build a 

globally oriented digital education industry highland so that digital education will become a business card 

for Digital China to go global!
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NetDragon joined hands with the Institute of Psychology of the Chinese Academy 

of Sciences to promote mental health education for primary and secondary school 

students

With the professional and systematic mental health education curriculum resources for primary and 

secondary schools provided by the Institute of Psychology of the Chinese Academy of Sciences, and 

integrating with digital technologies such as AI, AR, VR and 3D, Fujian Tianquan Education Technology 

Limited, a subsidiary of NetDragon, has created scenarios for the use of the “Mental Health Education 

Platform for Primary and Secondary Schools” (中小學心理健康教育平台). The platform would provide 

support for the 2021 “Positive Psychological Quality Cultivation Project for Primary and Secondary School 

Students” (中小學生積極心理品質培養項目) in Cangshan District of Fuzhou City. 16 experimental 

schools, including Maiding Primary School (麥頂小學), Cangshan Experimental Primary School (倉山區

實驗小學) and Fuzhou No. 40 Middle School (福州第四十中學), will take the lead to use the platform to 

offer mental health teaching to primary and secondary school students.

Fujian Huayu was elected as the vice chairman unit of the Online Education 

Professional Committee (在線教育專委會) to promote healthy development of online 

education

The inaugural meeting of the Online Education Professional Committee of the China Federation of Internet 

Societies (中國網絡社會組織聯合會) was held in Beijing, and Fujian Huayu was elected as the vice 

chairman unit of the Online Education Professional Committee.

The Online Education Professional Committee is the third branch of the Federation with 58 member-units 

initially, comprising member-units in the federation who are engaging in the field of online education. The 

committee has strived to unite social organizations, Internet enterprises, experts and scholars in the field of 

online education, build a communication platform, consolidate social consensus, strengthen self-discipline 

in the industry, and better gather academic resources and strengths in the industry to promote healthy 

development of online education.
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NetDragon joined hands with UNESCO to build a digital education resources 

platform for teachers worldwide.

The official website of the UNESCO Institute for Information Technology in Education (UNESCO 

IITE) announced that they would join hands with NetDragon, the world’s leading creator of internet 

communities, to launch the joint Project “Teacher Capacity Building with AI and Digital Technologies: 

E-library for Teachers”. The project is aimed to support the ongoing growth and capacity building of 

teachers in the era of smart learning by fully unleashing the potential of ICT and Artificial Intelligence (AI). 

It would provide around 100,000 educators at global level with open educational resources, free public 

tools as well as online and onsite trainings, thereby empowering teachers to deliver quality and equitable 

education.

Fujian Huayu joined hands with the fifth Institute of the Ministry of Industry and 

Information Technology to build the China Xinchuang Education Big Data Training 

and Certification System (中國信創教育大數據培訓認證體系)

Fujian Huayu and the Fifth Institute of Electronics of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology 

(工信部電子第五研究所) have reached a cooperation agreement to jointly build the China Xinchuang 

Education Training and Certification System. Both parties will establish a website for Xinchuang 

Certification and publish training news and related information; all the trainees who participate in the 

training and obtained the certificate of completion will be listed online in batches; the conditions and forms 

of application for companies and schools to apply for Xinchuang Certification will be published; and the 

list of companies and schools that have successfully obtained Xinchuang Certification will be published in 

batches. Both parties would develop a training course system for enterprises and colleges and universities. 

Courses for enterprises will mainly be based on the existing courses by the Fifth Institute of the Ministry 

of Industry and Information Technology with appropriate adjustments according to the needs of local 

governments and enterprises. New teaching models such as animation and AI will be developed and 

embedded. Trainings for colleges and universities, focusing on practical skills, will be developed by Fujian 

Huayu according to the requirements of different disciplines to meet the needs of graduates to study and 

obtain qualification certificates.
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April The project donated by Fujian Huayu were launched in Guizhou and Yunnan 

Province to support targeted poverty alleviation through informatization of 

education

The virtual experimental products of the central library and the VR innovation and smart laboratory jointly 

donated by Fujian Huayu and the National Center for Educational Technology were launched in Minority 

Senior Middle School in Ziyun Autonomous County, Guizhou Province (民族高級中學) and Beipu Middle 

School (北浦中學) in Chuxiong Autonomous Prefecture, Yunnan, and were officially put into use. After a 

period of classroom practice and exchange of feedbacks, teaching tools including VR virtual experiments 

were shown to have significantly improved teaching effect, were thus well-received by teachers and 

students.

NetDragon’s Digital Technology has empowered aerospace science education

From 1 to 30 April, the theme exhibition of “The Centennial of the Founding of the Communist Party ‧ A 

Powerful Nation in Aerospace” (建黨百年‧航天強國) was exhibited at the Cultural Corridor of Nanjing 

East Road Metro Station in Shanghai. The theme exhibition was jointly organised by the Lunar Exploration 

and Space Engineering Center of China National Space Administration and 嫦娥奔月航天科技(北京)

有限責任公司 with the “Our Space” Innovative and Practice Center (“我們的太空”創新實踐中心) and 

jointly promoted by Kuaike Intelligent Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., with full technical support from 

NetDragon. The organizer hoped to showcase major scientific and technological achievements such as 

China’s lunar and Mars exploration and manned space missions through the theme exhibition, so that the 

public could better understand China’s aerospace industry. The exhibition was also presented as a gift for 

the centenary of the Communist Party of China to promote the aerospace spirit of vigorous coordination, 

selfless dedication, rigor and pragmatism, and the courage to climb higher.
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Fujian Huayu and the National Center for Educational Technology reached strategic 

cooperation to promote the construction of new norm in education

On 13 April 2021, Fujian Huayu and the National Center for Educational Technology officially signed a 

strategic cooperation framework agreement in the Digital Education Town located in Fuzhou. Both parties 

would be committed to creating a new intelligent education model based on emerging technologies such 

as virtual reality, artificial intelligence and big data, and exploring the boundary of developing educational 

informatization.

Based on the strategic cooperation agreement, Fujian Huayu and the National Center for Educational 

Technology will carry out strategic cooperation in areas such as virtual simulation technology, online 

learning, artificial intelligence, game-based learning so as to facilitate the development of educational 

informatization from multiple dimensions. In the future, both parties will continue to cooperate to develop 

more innovative education products based on the new online learning model of “new education 

infrastructure” and will establish an online learning service system highlighting the characteristics of 

intelligence, independence, self-help and progressiveness. Promotion of such products and system will be 

conducted in areas which fulfil necessary conditions, with an aim to promote basic education nationwide 

to form a new teaching model combining online and offline education.

“Digital Party Building” summit forum was held in 2021! NetDragon Launched the 

“Centennial Celebration Project for the Founding of the Party” (建黨百年獻禮工程)

On 23 April, the 2021 “Digital Party Building” summit forum with the theme of “Centennial Communist 

Party with a Youthful Spirit, New Empowerment by Digital Party Building“ (建黨百年正青春數字黨建新賦

能) was held in NetDragon Digital Education Town.

At the forum, Fuzhou Digital Party Building (NetDragon) Academy (福州數字黨建(網龍)學院), as one 

of the organizers, presented the “Centennial Celebration Project for the Founding of the Party” under the 

cooperation of the production teams of the projects “Immersive Film Show of 100th Anniversary of the 

Founding of the Party” and “Productization of Robots”. It showcased a series of achievements of digital 

party building and introduced new digital party building products, including the “Permanent Digital Party 

Building Exhibition Hall” created with cutting-edge digital technology; the “CAVE Immersive Film Show of 

the Party’s History” which highly integrated virtual reality system with education in the history of revolution; 

the multi-functional “Party History Study Pod” for individualised and intelligent party history study and 

education; and the “Party Building AI Robots” which used artificial intelligence to help intelligent party 

building. In the future, they would also inject new momentum into Fuzhou’s “digital party building” to 

continue to serve the grassroots and promote development.
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Smart Learning Institute of Beijing Normal University joined hands with NetDragon 

released the Analysis of Informatised Classroom Teaching Behavior (《信息化課堂教學

行為分析》)

On April 26, the Smart Learning Institute of Beijing Normal University and NetDragon jointly released the 

report on “Analysis of Informatised Classroom Teaching Behavior” at the Digital Society Sub-forum of the 

4th Digital China Summit (數字中國建設峰會). The report was one of the important results of the Digital 

China Summit and had positive reference value for promoting in-depth integration of information technology 

and classroom teaching process. The Analysis of Informatised Classroom Teaching Behavior provided 

a comprehensive insight into the development trend and characteristics of informatised teaching, which 

would bring new inspiration to the whole teaching process from integration of information technology into 

teaching activity design, teaching behavior implementation to teaching evaluation reflection.

May Entering the old revolutionary base area: NetDragon donated intelligent education 

products to Yan’an Zaoyuan Primary School (延安棗園小學)

On 12 May 2021, “Joyful Reading • Makes Life Better: Igniting Hope, Warming Children’s Hearts” (悅

讀•越美好：點燃希望，情暖童心), one of the activities of the series “Revisit The Old Revolutionary Base 

Area” (重走革命老區) organised by the Game Working Committee of China Audio-Visual and Digital 

Association under the guidance of China Audio-Visual and Digital Publishing Association, was held in 

Yan’an Zaoyuan Primary School in Shaanxi Province. NetDragon and 29 caring enterprises entered into 

the old revolutionary base area and donated to Yan’an Zaoyuan Primary School a batch of intelligent 

classroom software and hardware products and supporting resources, including 101 education PPT 

preparation and teaching integrated software, 101 intelligent classroom education software, Prometheus 

interactive LCD touch screen and tablets. Those teaching resources will be used in daily teaching activities 

of Yan’an Zaoyuan Primary School to help the construction of intelligent classrooms in the schools in the 

old revolutionary base area.

Fujian Huayu became a member of the Chinese Language Alliance (中文聯盟) and 

actively participated in promotion of international Chinese education

Fujian Huayu became a member of the Chinese Language Alliance officially. Through the jointly-

established international Chinese education exchange platform, Fujian Huayu will actively communicate 

and cooperate with members of the alliance to achieve the exchange, integration and innovation of 

information, resources, tools and channels. Joining the Chinese Language Alliance is conducive to the 

promotion of cooperation between Fujian Huayu and authoritative teaching and research institutions. 

It has introduced an integration of abundant teaching resources, scientific education concepts and the 

Company’s advanced technology to create digital Chinese education solutions that fulfilled the demand of 

overseas markets, which in turn effectively meets the needs for international Chinese education network to 

improve teaching quality in an all-round way in the post-pandemic era.
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NetDragon launched its digital party building products in Beijing to co-create a 

digital party building ecosystem

On May 17, an intelligent party building product launch event and digital party building roundtable 

meeting was held by Xinhuanet.com in Beijing, to which Fujian Huayu’s project team of “Good Party 

Members of China” was invited. At the meeting, the project team of “China Good Party Members” 

released the digital solution for the political life hall of NetDragon’s party members (Party Building 

Exhibition Hall). The solution aims to provide a low-cost and fast-built standardised exhibition hall solution 

of “digitalization + education in patriotism and revolutionary tradition” for the governments at all levels, 

enterprises and schools. It combines digital technologies, such as VR/AR, with education in patriotism 

and revolutionary tradition, and enhances the appeal of education in patriotism and revolutionary tradition 

by an innovative and excellent cultural presentation and teaching models of education in patriotism and 

revolutionary tradition.

Fujian Huayu and Xinhua Net Co.,Ltd., as strategic partners for many years, will further integrate the 

authoritative content system and professional technology system to jointly develop new application 

scenarios and explore new development paths to create a digital party building ecosystem.

June NetDragon assisted Serbia’s National Teacher Education Informatization Program to 

be launched

NetDragon Websoft Inc. signed a memorandum of understanding on trilateral strategic cooperation with 

the Teacher Education College of the University of Belgrade (貝爾格萊德大學教師教育學院) in Serbia 

and the Serbian Institute for Improvement in Education (塞爾維亞教育改進研究所). Pursuant to which they 

will jointly facilitate the commencement and launch of Serbia’s National Teacher Education Informatization 

Program (hereinafter as the “National Education Program”) to cultivate quality teachers of the digital era 

and strengthen the development of teachers for basic education, so as to promote the development of 

intelligent education in Serbia through educational research and teacher training. NetDragon has once 

again received recognition from Serbian Education Department, after the delegation of Serbian President 

Aleksandar Vucic visited the Belgrade Robotics and Artificial Intelligence Education Center (貝爾格萊德機

器人和人工智能教育中心) which were jointly built by NetDragon in June 2020. This marked a positive 

progress of the cooperation for national education between NetDragon and Serbia.
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NetDragon and TCL entered into a strategic cooperation to jointly build a global 

education ecosystem

On June 18, NetDragon and TCL signed a strategic cooperation agreement in Digital Education Town 

in Binhai New Town, Fuzhou. Pursuant to which both parties will jointly design, research and develop 

teaching equipment benchmarking products targeted the needs of the global education market for 

application scenarios. This strong collaboration is a complementary combination of high-end and high-

quality resources, which enables them to jointly build a safe and efficient inter-connected digital education 

ecosystem. This will allow more schools and families to access fair and intelligent education terminals and 

rich and interesting contents, in turn add momentum to the globalisation of the “Education China Initiative” 

(中國方案).

July NetDragon joined hands with China Railway Association (中鐵協) to facilitate 

construction of the “Digital Triathlon Sports City” (數字鐵人三項運動之城)

NetDragon Websoft Inc. entered into a strategic cooperation with the China Triathlon Sports Association 

(中國鐵人三項運動協會), and the “China Triathlon Sports Association – Netdragon Sports and Education 

Integration Experimental Base” (中國鐵人三項運動協會網龍體教融合實驗基地) and the “China Triathlon 

Sports Association – Netdragon Youth Training Base” (中國鐵人三項運動協會網龍青少年訓練基地) 

were officially launched. Under the guidance of the “Digital Triathlon Goals” (數字鐵三), both parties will 

use the Digital Education Town as a carrier to give full play to their respective technological edges and 

resources, and would cooperate to facilitate integration of sports and education, create smart stadiums, 

carry out digitalised event operations, and promote digitalised youth training. Together they would build 

the Digital Education Town into a world-renowned “Digital Triathlon Sports City”.

NetDragon and the School of Design of CAFA promoted the establishment of 

teaching practice base

The research team of the topic of The Design and Research on Inheritance Model of Intangible Cultural 

Heritage under Future Scenarios  (《未來場景下非遺傳統技藝的傳承模式設計研究》) led by Professor 

Zhang Xinrong (張欣榮), the deputy dean of the School of Design of CAFA, initiated off-campus teaching 

practice activities in the Digital Education Town. NetDragon has been relying on the Digital Education 

Town to promote cooperation with the School of Design of CAFA for jointly establishing an off-campus 

teaching practice base. This activity will further consolidate the functions of the town as an off-campus 

teaching practice base, which exploits the functions as a platform of the town in terms of talent cultivation, 

cultural exchange, teaching cooperation, scientific research, team building, etc.
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NetDragon participated in the drafting of China’s first association standard for 

game audio design and development process

China Audio-video and Digital Publishing Association officially released the Association Standard for the 

Game Audio Design and Development Process (《遊戲音頻設計與開發流程》) (hereinafter referred to as 

the “Standard”), which is the first standardised references to the development process in the Chinese game 

audio industry in China. It gives a standardised reference to the development process. As a leading global 

internet community creator and one of the pioneers of online games in China, NetDragon Websoft Inc. 

participated in the drafting of the Standard. Practitioners believe that the release of the Standard has a 

positive effect on standardization of the development of game audio design process, improving the overall 

production quality of China’s game products, and promoting the development of China’s game research 

and development to a higher level.

August NetDragon signed a memorandum of understanding with the Ministry of Education 

in Thailand to launch English Smart Classroom Lab project

NetDragon has signed a memorandum of understanding with the Office of the Basic Education 

Commission of the Ministry of Education in Thailand to build English smart classroom laboratory for local 

schools in Thailand. The signing of the memorandum of understanding is an important milestone for the 

Ministry of Education in Thailand to achieve Education 4.0 program, which aims to nurture Thai students 

with global competitiveness to embrace the new economic era of innovation and digital technology. This 

collaboration will have a positive and transformative impact on education in Thailand, which it will not 

only help to improve the quality of education in Thailand, but also contribute to the long-term development 

of the Thai economy.

Fujian Huayu reached strategic cooperation with Children’s Fun Publishing Co., Ltd.

Fujian Huayu reached a strategic cooperation framework agreement with Children’s Fun Publishing Co., 

Ltd. Both parties will leverage on their advantages in resources, technology and channels, actively explore 

the integration and innovation of information technology and paper publications, and jointly study the 

combination of localised contents and overseas publications. The promotion and application of digital 

reading interactive experience model in the market will be promoted, and the development, sharing and 

use of high-quality digital resources will be continued to promote.
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Fujian Huayu has established a strategic cooperation with China Science Publishing 

& Media Group Ltd.

Fujian Huayu and China Science Publishing & Media Group Ltd. established strategic cooperation 

agreement, both will collectively organize educational informatization of online and offline quality 

publishing resources and channel resources, and cooperate to develop short videos for science 

popularization of educational products. At the same time, both parties will make use of their industrial 

advantages to build a global data base with experts and scholars and construct a vertical intellectual 

network social platform based on content.

September Strait Digital Sports Competition was successfully held and injected new energy to 

digital sports

2021 Strait Digital Sports Competition came to an end at the Education Conference and Exhibition Center 

of Changle Digital Education Town in Fuzhou. As a highlight project of the 9th Straits Youth Day (海青

節), 2021 Strait Digital Sports Competition was collectively held by Fujian Radio & Television Network 

and Netdragon Websoft Holdings Limited. In the future, an in-depth cooperation in vertical fields of 

eSports can be further promoted across the Strait, to set up an eSports culture communication platform and 

explore a breakthrough for eSports together. It can promote straits youth to cooperate in the fields of talents 

training, culture and creativity, digital content and innovation and entrepreneurship, and collectively boost 

the eSports industry in China moving forward to a new stage of high-quality development.

Esports communication activity as a bridge, 2021 Strait Digital Sports Competition facilitated exchanges 

between straits youth and industry players, and provided new development opportunities for cross-strait 

eSports. At the same time, taking advantage of the form of eSports and taking the opportunity of those 

activities, the Fujian model of exploring the TV + digital sports industry was launched, and a new track 

was set up for the construction of digital economy.
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NetDragon and the Ministry of Education of Ghana signed a memorandum of 

cooperation to implement the nationwide blended learning system

NetDragon announced that it signed a memorandum of cooperation with the Ministry of Education of 

Ghana. Both parties will establish a long-term cooperative relationship. NetDragon will invest in a range of 

solutions and services to help the Ministry of Education of Ghana achieve its education goals and ensure 

equal access to quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all Ghanaians. This collaboration 

aims to ensure that everyone has access to a quality education regardless of socio-economic conditions 

and geographical location. Moreover, this blended learning system integrates cutting-edge education 

technology into the education system, to develop the skills the young people need, so as to boost the 

social and economic development. At the same time, it will also revolutionize teaching methods, benefiting 

9.3 million students across Ghana.

NetDragon’s successful cooperation in Africa was included in the China-Africa 

Economic and Trade Cooperation: Case Studies and Plans (《中非經貿合作案例方案集》)

The 2nd China-Africa Economic and Trade Expo was held at Changsha. Prior to its opening, the China-

Africa Economic and Trade Cooperation: Case Studies and Plans, a highlight of the Expo, was also 

officially launched. That case study demonstrates the achievements and experience of China-Africa 

economic and trade cooperation in all aspects. The case of China-Egypt digital education cooperation 

presented by NetDragon was included in the chapter of “Technology Innovation and Digital Economy’’. 

It shares good experiences and practices of China-Africa economic and trade cooperation, to accelerate 

China-Africa economic and trade cooperation to develop to a higher level with better quality.

October Live-teaching of Design Methodology in K12 class of “Red Army’ Schools”

Design Methodology, which was once taught in some renowned schools like Harvard University and the 

CAFA, finally comes to its first K12 edition! On October 25, Liu Dejian, the chairman of NetDragon, was 

invited by the Fuzhi Spiritual Education Center to teach at Nanyang Red Army’ Schools, Yulinqiao Battle 

Red Army’ Schools, Baisha Gutian Meeting Spiritual Red Army’ Schools, Zhiluo Battle Red Army’ Schools 

and Caixi Shi Ming Red Army’ Schools through remote live broadcasting. Students from those 15 Red 

Army’ Schools attended a design enlightenment course with the theme of Little Designers.

Design Methodology reached another phased achievement in teaching in K12 class. It can help children 

to gradually gain a deeper understanding of design-related knowledge, expand their logical thinking 

and practical skills, and set a benchmark and model for the curriculum to enter more primary schools 

nationwide in the future.



ANNUAL REPORT118

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF NETDRAGON WEBSOFT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 124 to 304, which comprise the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 

as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF NETDRAGON WEBSOFT HOLDINGS LIMITED (Cont’d)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recognition of revenue from online and mobile games

We identif ied the recognition of revenue from online 
and mobile games as a key audit matter due to financial 
significance of revenue to the consolidated financial statements.

Online and mobile games revenue of approximately 
RMB3,641,562,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 
was recognised after the actual usage of the game points in the 
online and mobile games by the customers for obtaining virtual 
products or premium features. Advance received in respect of 
unutilised game points and those arising from inactivated pre-
paid game cards is recognised as contract liabilities.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue from 
online and mobile games included:

• evaluating both key manual and automated controls over 
the revenue recognition process in respect of online and 
mobile games revenue;

• obtaining calculation of online and mobile games 
revenue and performing recalculation of the revenue with 
reference to game points utilised by customers during the 
year, on a sample basis, using computer-assisted audit 
techniques;

• performing substantive analytical procedures on the 
self-developed online and mobile games revenue with 
reference to game points utilised by customers, on a 
sample basis, during the year;

• performing recalculation of the corresponding contract 
liabilities with reference to the unutilised game points, on 
a sample basis; and

• obtaining the report which contains the unutilised game 
points generated by the computer system and performing 
testing, on a sample basis, by computer-assisted audit 
techniques.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF NETDRAGON WEBSOFT HOLDINGS LIMITED (Cont’d)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

We identified the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives arising from historical acquisitions 
as a key audit matter due to the use of management’s 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to 
which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are allocated, in the course of management’s impairment 
assessment.

In management’s impairment assessment, it requires the 
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
units to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives have been allocated, which is the higher of the 
value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in 
use calculation requires the Group to identify cash-generating 
units, estimate growth rates in cash flow forecasts and suitable 
discount rate applied to these forecasts in order to calculate the 
present value.

The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives were RMB217,087,000 and 
RMB229,500,000 respectively as at 31 December 2021. 
Details of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives and the impairment testing on goodwill and intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are disclosed in Notes 23, 17 
and 24 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of goodwill and 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives included:

• obtaining the cash flow forecasts provided by the  
management, and assessing the reasonableness of the 
assumptions and methodologies used by management in 
their impairment assessment by comparing the cash flow 
forecasts, growth rates and discount rate used in these 
forecasts to the future business plan, market data and 
industry benchmarks;

• evaluating the accuracy of management’s forecasts by 
comparing previous forecasts with historical results;

• evaluating the sensitivity analysis of the forecasts for 
reasonably possible change in any of the assumptions 
made; and

• involving our internal valuation specialist to assess the 
appropriateness of the underlying valuation methodology 
and discount rate applied in the cash flow forecasts.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF NETDRAGON WEBSOFT HOLDINGS LIMITED (Cont’d)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF NETDRAGON WEBSOFT HOLDINGS LIMITED (Cont’d)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a 

body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 

are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF NETDRAGON WEBSOFT HOLDINGS LIMITED (Cont’d)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

29 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5 7,035,496 6,137,640

Cost of revenue (2,512,930) (1,966,376)  

Gross profit 4,522,566 4,171,264

Other income and gains 5 223,893 230,884

Impairment loss under expected credit loss model, net of reversal 7 (8,077) 1,607

Selling and marketing expenses (955,413) (893,513)

Administrative expenses (955,673) (903,111)

Development costs (1,159,308) (1,175,928)

Other expenses and losses 5 (266,118) (326,817)

Share of results of associates (14,807) (15,080)

Share of results of joint ventures (1,586) (1,783)  

Operating profit 1,385,477 1,087,523

Interest income on pledged bank deposits 819 3,263

Exchange gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,

 bank borrowings, convertible and exchangeable bonds 

 and derivative financial instruments 18,605 45,302

Fair value change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20,299 51,733

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments (2,879) 43,323

Finance costs 6 (185,896) (157,680)  

Profit before taxation 1,236,425 1,073,464

Taxation 9 (253,067) (217,644)  

Profit for the year 10 983,358 855,820  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000

Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year, net of income tax:

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (24,716) (11,568)

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Fair value (loss) gain on equity instruments

 at fair value through other comprehensive income (2,645) 6,042  

Other comprehensive expense for the year (27,361) (5,526)  

Total comprehensive income for the year 955,997 850,294  

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:

– Owners of the Company 1,062,060 953,501

– Non-controlling interests (78,702) (97,681)  

983,358 855,820  

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year attributable to:

– Owners of the Company 1,036,088 944,235

– Non-controlling interests (80,091) (93,941)  

955,997 850,294  

RMB cents RMB cents

Earnings per share 13

– Basic 191.67 171.19

– Diluted 191.58 170.96  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 1,939,499 1,992,708

Right-of-use assets 15 428,278 455,011

Investment properties 16 77,062 76,529

Intangible assets 17 772,309 625,771

Interests in associates 18 35,119 49,659

Interests in joint ventures 19 14,977 16,563

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 20 8,105 10,808

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 266,078 281,194

Loan receivables 22 8,220 10,421

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 29 37,543 62,841

Deposits made for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 4,690 3,630

Goodwill 23 217,087 241,332

Deferred tax assets 25 135,076 43,437  

3,944,043 3,869,904  

Current assets

Properties under development 26 316,872 263,915

Properties for sale 26 205,273 253,367

Inventories 27 685,117 316,909

Loan receivables 22 22,207 22,042

Trade receivables 28 831,986 525,353

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 29 481,455 399,537

Contract assets 30 11,692 12,236

Amount due from a related company 31 – 47

Amounts due from joint ventures 32 2,945 974

Tax recoverable 25,273 14,035

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 1,852 5,781

Restricted bank balances 33 7,828 15,611

Pledged bank deposits 33 1,047 146,073

Bank deposits with original maturity over three months 33 630,000 33,021

Bank balances and cash 33 3,717,246 4,114,410  

6,940,793 6,123,311  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 34 1,455,221 1,091,369

Contract liabilities 35 357,240 405,483

Lease liabilities 36 63,571 56,224

Provisions 37 88,784 71,501

Derivative financial instruments 21 42,565 40,894

Amount due to an associate 38 936 3,484

Amount due to a joint venture 38 – 593

Convertible and exchangeable bonds 39 15,000 15,351

Bank borrowings 40 402,910 154,597

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests – 99

Tax payable 127,882 121,083  

2,554,109 1,960,678 
 

Net current assets 4,386,684 4,162,633 
 

Total assets less current liabilities 8,330,727 8,032,537 
 

Non-current liabilities

Other payables 34 10,763 5,409

Convertible preferred shares 41 – –

Convertible and exchangeable bonds 39 1,069,874 976,765

Bank borrowings 40 – 191,073

Lease liabilities 36 95,370 116,453

Deferred tax liabilities 25 80,111 90,907 
 

1,256,118 1,380,607 
 

Net assets 7,074,609 6,651,930 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital and reserves

Share capital 42 39,795 40,951

Share premium and reserves 7,274,605 6,766,393 
 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7,314,400 6,807,344

Non-controlling interests (239,791) (155,414)  

7,074,609 6,651,930  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 124 to 304 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 

on 29 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zheng Hui Leung Lim Kin, Simon

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company 
Equity

instruments
at fair value

Employee through other
Capital Property Treasury share-based comprehensive Non-

Share Share redemption Other Capital Statutory Dividend revaluation share compensation Translation income Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d) (Note e)

At 1 January 2020 38,822 1,565,863 6,652 20,498 10,035 452,203 118,824 22,449 (25,841) 29,033 (101,193) (7,704) 3,466,680 5,596,321 (235,273) 5,361,048
Profit (loss) for the year – – – – – – – – – – – – 953,501 953,501 (97,681) 855,820
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year – – – – – – – – – – (13,589) 4,323 – (9,266) 3,740 (5,526)                

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year – – – – – – – – – – (13,589) 4,323 953,501 944,235 (93,941) 850,294                

Issue of new shares 2,318 694,309 – – – – – – – – – – – 696,627 – 696,627
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (213) (43,095) 213 – – – – – – – – – (213) (43,308) – (43,308)
Shares issued upon exercise of share options 24 2,665 – – – – – – – (665) – – – 2,024 – 2,024
Recognition of share awards granted by a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – – – – – 82 82
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments – – – – – – – – – 35,109 – – – 35,109 – 35,109
Awarded shares forfeited – – – – – – – – – (3,066) – – – (3,066) – (3,066)
Awarded shares vested to employees – – – – – – – – 6,706 (7,580) – – 874 – – –
Contr ibut ion f rom non-cont ro l l ing in teres ts of 

subsidiaries – – – (288) – – – – – – – – – (288) 2,288 2,000
Acquisition of additional equity interests through 

conversion of convertible bonds of a subsidiary – – – (174,421) – – – – – – – – – (174,421) 174,421 –
Acquisi t ion of addit ional equity interests from  

non-controlling shareholders – – – (1,349) – – – – – – – – – (1,349) (5,118) (6,467)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 44) – – – – – – – – – – – – – – 6,250 6,250
Acquisition of assets through acquisition of a subsidiary 

(Note 45) – – – – – – – – – – – – – – 6,506 6,506
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries to non-controlling 

shareholders (Note f) – – – 10,530 – – – – – – – – – 10,530 (10,530) –
Final dividend for 2019 paid – – – – – – (118,824) – – – – – (7,466) (126,290) – (126,290)
Interim dividend for 2020 declared and paid – – – – – – – – – – – – (128,780) (128,780) – (128,780)
Dividend payable to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – – – – (99) (99)
Final dividend for 2020 proposed – – – – – – 118,044 – – – – – (118,044) – – –
Transfers – – – – – 29,380 – – – – – – (29,380) – – –                

At 31 December 2020 40,951 2,219,742 6,865 (145,030) 10,035 481,583 118,044 22,449 (19,135) 52,831 (114,782) (3,381) 4,137,172 6,807,344 (155,414) 6,651,930
                

At 1 January 2021 40,951 2,219,742 6,865 (145,030) 10,035 481,583 118,044 22,449 (19,135) 52,831 (114,782) (3,381) 4,137,172 6,807,344 (155,414) 6,651,930
Profit (loss) for the year – – – – – – – – – – – – 1,062,060 1,062,060 (78,702) 983,358
Other comprehensive expense for the year – – – – – – – – – – (24,095) (1,877) – (25,972) (1,389) (27,361)

                

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year – – – – – – – – – – (24,095) (1,877) 1,062,060 1,036,088 (80,091) 955,997
                

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (1,185) (241,199) 1,185 – – – – – – – – – (1,185) (242,384) – (242,384)
Shares issued upon exercise of share options 29 6,534 – – – – – – – (2,046) – – – 4,517 – 4,517
Recognition of share awards granted by a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – – – – – 41 41
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments – – – – – – – – – 18,904 – – – 18,904 – 18,904
Awarded shares and share options forfeited – – – – – – – – – (11,841) – – 6,781 (5,060) – (5,060)
Awarded shares vested to employees – – – – – – – – 6,482 (7,001) – – 519 – – –
Acquisi t ion of addit ional equity interests from  

non-controlling shareholders – – – (3,004) – – – – – – – – – (3,004) (3,996) (7,000)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries to  

non-controlling shareholders (Note f) – – – 331 – – – – – – – – – 331 (331) –
Final dividend for 2020 paid – – – – – – (118,044) – – – – – 944 (117,100) – (117,100)
Interim dividend for 2021 declared and paid – – – – – – – – – – – – (185,236) (185,236) – (185,236)
Special interim dividend for 2021 proposed – – – – – – 632,197 – – – – – (632,197) – – –
Final dividend for 2021 proposed – – – – – – 178,317 – – – – – (178,317) – – –
Transfers – – – – – 43,552 – – – – – – (43,552) – – –

                

At 31 December 2021 39,795 1,985,077 8,050 (147,703) 10,035 525,135 810,514 22,449 (12,653) 50,847 (138,877) (5,258) 4,166,989 7,314,400 (239,791) 7,074,609
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Notes:

a. The amount represented the nominal value of the shares repurchased by the Company.

b. Other reserve represented the difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of net assets value resulting from disposal of 

equity interests in subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control, acquisition of additional equity interests in subsidiaries and contribution 

from non-controlling interests, which are accounted for as equity transactions.

c. Capital reserve arose on combining the results and financial positions of the companies of 福建網龍計算機網絡信息技術有限公司 (Fujian 

NetDragon Websoft Co., Ltd.) (“NetDragon (Fujian)”) using the principles of merger accounting.

d. As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s PRC 

subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserves. Appropriation to such reserve is made out of profit after taxation as reflected in the 

statutory financial statements of each of the PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and allocation basis are decided by its board of directors 

annually. The statutory reserves can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by means 

of capitalisation issue.

e. Treasury share reserve comprises the consideration paid for the treasury shares held for the share award scheme, including any attributable 

incremental costs for the purchase of shares under the share award scheme.

f. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was gain on deemed disposal arising from vesting of 200,000 ordinary shares of Best 

Assistant Education Online Limited (“Best Assistant”) to the non-controlling shareholders. During the year ended 31 December 2020, there 

were gains on deemed disposal arising from (i) vesting of 200,000 ordinary shares of Best Assistant to the non-controlling shareholders 

and (ii) the issue of 10,810,741 ordinary shares of Best Assistant for acquisition of additional 45% equity interest in 101 Education 

Technology Co. Ltd. (“101 Cayman”) which was previously known as an associate of the Group which was detailed in Note 44 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 983,358 855,820

Adjustments for:

Taxation 253,067 217,644

Finance costs 185,896 157,680

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 196,839 196,340

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 79,475 84,951

Amortisation of intangible assets 130,790 109,046

Impairment loss of goodwill 19,165 75,226

Impairment loss of intangible assets 1,765 52,687

Impairment of interest in an associate 22,570 –

Impairment loss under expected credit loss model, net of reversal 8,400 (1,607)

Net loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 384 (11)

Fair value change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (20,299) (51,733)

Fair value change on derivative financial instruments 2,879 (43,323)

(Gain) loss on fair value change in investment properties (2,222) 14,714

Interest income on bank balances, loan receivables,  

refundable rental deposits and pledged bank deposits (54,833) (35,327)

Share-based payments 13,885 32,125

Share of results of associates 14,807 15,080

Share of results of joint ventures 1,586 1,783

Impairment loss of deposit paid for property, plant and equipment 68 –

Write-down of inventories 1,049 631

Fair value loss upon transfer from properties for sale to investment properties – 145

Bargain purchase gain arising from acquisition of subsidiaries – (6,524) 
 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 1,838,629 1,675,347 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Increase in inventories (369,257) (76,441)

(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (321,317) 165,462

Decrease in contract assets 544 6,097

Increase in other receivables, prepayments and deposits (48,113) (27,801)

Increase in properties under development (54,491) (56,193)

Decrease in properties for sale 49,628 28,476

Increase in trade and other payables 389,072 59,057

Decrease in contract liabilities (48,243) (124,014)

Increase in provisions 19,674 4,471

Decrease in amount due to a related company – (105)

(Decrease) increase in amount due to an associate (2,548) 3,227

(Decrease) increase in amount due to a joint venture (593) 593 
 

Cash generated from operations 1,452,985 1,658,176

Interest paid (68,042) (101,328)

Income tax paid (358,236) (227,197) 
 

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,026,707 1,329,651 
 



ANNUAL REPORT 133

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (138,165) (253,747)

Placement of bank deposits with original maturity over three months (730,000) (35,214)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 44 – 7,385

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of a subsidiary 45 – (43,000)

Purchase of intangible assets (292,643) (63,589)

Deposits made for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (5,724) (3,065)

Investment in an associate (22,837) (20,000)

Investment in a joint venture – (6,000)

Repayment from associates – 2,262

Advance to a joint venture (1,971) (695)

Repayment from a related company 47 802

Repayment from a director – 400

Placement of restricted bank balance (7,828) (2,000)

Placement of pledged bank deposits – (340)

Withdrawal of bank deposits with original maturity over three months 132,861 –

Interest received 44,119 32,030

Repayment of loan receivables 1,720 3,693

Withdrawal of restricted bank balance 2,000 1,478

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,649 1,014

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposit 145,000 –

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (6,956,500) (258,970)

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6,989,592 5,600
  

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (838,680) (631,956) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank borrowings raised 412,134 258,068

Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise of share options 4,517 2,024

Repayment of bank borrowings (344,033) (310,686)

Dividends paid (302,435) (255,070)

Repayment of lease liabilities (64,636) (62,815)

Payment for repurchase and cancellation of shares (242,384) (43,308)

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares – 696,627

Proceeds from issue of convertible and exchangeable bonds and unlisted warrants – 1,034,889

Acquisitions of additional equity interests from non-controlling interests (7,000) (6,467)

Contribution from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries – 2,000 
 

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (543,837) 1,315,262 
 

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (355,810) 2,012,957

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,114,410 2,125,637

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (41,354) (24,184) 
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR, 

 REPRESENTED BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 3,717,246 4,114,410
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 29 July 2004 as an 

exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate holding company is DJM Holding Ltd. (“DJM”) and its ultimate 

controlling shareholders are Messrs. Liu Dejian, Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui (the “Ultimate Controlling Shareholders”). The 

address of the registered office of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman  

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Units 2001-05 & 11, 20/F, Harbour Centre, 25 

Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 

referred to as the “Group”) are engaged in (i) online and mobile games development, including games design, 

programming and graphics and online and mobile games operation, (ii) education business, (iii) mobile solution, products 

and marketing business and (iv) property project business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional currency of 

the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning 

on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,

 HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 

June 2021.

The Group also applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee of the International Accounting 

Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to 

make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Cont’d)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact 

on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in 

these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts on early application of Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The Group has early applied the amendment in the current year. The amendment extends the availability of the 

practical expedient in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”) by one year so that the practical expedient 

applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or 

before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are met.

The application of this amendment has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance 

for the current and prior years.

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate 

Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments relate to changes in the 

basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result 

of interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related disclosure requirements 

applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 7”).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has several bank loans, the interest of which are indexed to benchmark rates 

that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The total amounts of these outstanding contracts are 

RMB32,823,000 and are indexed to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”). The amounts of financial 

liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts and derivatives are shown at their notional amounts.

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as none of the relevant contracts has 

been transitioned to the relevant replacements rates during the year. The Group will apply the practical expedient 

in relation to the changes in contractual cash flow resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for bank loans 

measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

 its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and

 related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

 HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates2

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

 from a Single Transaction2

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use1

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2018 – 20201

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of 

all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the 

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

‧ update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations (“HKFRS 3”) so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework 
for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
2010 issued in October 2010);

‧ add a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets  (“HKAS 37”) or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies (“HK(IFRIC)-Int 21”), an acquirer applies 
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a 
business combination; and

‧ add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of 

the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 

venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does 

not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, 

are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint 

venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that 

has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the 

former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of 

the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong 

Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least 

twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

‧ specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at 

the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 

12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at the end 

of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date; and

‧ clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of 

the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the entity 

recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (“HKAS 

32”).

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the 

corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s outstanding convertible instruments, comprising convertible and exchangeable 

bonds (Note 39) and convertible preferred shares (Note 41), include counterparty conversion options that do not meet 

equity instruments classification by applying HKAS 32. The Group classified as current or non-current based on the earliest 

date in which the Group has the obligation to redeem these instruments through cash settlement. In respect of the convertible 

preferred shares, the financial liability component (representing the conversion feature) is measured at fair value through 

profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and no financial liability component is measured at amortised cost. In respect of the convertible and 

exchangeable bonds, its host debt component is measured at amortised cost with carrying amount of RMB1,084,874,000 

and the derivative component (including the conversion options) is measured at fair value with carrying amount of RMBNil 

as at 31 December 2021, in which RMB15,000,000 and RMB1,069,874,000 of the debt component are classified as current 

and non-current, respectively and the derivative component is classified as current as set out in Note 39 and Note 21. 

Upon the application of the amendments, in addition to the obligation to redeem through cash settlement, the transfer of 

equity instruments upon the exercise of the conversion options that do not meet equity instruments classification and also 

constitute settlement of the convertible instruments. Given that the conversion options are exercisable anytime, the host 

liability and the derivative component amounting to RMB1,069,874,000 would be reclassified to current liabilities as the 

holders have the option to convert within twelve months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy 

information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information included in an 

entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 

financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related 

transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information 

relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial 

accounting policy information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements  (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an 

entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an 

accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position or performance of 

the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, 

will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 

uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves 

measurement uncertainty – that is, the accounting policy may require such items to be measured at monetary amounts that 

cannot be observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to 

achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or 

assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in 

paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes (“HKAS 12”) so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial 

recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax deductions 

are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as a 

whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax 

liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application 

permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to 

the amendments amounted to RMB134,635,000 and RMB145,203,000 respectively. The Group is still in the process of 

assessing the full impact of the application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and 

equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management 

(such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and 

the proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and measured in the profit or loss in accordance with applicable 

standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories (“HKAS 2”).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of 

the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether modification of terms of original financial liability 

constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between 

the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of 

reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of 

the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such 

information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated 

financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 

Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 

instruments and investment properties that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as 

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 

account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 

when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 

these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 

that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that are accounted for 

in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such 

as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets  (“HKAS 36”).

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the 

fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

‧ Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

‧ Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

‧ Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 

structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

‧ has power over the investee;

‧ is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

‧ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 

date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the owners of the Company and 

to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 

and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 

present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 

upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 

are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity and 

the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including  

re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and 

the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the 

consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests 

(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between 

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 

carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the 

Company. All amounts previously recognised in OCI in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group 

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred 

to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment 

retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition 

for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments  (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial 

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a 

simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The concentration test is 

met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or 

group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred 

tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of 

activities and assets is determined not to be a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises 

the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to financial 

assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated 

to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a 

transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 

combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 

interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit 

or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the 

definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 

(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October 2010).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont’d)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 

except that:

‧ deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

‧ liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based 
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree 
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

‧ assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard; and

‧ lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined 
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) 
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to 

reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 

over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after 

re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the 

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the 

acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a 

bargain purchase gain.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Cont’d)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 

the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured either at fair value or at the  

non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent consideration 

arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of 

the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 

that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are 

adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed 

one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments 

depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 

remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with 

the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain 

or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or OCI, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree 

prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in OCI and measured under HKFRS 9 would be 

accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held 

equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 

Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see above), and additional 

assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at 

the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of business 

(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or 

group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at 

which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting 

period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end 

of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first 

to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro rata basis based on the carrying 

amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill 

is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation 

within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis 

of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) 

retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is described below.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 

policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for 

equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions 

and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is 

initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 

Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an 

associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-

term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group 

discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group 

has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 

investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, 

any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 

liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 

investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 

acquired.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be 

impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is 

tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher 

of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not 

allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of 

that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 

investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is 

accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in 

profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest 

is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date 

and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount 

of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of 

the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal 

of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in OCI in 

relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had 

directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in OCI by that 

associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the 

Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial 

disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint 

venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair 

value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use 

the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 

recognised in OCI relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or 

loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to 

the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or 

services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods and service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series 

of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete 

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

‧ the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 
Group performs;

‧ the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

‧ the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or 

services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has 

transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In 

contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is 

required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group 

has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation on revenue from provision of mobile solution, 

products and marketing business services is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the 

basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the 

remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring 

control of goods or services.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation on the revenue from educational services is 

measured based on input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the 

satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance 

obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration whereby the Group will actually transfer cash or credit note to a 

distributor when a rebate has been achieved, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be 

entitled using the most likely amount, and using the method that best predicts the amount of consideration to which 

the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly 

probable that such an inclusion will not result in significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty 

associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including updating its 

assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances 

present at the end of the reporting period and changes in circumstances during the reporting period.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the 

time value of money, if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the 

Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, 

the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant financing component may exist regardless of 

whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the 

parties to the contract.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of the associated goods or services in which the 

Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing component, the Group applies 

a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at 

contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period between the advance payments were received 

and the transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Warranties

If a customer has the option to purchase an extended warranty separately, the Group accounts for the extended 

warranty as a separate performance obligation and allocates a portion of the transaction price to that performance 

obligation.

If a customer does not have the option to purchase an extended warranty separately, the Group accounts for the basic 

warranty in accordance with HKAS 37 unless the warranty provides the customer with a service in addition to the 

assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon specifications (i.e. service-type warranties).
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 

of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business 

combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 

at inception or modification date. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract 

are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of land and buildings that have a lease 

term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the 

recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value 

assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

‧ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

‧ any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

‧ any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

‧ an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring 
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and 

conditions of the lease.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Right-of-use assets (Cont’d)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets 

are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement 

of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which 

the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the 

end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use 

assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property, properties under 

development and properties for sale as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-

of-use assets that meet the definition of inventory are presented within “properties under development” or “properties 

for sale”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair 

value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value 

of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses 

the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 

determinable.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

The lease payments include:

‧ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

‧ variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date;

‧ amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

‧ the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

‧ payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 

whenever:

‧ the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 
case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate at the date of reassessment.

‧ the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review, in which 
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 

discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts 

for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

‧ the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

‧ the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the 

particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based 

on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the 

effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant 

right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-

lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the 

basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease 

components.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the 

Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments 

using the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease 

modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

‧ the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate benchmark reform; and

‧ the new basis for determining the lease payments is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis 

immediately preceding the modification).

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has 

elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all of the 

following conditions are met:

‧ the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or 

less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

‧ any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

‧ there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions 

the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification. 

Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities 

are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or 

loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract 

is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 

of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except 

for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are not derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as other income.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 

Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. 

The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head 

lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessor (Cont’d)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for 

as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date of the 

modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease 

payments for the new lease.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform for a 

finance lease that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group applies the same accounting policies as those 

applicable to financial instruments (see accounting policy below).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 

recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government 

grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets 

are recognised as other payables in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss 

on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or 

for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit 

or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income and gains”.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 

services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress). Property, plant and equipment are stated 

in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any 

recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 

condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying 

assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, 

on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land and 

building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in 

proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is 

accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial 

position except for those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model. 

When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in 

the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of  

owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including the relevant 

leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in OCI and accumulated in 

property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation reserve will 

be transferred directly to retained profits.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than properties under construction) less their 

residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 

depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 

accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 

item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For properties 

under development for which revenue is recognised over time, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as 

soon as the properties are ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included 

in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned 

on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued 

operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the 

period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 

from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 

the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 

included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

The Group transfers a property from properties under development to investment properties when there is a change in 

use to hold the property to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of 

business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference between the fair 

value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a 

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 

any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses.
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Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 

recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives are 

reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible 

assets that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful lives 

are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 

disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised.

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of an 

internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

‧ the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

‧ the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

‧ the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

‧ how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

‧ the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the intangible asset; and

‧ the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure (Cont’d)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from 

the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated 

intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it 

is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired 

separately.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, 

right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those 

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 

in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested 

for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated 

individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant CGUs when a reasonable and 

consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for 

which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for 

the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the 

relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Cont’d)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) 

for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate 

assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying 

amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets 

allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.

In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit 

or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs 

of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would 

otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

(or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 

at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at 

the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 

period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity under the heading of 

translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 

disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an 

interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes 

a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the 

owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the 

subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests 

and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a 

foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 

prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in OCI.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised 

on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 

of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 

contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 

and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are added to or deducted from the 

fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or 

loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and 

of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form 

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 

life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 

initial recognition.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

‧ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

‧ the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

‧ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and collecting 

contractual cash flows; and

‧ the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 

9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair 

value of an equity instrument in OCI if that equity instrument is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration 

recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

In addition, the Group may irrecoverably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the 

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at 

amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 

of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). 

For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying 

the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit 

risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, 

interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial 

asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses 

arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated in the equity instruments at FVTOCI 

reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss on disposal of the equity instruments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to 

receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the 

investment. Dividends are included in the “other income and gains” line item in profit or loss.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets  (Cont’d)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as 

FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any 

dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “Fair value change on financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including loan 

receivables, trade receivables, other receivables, refundable rental deposits, amount due from a related company, 

amounts due from joint ventures, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits with original maturity 

over three months and bank balances), and other item (contract assets) which are subject to impairment assessment 

under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 

recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 

instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 

default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s 

historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and 

an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are 

assessed individually for credit-impaired debtors and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of 

a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the 

risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 

on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers 

both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 

and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly:

‧ existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

‧ an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; or

‧ an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 

obligations.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 

date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower 

has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes 

in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the 

borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit 

risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 

developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 

including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).
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Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 

observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 

or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been 

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, 

when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still 

be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 

where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in 

profit or loss.
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Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 

loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given 

default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 

probability-weighted amount that is determined with respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The 

Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into 

consideration historical credit loss experience and forward looking information that is available without undue 

cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of (i) nature of 

financial instruments and (ii) past-due status. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the 

constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset 

is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 

their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables and contract assets where the corresponding 

adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 

party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 

and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure 

at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or 

loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 

of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 

its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss 

is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

A derivative contract over an entity’s own equity is accounted for as equity when it will be settled by the entity 

delivering (or receiving) a fixed number of its own equity instruments and receiving (or delivering) a fixed amount of 

cash or another financial asset. Any consideration received is added directly to equity.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of as acquirer in 

a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL. A financial 

liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 

combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

‧ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

‧ the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

‧ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire 

combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability 

that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in OCI, unless the recognition of the 

effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 

For financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such as convertible preferred shares and convertible and 

exchangeable bonds, the changes in fair value of the embedded derivatives are excluded in determining the amount 

to be presented in OCI. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised 

in OCI are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon 

derecognition of the financial liability.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due to an associate, amount due to a joint venture 

and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Convertible preferred shares

The convertible non-redeemable preferred shares of the Group comprise a financial liability component and an equity 

component. The financial liability component, representing the conversion feature, is classified as financial liabilities 

at FVTPL. It is initially recognised at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are charged to profit or loss. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial liability component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value 

recognised in the profit or loss. On initial recognition, the difference between the fair value of the convertible non-

redeemable preferred shares in its entirety and the fair value of the financial liability component is assigned to equity 

component. The equity component reflects the issuer’s discretion to pay dividends.

Convertible and exchangeable bonds

The convertible and exchangeable bonds are classified as financial liabilities in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability. A convertible and exchangeable option that can 

be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the 

Group’s own equity instruments does not meet the definition of equity and is therefore accounted for as a conversion 

option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent 

periods, the debt component of the convertible and exchangeable bonds is carried at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. The derivative components are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised 

in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible and exchangeable bonds are allocated to the debt and 

derivative components in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the derivative components 

are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included in the 

carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the period of the convertible and exchangeable bonds using 

the effective interest method.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which 

the amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical 

expedient to account for these changes by updating the effective interest rate, such change in effective interest rate 

normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and 

only if, both these conditions are met:

‧ the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate benchmark reform; and

‧ the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. 

the basis immediately preceding the change).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not 

separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost or 

fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are 

treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not 

closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL. The early redemption 

option embedded in a host debt contract is closely related to the host contract if the option’s redemption price is 

approximately equal on each redemption date to the amortised cost of the host debt instrument.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument that are separated from the host contracts are treated 

as a single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are readily 

separable and independent of each other.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value 

of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 

consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on 

the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (employee 

share-based compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number 

of options expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss 

such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to employee share-

based compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in employee share-based compensation 

reserve will be transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 

exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will 

be transferred to retained profits.

Share award scheme

The Group operates share award scheme which allows it to grant shares to selected employees. For the shares 

granted to the employees, the fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares 

is recognised as an expense over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is 

determined by reference to the fair value of the shares granted.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of shares that are expected to vest. 

The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense 

reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to employee share-based compensation reserve.

At the time when the awarded shares are vested, the amount previously recognised in treasury share reserve and the 

amount of the employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, including state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the 

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling 

them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the 

offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and 

when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another 

HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) 

after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the 

estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees 

up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and 

remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their 

inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation 

because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 

the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 

generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 

be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 

goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 

and interests in associates and a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are 

only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 

benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 

the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 

in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 

and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 

measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered 

entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property 

is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 

benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use 

assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the 

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 

12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease 

payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same 

taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 

OCI or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in OCI or directly in equity 

respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax 

effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant 

tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used by individual group entities in their 

income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment 

in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, 

the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on first-in, 

first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 

completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly 

attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development/properties for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold upon completion of development and properties for sale 

are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element which is measured at cost model in accordance 

with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties under development/properties for sale are carried at 

the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis including allocation 

of the related development expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable 

value represents the estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to 

make the sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-

incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development are transferred to properties for sale upon completion.

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment property when there is a change in use to hold the 

property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which 

is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value of the 

property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.



ANNUAL REPORT 187

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 

to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 

obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 

material).

Warranties

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type warranty obligations under the relevant contracts with customers for 

sale of goods legislation are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the directors’ best estimate of 

the expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are 

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and 

other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
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Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the 

Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for companies governed under contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

The Company and its subsidiaries do not hold any equity interests in NetDragon (Fujian), nor, in any of NetDragon 

(Fujian)’s subsidiaries, 福建省華漁教育科技有限公司 (“Fujian Huayu”) and 褔建省天晴互動娛樂有限公司 (“天晴互

娛”). Nevertheless, under the contractual agreements entered into among the Group, NetDragon (Fujian) and the Ultimate 

Controlling Shareholders who are the registered owners of NetDragon (Fujian), the directors of the Company determine that 

the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu and 天晴互

娛 so as to obtain benefits from their activities. As such, NetDragon (Fujian), Fujian Huayu and 天晴互娛 are accounted for 

as subsidiaries of the Group for accounting purposes.

The Group’s revenue generated from the above entities which are controlled by the Group through the contractual 

agreements described above amounted to RMB3,245,395,000 (2020: RMB3,086,491,000) for the year 

ended 31 December 2021. At 31 December 2021, total assets and total liabilities of these entities amounted to 

RMB1,121,597,000 (2020: RMB1,338,618,000) and RMB479,156,000 (2020: RMB596,503,000), respectively.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset arising from investment properties that are 

measured using the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment properties 

portfolio and conclude that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is to 

consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through 

sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors have determined that 

the presumption that the carrying amount of investment properties measured using the fair value model is recovered entirely 

through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of 

investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment properties 

on disposal.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are impaired requires an estimation of the 

recoverable amount of the CGUs to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have been allocated, 

which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group 

to identify CGUs, estimate growth rates in cash flow forecasts and suitable discount rate applied to these forecasts in 

order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flow forecasts are less than expected, or change in facts 

and circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash flow or upward revision of discount rate, a material 

impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of goodwill and 

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are RMB217,087,000 and RMB229,500,000 (2020: RMB241,332,000 

and RMB234,871,000) respectively. Details of the recoverable amount calculation of goodwill and intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives are disclosed in Note 24.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract assets

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and adjusts credit limits based on payment history and the 

customer’s current credit-worthiness, as determined by the review of their current credit information. The Group continuously 

monitors collections and payments from its customers and distributors, and the allowance recognised is measured as 

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flow discounted at an 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material 

impairment loss may arise.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are 

based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is 

based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable 

and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are 

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered. In addition, trade receivables and contract 

assets which are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 

pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is higher risk that a prolonged 

pandemic could led to increased credit default rates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables and 

contract assets are disclosed in Note 48, Note 28 and Note 30 respectively. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying 

amount of trade receivables is RMB831,986,000 (2020: RMB525,353,000) while allowance of credit losses for trade 

receivables is RMB26,264,000 (2020: RMB29,050,000). The carrying amount of contract assets as at 31 December 

2021 is RMB11,692,000 (2020: RMB12,236,000) with no allowance of credit losses provided as the amount is 

considered as insignificant.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The 

determination of the fair value involves certain significant unobservable inputs which are set out in Note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the 

method of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the 

corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company have performed internal assessment on the risks of change in macroeconomic environment 

through performing sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s investment properties.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties is RMB77,062,000 (2020: 

RMB76,529,000).
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair 

value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs 

are not available, the Group engages independent professional valuers to perform the valuation. The Group uses valuation 

techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain types 

of financial instruments. Notes 16 and 48 provide detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key 

assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue

Online and mobile games revenue 3,641,562 3,432,666

Education revenue (including sales of education equipment and

 related goods and educational services) 3,231,003 2,443,941

Mobile solution, products and marketing revenue 87,158 67,163

Property project revenue 75,773 193,870
  

7,035,496 6,137,640
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment 

information.

Types of goods and services

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from sales of pre-paid game cards

 for online and mobile games 3,641,562 – – – 3,641,562

Sales of education equipment and related goods – 3,096,206 – – 3,096,206

Revenue from provision of mobile solution,

 products and marketing services – – 87,158 – 87,158

Revenue from educational services – 134,797 – – 134,797

Revenue from property project – – – 75,773 75,773
     

3,641,562 3,231,003 87,158 75,773 7,035,496
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Types of goods and services (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from sales of pre-paid game cards

 for online and mobile games 3,432,666 – – – 3,432,666

Sales of education equipment and related goods – 2,314,569 – – 2,314,569

Revenue from provision of mobile solution,

 products and marketing services – – 67,163 – 67,163

Revenue from educational services – 129,372 – – 129,372

Revenue from property project – – – 193,870 193,870
     

3,432,666 2,443,941 67,163 193,870 6,137,640
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Timing of revenue recognition

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

A point in time 3,641,562 3,096,206 – 75,773 6,813,541

Over time – 134,797 87,158 – 221,955
     

3,641,562 3,231,003 87,158 75,773 7,035,496
     

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

A point in time 3,432,666 2,314,569 – 193,870 5,941,105

Over time – 129,372 67,163 – 196,535
     

3,432,666 2,443,941 67,163 193,870 6,137,640
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Geographical information

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC 3,135,058 293,614 40 75,773 3,504,485

United States of America (“USA”) 474,405 1,970,076 – – 2,444,481

Russia – 4,469 – – 4,469

United Kingdom (“UK”) – 182,806 – – 182,806

Germany – 270,733 – – 270,733

Hong Kong – 3,675 81,515 – 85,190

France – 65,120 – – 65,120

Egypt – 1,939 – – 1,939

Australia – 36,004 – – 36,004

Netherlands – 47,182 – – 47,182

Vietnam – 1,474 – – 1,474

Spain – 61,405 – – 61,405

Italy – 53,482 – – 53,482

Ireland – 37,669 – – 37,669

Kazakhstan – 14,016 – – 14,016

Switzerland – 16,272 – – 16,272

Others 32,099 171,067 5,603 – 208,769     

3,641,562 3,231,003 87,158 75,773 7,035,496     
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Geographical information (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC 2,963,194 219,351 75 193,870 3,376,490

USA 427,871 1,242,264 – – 1,670,135

Russia – 22,474 – – 22,474

UK – 146,476 – – 146,476

Germany – 165,966 – – 165,966

Hong Kong – 175 62,769 – 62,944

France – 45,913 – – 45,913

Egypt – 228,399 – – 228,399

Australia – 42,346 – – 42,346

Netherlands – 35,396 – – 35,396

Vietnam – 22,885 – – 22,885

Spain – 51,293 – – 51,293

Italy – 55,526 – – 55,526

Ireland – 24,367 – – 24,367

Kazakhstan – 14,093 – – 14,093

Switzerland – 11,680 – – 11,680

Others 41,601 115,337 4,319 – 161,257
     

3,432,666 2,443,941 67,163 193,870 6,137,640
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Performance obligation for contracts with customers

Revenue from online and mobile games

For revenue from online and mobile games, the Group operates self-developed games. The Group’s games are free to 

play. Players can purchase game points which are virtual currency for acquisition of virtual products or premium features 

or purchase those virtual products or premium features directly for better game experience. The Group sells prepaid game 

points and game products or premium features through its distribution and payment channels by (i) direct sales (both online 

payment systems and other direct sales channels) and (ii) pre-sale game cards sales through distributors.

The performance obligation in relation to revenue for online and mobile games is satisfied at a point in time upon the 

utilisation of game points for purchasing virtual products or premium features.

The virtual products or premium features purchased by the customers are mainly the consumable virtual products or premium 

features that are extinguished after consumption by a specific game player action in the online and mobile games. The 

game players will not continue to benefit from the virtual products or premium features thereafter.

The amount received from customers for prepaid game points is deferred and recorded as contract liabilities and would be 

recognised as revenue at a point in time (i.e. online or mobile game revenue) after the actual usage of the game points for 

purchasing virtual products or premium features.

The normal credit terms to its distribution and payment channels (such as Wechat Pay and Alipay) is 30 to 90 days upon 

the receipt of the money on game points collected from customers.

Revenue from sales of education equipment and related goods

For revenue from sales of education equipment and related goods, the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time 

when the education equipment and related goods are delivered and titles have passed. The normal credit term is 30 to 90 

days upon delivery.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Performance obligation for contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Revenue from provision of mobile solution, products and marketing services

Revenue from provision of mobile solution, products and marketing services is recognised over time because the customer 

simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. It is 

recognised over time using output method, i.e. to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurement of the value of 

goods or services promised under the contract that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or 

services. The contracts on provision of mobile solution, products and marketing services include payment schedules which 

require stage payments over the service period once certain specified milestones are reached and customers are offered 

30 to 45 days credit terms after the billing is issued.

Revenue from educational services

Revenue from educational services which mainly represents the tuition fee are recognised over time because the customer 

simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. It is 

recognised over time using input method, i.e. based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance 

obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation contract that best depict the 

Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services. The Group collects the educational service fee once a 

year before the commencement on providing the educational services.

Revenue from property project

Revenue from property project is recognised at a point in time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue 

from property project is recognised when the respective properties have been completed and delivered to the customers, 

which is a point in time when customers have the ability to direct the use of the properties and obtain substantially all of the 

remaining benefits of the properties. Pre-sale deposits and advance payment received from customers for property project 

are included in contract liabilities.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially satisfied) as at 31 

December 2021 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Education Mobile

equipment solution,

Online and and related Educational products and Property

mobile games goods services marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue revenue

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note)

Within one year 45,086 409,083 107,631 2,333 17,679

More than one year but not more than two years – 1,121 22,185 – –

More than two years – 1,538 29,915 – –
     

45,086 411,742 159,731 2,333 17,679
     

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially satisfied) as at 31 

December 2020 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Education Mobile

equipment solution,

Online and and related Educational products and Property

mobile games goods services marketing project

revenue revenue revenue revenue revenue

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note)

Within one year 57,707 467,428 69,255 4,903 86,297

More than one year but not more than two years – 260 20,827 – –

More than two years – 164 25,872 – –
     

57,707 467,852 115,954 4,903 86,297
     

Note: The unused game points in online and mobile games revenue have no expiration period and can be used at anytime at customers’ 

discretion. The amounts disclosed above represent the Group’s expectation on the timing of utilisation made by customers.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income and gains

Government grants (Note) 114,032 157,618

Interest income on bank balances, loan receivables

 and refundable rental deposits 54,014 32,064

Value-added tax incentives 17,936 15,955

Waiver of other payables – 7,089

Bargain purchase gain arising from acquisition of subsidiaries – 6,524

Rental income arising from subleases 4,792 5,349

Net gain arising from early termination of lease agreements 426 951

Covid-19 related rent concession (Note 15) – 248

Game implementation income – 200

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 11

Gain on disposal of domain name 17,011 –

Gain on fair value change of investment properties 2,222 –

Others 13,460 4,875
  

223,893 230,884
  

Note: Government grants were received from the government of the PRC mainly for subsidising (i) the costs incurred by the Group in 

conducting and launching research and development projects in Fujian Province, the PRC, relating to compensation for development 

costs already incurred, which amounted to RMB99,815,000 (2020: RMB140,340,000) for the year ended 31 December 

2021 and is recognised in profit or loss and (ii) the purchase of property, plant and equipment, which is recognised as deferred 

income upon receipt and is recognised to profit or loss on a systematic basis over the estimated useful life of the property, plant and 

equipment related to the government grants on capital expenditure with an amount of RMB14,200,000 (2020: RMB7,317,000).

During the current year, the Group received government grants of RMB17,000 in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies, which 

related to workers and entrepreneurs subsidies provided by the Thailand Government. The government grants received are wholly 

recognised in profit or loss in the current year.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received government grants of RMB9,961,000 in respect of Covid-19-

related subsidies, of which RMB9,941,000 related to subsidy from the Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong 

government for the period from June to November 2020 and RMB20,000 related to employment subsidy provided by the PRC 

government. The government grants received were wholly recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Details of government grants are set out in Note 29 and Note 34.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other expenses and losses

Net foreign exchange loss 38,234 98,549

Other tax and charges 34,700 32,113

Donation 20,675 29,391

Impairment loss of intangible assets 1,765 52,687

Impairment loss of goodwill 19,165 75,226

Impairment of interest in an associate 22,570 –

Write-down of inventories 1,049 631

Loss on fair value change in investment properties – 14,714

Redundancy payment 102,023 14,331

Fair value loss upon transfer from properties for sale

 to investment properties – 145

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 384 –

Loss on lease modification 3,301 –

Royalty paid for infringement settlement 11,862 –

Others 10,390 9,030
  

266,118 326,817
  

6. FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank borrowings 11,513 17,688

Interest on lease liabilities 8,723 8,966

Interest on convertible and exchangeable bonds 165,181 129,865

Other interest expense 479 1,161
  

185,896 157,680
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7. IMPAIRMENT LOSS UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Impairment losses (reversal of impairment) recognised on:

 – Impairment (reversal of impairment) of trade receivables 8,400 (1,602)

 – Reversal of impairment of other receivables – (5)

 – Recovery of bad debt previously written off (323) –
  

8,077 (1,607)
  

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set out in Note 48.

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), 

for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services 

delivered or provided.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments:

2021

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue 3,641,562 3,231,003 87,158 75,773 7,035,496
     

Segment profit (loss) 2,239,884 (710,162) (2,797) 11,679 1,538,604
    

Unallocated other income and gains 62,850

Unallocated corporate expenses and losses (365,029)
 

Profit before taxation 1,236,425
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

2020

Mobile solution,

Online and products and Property

mobile games Education marketing project Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue 3,432,666 2,443,941 67,163 193,870 6,137,640
     

Segment profit (loss) 2,302,812 (846,292) (47,736) 90,815 1,499,599
    

Unallocated other income and gains 34,131

Unallocated corporate expenses and losses (460,266)
 

Profit before taxation 1,073,464
 

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.

Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by or loss incurred from each segment without allocation of unallocated 

income, gains, expenses and losses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and 

performance assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external customers.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable and operating segments:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Online and mobile games 5,427,573 4,769,546

Education 4,295,644 3,817,395

Mobile solution, products and marketing 76,323 84,801

Property project 594,513 619,567
  

Total segment assets 10,394,053 9,291,309

Unallocated 490,783 701,906
  

10,884,836 9,993,215
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources, all assets are allocated to operating 

segments other than those assets managed on group basis, such as certain investment properties, certain equity instruments 

at FVTOCI, certain financial assets at FVTPL, loan receivables, certain other receivables, prepayments and deposits and 

bank balances and cash. No analysis of the Group’s liabilities by operating segments is disclosed as they are not regularly 

provided to the CODM for review.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC, the USA and the UK in both years.

The details of the Group’s revenue from external customers by geographical location of the operations are set out in Note 5.

The Group’s non-current assets, excluding equity instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, loan receivables and 

deferred tax assets, by geographical location of assets are detailed below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC 2,587,922 2,643,898

UK 665,347 701,626

Hong Kong 245,148 125,040

USA 22,839 46,490

Others 5,308 6,990
  

3,526,564 3,524,044
  

Information about major customers

No single customer of the Group individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 

December 2021 and 2020.
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9. TAXATION

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

The tax charge comprises:

Hong Kong Profits Tax

 – Current year 57,505 46,640

 – Over provision in prior years (1,007) (1,822)
  

56,498 44,818
  

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

 – Current year 223,772 176,570

 – Withholding tax 373 68

 – Under provision in prior years 37,717 2,409
  

261,862 179,047
  

Taxation in other jurisdictions

 – Current year 34,510 22,477

 – Under (over) provision in prior years 1,540 (1,131)
  

36,050 21,346
  

Deferred taxation (Note 25)

 – Current year (101,343) (27,567)
  

253,067 217,644
  

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for both years.

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable tax rates in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC.

On 1 December 2020, Fujian TQ Digital Inc. (“TQ Digital”), a wholly foreign owned enterprise, was approved to be a hi-

tech enterprise and is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise is subject to review once 

every three years. Therefore, the tax rate of TQ Digital for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 15%.

On 2 December 2019, Fujian TQ Online Interactive Inc. (“TQ Online”) was approved to be a hi-tech enterprise and is 

entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise is subject to review once every three years. 

Therefore, the tax rate of TQ Online for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 15%.
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9. TAXATION (Cont’d)

On 30 November 2018 and 15 December 2021, 福建省天奕網絡科技有限公司 (“天奕網絡科技”) was approved 

to be a hi-tech enterprise and is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise is subject to 

review once every three years. Therefore, the tax rate of 天奕網絡科技 for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 

2020 is 15%.

On 9 October 2021, 成都掌沃無限科技有限公司 (“成都掌沃”) was approved to be a hi-tech enterprise and is entitled to 

a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise is subject to review once every three years. Therefore, the 

tax rate of 成都掌沃 for the year ended 31 December 2021 is 15%.

On 2 December 2019, Fujian Tianquan Education Technology Limited (福建天泉教育科技有限公司) (“Fujian Tianquan”) 

was approved to be a hi-tech enterprise and is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise 

is subject to review once every three years. Therefore, the tax rate of Fujian Tianquan for the years ended 31 December 

2021 and 2020 is 15%.

On 28 November 2018 and 30 November 2021, 蘇州馳聲信息科技有限公司 (“蘇州馳聲”) was approved to be a hi-

tech enterprise and is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise is subject to review once 

every three years. Therefore, the tax rate of 蘇州馳聲 for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 15%.

On 1 December 2020, 福建省網龍普天教育科技有限公司 (“網龍普天”) was approved to be a hi-tech enterprise and 

is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15%. The qualification of hi-tech enterprise is subject to review once every three years. 

Therefore, the tax rate of 網龍普天 for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 15%.

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of NetDragon (Fujian) is 25% for both years.

Upon the New Tax Law and Implementation Regulations, PRC withholding income tax is applicable to dividends 

payable to investors and interest payable to depositors that are “non-PRC tax resident enterprises”, which do not have 

an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business but the relevant 

income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business, to the extent such dividends and interest 

have their sources within the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends distributed from the PRC subsidiaries and interest 

payable by the PRC lenders to non-PRC tax resident group entities shall be subject to the withholding income tax at 10% or 

lower tax rate, as applicable.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the USA income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries incorporated in the USA is 

21% (2020: 21%) for federal tax and 8.84% (2020: 8.84%) for state income tax.

The United Kingdom Corporation Tax Rate applicable to subsidiaries is 19% for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 

19%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.
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The tax charge for the year is reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation 1,236,425 1,073,464
  

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) (Note a) 309,106 268,366

Tax effect of share of results of associates 3,702 3,770

Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 397 446

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (52,709) (114,809)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 114,415 174,582

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (23,080) (46,511)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 217,108 223,183

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in

 other jurisdictions (33,352) (31,873)

Effect of previous not recognised deductible temporary differences and 

 tax losses recognised as deferred tax assets in current year (102,899) –

Additional tax benefit on development expenses (Note b) (19,020) (15,496)

Other tax benefit granted to subsidiaries in the United Kingdom (2,579) –

Tax effect of exemption and income tax on concessionary

 rate granted to the PRC subsidiaries (198,896) (236,241)

Under (over) provision in prior years 38,250 (544)

Withholding tax at 10% interest income 373 68

Others 2,251 (7,297)
  

Tax charge for the year 253,067 217,644
  

Notes:

a. The applicable tax rate of 25% represents the applicable income tax rate of the subsidiaries in Fujian Province in the PRC which 

constitute the substantial part of the Group’s operations for both years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

b. Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations, the Group can obtain additional tax benefit, which is equivalent to 75% (2020: 

75%) of the staff costs and depreciation under development costs incurred for the development of new games and advanced 

technology development.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in Note 25.
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:
Staff costs:
 Directors’ emoluments 27,825 36,697
 Other staff costs
  Salaries and other benefits 1,903,655 1,890,569
  Contributions to retirement benefits schemes (Note a) 159,613 143,912
  Share-based payments expense 130 8,488
  Redundancy payments 102,023 14,331  

2,193,246 2,093,997  

Auditor’s remuneration
 – audit services 9,044 7,214
 – non-audit services 219 269  

9,263 7,483  

Amortisation of intangible assets 130,790 109,046
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 196,839 196,340
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 79,475 84,951  

Total depreciation and amortisation 407,104 390,337  

Cost of goods sold for education equipment and related goods 1,979,657 1,455,671
Advertising and promotion expenses 
 (included in selling and marketing expenses) 389,510 347,924
Impairment of interest in an associate 22,570 –
Impairment loss of intangible assets 1,765 52,687
Impairment loss of deposit paid for property, plant and equipment 68 –
Write-down of inventories (Note b) 1,049 631
Net foreign exchange loss excluding exchange gain on financial assets 
 at FVTPL, bank borrowings, convertible and exchangeable bonds and 
 derivative financial instruments 38,234 98,549  

Notes:

a. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group benefited from reduced rates of contribution to retirement benefits of PRC 
staff as introduced by the PRC government in order to help enterprises overcome the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, which 
amounted to RMB20,717,000.

b. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was a decrease in the net realisable value of certain finished goods due to 
decrease in market value. During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was a decrease in the net realisable value of certain 
raw materials due to stock surplus. As a result, a recognition of write-down on obsolete inventories of RMB1,049,000 (2020: 
RMB631,000) due to the decrease of net realisable value has been recognised.
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2020: nine) directors of the Company were as follows:

2021

Contributions

Salaries to retirement Share-based

and other benefits payments

Fees benefits schemes expense Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors

Mr. Liu Dejian – 1,012 27 – 1,039

Mr. Liu Luyuan (Note i) – 998 30 – 1,028

Mr. Zheng Hui – 574 46 – 620

Mr. Chen Hongzhan – 1,063 25 – 1,088

Dr. Leung Lim Kin, Simon (Note ii) – 7,961 15 12,954 20,930

Non-executive director

Mr. Lin Dongliang – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chao Guowei, Charles 773 – – 267 1,040

Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 773 – – 267 1,040

Mr. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas 773 – – 267 1,040
     

2,319 11,608 143 13,755 27,825
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d)

2020

Contributions

Salaries to retirement Share-based

and other benefits payments

Fees benefits  schemes expense Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors

Mr. Liu Dejian – 929 19 – 948

Mr. Liu Luyuan (Note i) – 918 28 – 946

Mr. Zheng Hui – 625 41 – 666

Mr. Chen Hongzhan – 969 22 – 991

Dr. Leung Lim Kin, Simon (Note ii) – 7,390 16 21,963 29,369

Non-executive director

Mr. Lin Dongliang – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chao Guowei, Charles 701 – – 558 1,259

Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, Eddie 701 – – 558 1,259

Mr. Liu Sai Keung, Thomas 701 – – 558 1,259
     

2,103 10,831 126 23,637 36,697
     

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the management of the 

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’s and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their 

services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Liu Luyuan is also the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered 

by him as the chief executive.

(ii) Included in the salaries and other benefits paid to Dr. Leung Lim Kin, Simon is an amount of RMB1,680,000 (2020: 

RMB1,680,000) performance related bonus during the year ended 31 December 2021 which are determined based on the 

Group’s performance for the year.
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Five highest paid employees

Of the five highest emoluments in the Group, during both reporting periods, one (2020: one) was executive director of the 

Company, whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2020: four) individuals who are 

neither a director nor chief executive of the Company were as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 79,889 48,970

Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 518 374

Share-based payments expense 2,550 8,661
  

82,957 58,005
  

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2021 2020

Number of Number of

employees employees

In HKD

HKD8,000,001 to HKD8,500,000 – 1

HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000 1 –

HKD9,000,001 to HKD9,500,000 – 1

HKD10,500,001 to HKD11,000,000 1 –

HKD21,500,001 to HKD22,000,000 – 1

HKD26,000,001 to HKD26,500,000 – 1

HKD38,000,001 to HKD38,500,000 1 –

HKD41,500,001 to HKD42,000,000 1 –
  

4 4
  

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to any of the directors or the 

chief executive of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or 

as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors or the chief executive of the Company waived any remuneration 

during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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12. DIVIDENDS

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

2021 Interim – HKD0.40

 (2020: 2020 Interim dividend of HKD0.25) per share 185,236 128,780

2020 Final – HKD0.25

 (2020: 2019 Final dividend of HKD0.25) per share 117,100 126,290
  

302,336 255,070
  

The special interim dividend of HKD1.43 (2020: HKDNil) per share which has been proposed and approved by the 

directors in the board meeting on 31 January 2022, amounted to approximately RMB632,197,000 (2020: RMBNil) and 

was paid on 28 February 2022.

The final dividend of HKD0.40 (2020: HKD0.25) per share which has been proposed by the directors and is subject 

to approval by the shareholders in the annual general meeting, amounted to approximately RMB178,317,000 (2020: 

RMB118,044,000).
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the 

following data:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share:

 – Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company 1,062,060 953,501
  

Number of shares

2021 2020

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year for the 

 purpose of basic earnings per share (after adjusted for the effect of

 unvested and treasury shares held under share award scheme) 554,115 556,993

Effect of dilutive potential shares from the Company’s share option scheme 259 747
  

Number of shares for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share

 (after adjusted for the effect of unvested and treasury

 shares held under share award scheme) 554,374 557,740
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Owned Leasehold Plant and Motor Construction

properties improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2020 1,482,913 495,633 754,825 53,752 145,979 2,933,102

Exchange adjustments (690) (972) (5,976) (4) (139) (7,781)

Additions 46,354 10,097 68,966 6,083 140,716 272,216

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 44) – – 139 – – 139

Reclassification 114,298 28,906 5,441 – (148,645) –

Disposals – (8,566) (32,793) (4,212) – (45,571)
      

At 31 December 2020 1,642,875 525,098 790,602 55,619 137,911 3,152,105

Exchange adjustments (273) (315) (4,158) – (121) (4,867)

Additions 35,960 7,492 55,712 2,114 44,802 146,080

Reclassification 84,885 2,018 – – (86,903) –

Disposals – (4,251) (16,879) (6,271) – (27,401)
      

At 31 December 2021 1,763,447 530,042 825,277 51,462 95,689 3,265,917
      

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2020 162,619 229,268 582,083 40,435 – 1,014,405

Exchange adjustments (663) (848) (5,266) (3) – (6,780)

Provided for the year 76,151 33,881 80,820 5,488 – 196,340

Eliminated on disposals – (8,566) (31,991) (4,011) – (44,568)
      

At 31 December 2020 238,107 253,735 625,646 41,909 – 1,159,397

Exchange adjustments (265) (284) (3,901) – – (4,450)

Provided for the year 85,028 36,188 70,952 4,671 – 196,839

Eliminated on disposals – (3,751) (15,739) (5,878) – (25,368)
      

At 31 December 2021 322,870 285,888 676,958 40,702 – 1,326,418
      

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2021 1,440,577 244,154 148,319 10,760 95,689 1,939,499
      

At 31 December 2020 1,404,768 271,363 164,956 13,710 137,911 1,992,708
      



ANNUAL REPORT 215

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, after taking into account the residual 

values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, at the following rates per annum:

Owned properties Over the shorter of the terms of the leases of 20 years, or 4%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the terms of the leases, or 4.74% – 33.33%

Plant and equipment 19% – 31.67%

Motor vehicles 19% – 31.67%

An analysis of the carrying values of owned properties is as below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

In the PRC other than in Hong Kong 1,440,577 1,404,768
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold Leased Office Motor

lands properties equipment vehicles Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2020 299,864 244,961 402 2,552 547,779

Additions – 77,817 34 1,149 79,000

Lease termination – (8,763) – – (8,763)

Exchange alignment – (5,446) (24) (173) (5,643)
     

At 31 December 2020 299,864 308,569 412 3,528 612,373

Additions – 67,539 15 688 68,242

Lease termination – (53,580) – – (53,580)

Exchange alignment – (3,322) (11) (130) (3,463)
     

At 31 December 2021 299,864 319,206 416 4,086 623,572
     

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2020 6,589 72,932 13 995 80,529

Provided for the year 6,590 77,276 85 1,000 84,951

Eliminated on lease termination – (5,176) – – (5,176)

Exchange alignment – (2,751) (5) (186) (2,942)
     

At 31 December 2020 13,179 142,281 93 1,809 157,362

Provided for the year 6,590 71,816 85 984 79,475

Eliminated on lease termination – (39,575) – – (39,575)

Exchange alignment – (1,972) (4) 8 (1,968)
     

At 31 December 2021 19,769 172,550 174 2,801 195,294
     

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 31 December 2021 280,095 146,656 242 1,285 428,278
     

At 31 December 2020 286,685 166,288 319 1,719 455,011
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont’d)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Expense relating to short-term leases 8,108 3,509
  

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets,

 excluding short-term leases of low value assets 71 36
  

Variable lease payments not included 

 in the measurement of lease liabilities 408 345
  

Total cash outflow for leases 81,946 75,671
  

Additions to right-of-use assets 54,237 75,413
  

The above items of right-of-use assets, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold lands 2%

Leased properties Over the terms of the leases, or 25%

Office equipment Over the terms of the leases, or 20%

Motor vehicles Over the terms of the leases, or 33.3%

For both years, the Group leases land and buildings, equipment and motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are 

entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 20 years, but may have extension options as described below. Lease terms are 

negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term 

and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the 

period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all leasehold lands.
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont’d)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases and leases of low-value assets for leased properties and office equipment 

respectively. As at 31 December 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are similar to the 

portfolio of short-term leases and leases of low-value assets to which the short-term lease and leases of low-value assets 

expenses disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has extension options in four (2020: two) leases. These are used 

to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. These four extension 

options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The 

potential exposures to these future lease payments for extension options in which the Group is not reasonably certain to 

exercise the extension options is summarised below:

Lease

liabilities

recognised

as at

31 December

2021

Potential

future lease

payments

not included

in lease

liabilities

(undiscounted)

31 December

2021

Lease

liabilities

recognised

as at

31 December

2020

Potential

future lease

payments

not included

in lease

liabilities

(undiscounted)

31 December

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Land and buildings – Canada 5,811 11,680 8,425 12,489

Land and buildings – USA 7,843 17,638 – –

Land and buildings – PRC 19 37 – –
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont’d)

The following table summarised the additional lease liabilities recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 

2020 due to the exercise of extension option that the Group was not reasonably certain to exercise:

Extension Extension

option option

exercisable exercisable

during the during the

year ended Extension year ended Extension

31 December option 31 December option

2021 exercised 2020 exercised

No. of leases No. of leases No. of leases No. of leases

Land and buildings – Canada 2 – 2 –

Land and buildings – USA 1 – – –

Land and buildings – PRC 1 – – –
    

4 – 2 –
    

Additional lease liabilities recognised

 during the year (RMB’000) – –
  

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, upon the occurrence of 

either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During the years 

ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there is no such triggering event.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, lessors of the relevant offices provided rent concessions to the Group through 

rent reductions from 50% to 100% over two to three months due to the outbreak of Covid-19.

These rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and met of all of the conditions in HKFRS 

16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient not to assess whether the changes constitute lease modifications. 

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the effects on changes in lease payments due to forgiveness or waiver by the 

lessors for the relevant leases of RMB248,000 were recognised as negative variable lease payments and were included in 

other income and gains.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group intends to lease out various offices and car parking spaces under operating leases to earn rental income.

RMB’000

Fair value

At 1 January 2020 95,090

Transfer from properties for sale 145

Fair value loss upon transfer from properties for sale (145)

Exchange adjustments (3,847)

Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (14,714)
 

At 31 December 2020 76,529

Exchange adjustments (1,689)

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss 2,222
 

At 31 December 2021 77,062
 

The Group’s investment properties consist of two units of office premises in Hong Kong and several car parking spaces in 

the PRC as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

(i) Office premises

The fair values of the office premises as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 have been arrived at on the basis of a 

valuation carried out on the respective dates by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer 

not connected with the Group. The fair values of the office premises are determined based on the market approach 

which uses the prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable 

properties. One of the key unobservable inputs used in valuing the investment properties is the market unit rate taking 

into account the recent transaction prices of similar properties nearby the Group’s investment properties adjusted for 

location and conditions of the properties which ranged from HKD21,429 (equivalent to RMB17,520) per sq.ft to 

HKD28,791 (equivalent to RMB23,540) per sq.ft (2020: ranged from HKD21,798 (equivalent to RMB18,346) per 

sq.ft to HKD23,856 (equivalent to RMB20,078) per sq.ft), where sq.ft is a common unit of area used in Hong Kong. 

An increase in the market unit rate would result in an increase in fair value measurement of the investment properties, 

and vice versa. There has been no change in the valuation technique used from the prior year.

(ii) Car parking spaces

The fair values of these car parking spaces have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by Ravia 

Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. 

The fair values of these car spaces are determined based on income approach by taking into account the net rental 

income of the properties in the existing market which have been capitalised to determine the market value. The key 

unobservable inputs used are the yield of 2.87% (2020: 2.87%) and average market rent of RMB300 (2020: 

RMB300) per month. An increase in the yield and average market rent used would result in an increase in fair value, 

and vice versa.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. The investment 

properties were categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. There were no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Non- Patent

competition Customers and Development Crypto 

Trademarks Licences agreement relationship technology costs currencies Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note a) (Note g) (Note b) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d) (Note f)

COST

At 1 January 2020 419,923 41,755 61,031 148,084 324,617 281,136 – 24,587 1,301,133

Exchange adjustments (26,888) (20) – (4,745) (17,504) (18,118) – (1,096) (68,371)

Additions – – – – – 57,929 – – 57,929

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 44) – – – – – – – 27,598 27,598

Acquisition of assets through acquisition 

 of a subsidiary (Note 45) – – – – – – – 55,556 55,556         

At 31 December 2020 393,035 41,735 61,031 143,339 307,113 320,947 – 106,645 1,373,845

Exchange adjustments (8,890) (7) – (1,569) (5,914) (7,425) – (362) (24,167)

Additions – 94,340 – – – 63,455 129,525 1,797 289,117

Write off for the year – (1,926) – – – – – – (1,926)         

At 31 December 2021 384,145 134,142 61,031 141,770 301,199 376,977 129,525 108,080 1,636,869         

AMORTISATION/IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2020 113,648 40,152 36,965 91,673 135,135 185,476 – 22,347 625,396

Exchange adjustments (10,016) 30 – (3,942) (8,670) (15,362) – (1,095) (39,055)

Provided for the year 408 68 6,801 19,577 32,149 41,172 – 8,871 109,046

Impairment loss for the year (Note e) 52,687 – – – – – – – 52,687         

At 31 December 2020 156,727 40,250 43,766 107,308 158,614 211,286 – 30,123 748,074

Exchange adjustments (3,519) – – (1,456) (3,313) (5,468) (25) (362) (14,143)

Provided for the year 407 13,276 6,783 16,891 30,404 52,668 – 10,361 130,790

Write off for the year – (1,926) – – – – – – (1,926)

Impairment loss for the year (Note f) – – – – – – 1,765 – 1,765         

At 31 December 2021 153,615 51,600 50,549 122,743 185,705 258,486 1,740 40,122 864,560         

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2021 230,530 82,542 10,482 19,027 115,494 118,491 127,785 67,958 772,309         

At 31 December 2020 236,308 1,485 17,265 36,031 148,499 109,661 – 76,522 625,771         
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Notes:

a. Included in the trademarks of approximately RMB229,500,000 (2020: RMB234,871,000) as at 31 December 2021 are those 
acquired on acquisition of Promethean World Limited (“Promethean”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Promethean 
Group”) having legal lives of 2 to 20 years and are renewable every 2 to 20 years at minimal cost. The directors of the Company 
are of the opinion that the Group would renew the trademark continuously and has the ability to do so. Various studies including 
product life cycle studies, market, competitive and environmental trends and brand extension opportunities have been performed by 
management of the Group, which supports that the trademark has no foreseeable limit to the period over which the trademarked 
products are expected to generate net cash flows for the Group. As a result, the trademark is considered by the management of the 
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The trademark will not 
be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an 
indication that it may be impaired.

Trademark with indefinite useful life of RMB25,410,000 and RMB27,905,000 arising from the acquisition of Jumpstart Games, 
Inc. and its subsidiaries and Edmodo, Inc. (“Edmodo”) respectively were fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The remaining balance of the trademark with finite useful lives of RMB1,030,000 (2020: RMB1,437,000) were mainly acquired 
on acquisition of Cherrypicks International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Cherrypicks Group”).

Particulars of the impairment testing are disclosed in Note 24.

b. Intangible assets represent customers relationship and non-competition agreement mainly from the acquisition of Cherrypicks Group. 
Cherrypicks Group have long and close business relationship with the major customers and non-competition agreement was signed 
between Cherrypicks Group and its employee upon acquisition. The acquisition of Cherrypicks Group has allowed the Group to 
develop its long term growth from Cherrypicks Group’s mobile solution and marketing business.

c. Patent and technology represents the acquired technological know-how for producing Interactive Whiteboard, Interactive Flat Panel, 
and augmented reality (“AR”) and various mobile application. The patent and technology were acquired from the acquisition of 
Promethean Group, Cherrypicks Alpha Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries and Cherrypicks Alpha Resources Limited (“Cherrypicks 
Alpha Resources”).

d. Development costs represent (i) the software for a cloud-based teaching and learning platform which connects students’ tablets and 
laptops to interactive displays (Interactive Whiteboard and Interactive Flat Panel) and such development costs were acquired from 
acquisition of the Promethean Group and (ii) the technological know-how internally generated for personalised location services, 
marketing and e-commerce, location intelligence and data analysis.

e. During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain subsidiaries in education segment incurred loss and their recoverable amounts 
were assessed to be less than the carrying amounts. The directors have consequently determined impairment of intangible assets 
with indefinite and definite useful lives amounting to RMB52,687,000 and RMBNil respectively during the year ended 31 
December 2020. Taking into account the operating and industry environment of the Group and the nature of its business, the Group 
measured the recoverable amounts of the CGUs based on value in use using the discounted cash flow method.

f. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired cryptocurrencies which are measured at its cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. The recoverable amounts of the cryptocurrencies have been determined based on their fair value 
less costs of disposal. The Group uses direct quoted prices in active market to estimate the fair value less costs of disposal of the 
assets. The relevant assets were impaired to their recoverable amount of RMB127,785,000 (2020: N/A), which is their carrying 
values at year end and the impairment of RMB1,765,000 (2020: N/A) has been recognised in “other expenses and losses” 
during the year.

g. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired sports lottery licenses of approximately RMB94,340,000 (2020: 
RMBNil).
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

The above intangible assets, other than certain trademarks with indefinite useful lives, have finite useful lives. Such intangible 

assets are amortised on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Trademarks 10% – 57.14%

Licences 5% – 50%

Non-competition agreement 11.11%

Customers relationship 10% – 16.67%

Patent and technology 10%

Development costs 33.33%

Others 10% – 50%

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted investments:

Cost of investments 87,837 65,000

Share of post-acquisition losses (30,148) (15,341)

Impairment loss recognised (22,570) –
  

Group’s share of net assets of associates 35,119 49,659
  



ANNUAL REPORT 225

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had interests in the following associates:

Proportion of
ownership interest Country of

and voting rights held establishment/ Registered
Name of entities by the Group operation capital Principal activities

2021 2020

Glory Team Limited 30.0% N/A British Virgin US dollar Investment holding
 (“Glory Team”) (Note a) Islands (“BVI”) (“USD”)50,000

Sammo Holdings Limited (森永道控股有限公司) 30.0% N/A Hong Kong HKD7,520,000 Provision of online language

 (“Sammo Holdings”) (Note a)  teaching and training services

廣州市森永企業諮詢服務有限公司 30.0% N/A PRC RMB100,000 Provision of business management

 (“廣州市森永企業”) (Note a)  consulting services

北京憶起記網絡科技有限責任公司 20.0% N/A PRC RMB100,000 Provision of online education and

 (“北京憶起記”) (Note b)  related application business

安徽學雲教育科技有限公司 20.93% 20.93% PRC RMB10,117,700 Provision of online education and

 (“安徽學雲教育”) (Note c)  related application business

長沙憶不容辭教育科技有限責任公司 20.0% 20.0% PRC RMB2,000,000 Provision of online education

 (“長沙憶不容辭”) (Note d)  and related application business

雲啟智慧科技有限公司 40.0% 40.0% PRC RMB50,000,000 Provision of smart education

 (“雲啟智慧”) (Note e)

Notes:

a. During the current year, the Group acquired 30% of the issued share capital of Glory Team, and its subsidiaries, Sammo Holdings 
and 廣州市森永企業 (collectively referred to as “Glory Team Group”), and has the power to appoint one director out of three 
directors in the board. Therefore, Glory Team Group is classified as associates of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

b. During the current year, the Group acquired 20% of the issued share capital of 北京憶起記, and has the power to appoint one 
director out of five directors in the board. Therefore, 北京憶起記 is classified as an associate of the Group as at 31 December 
2021.

c. The Group holds 20.93% of the registered capital of 安徽學雲教育, and has the power to appoint one director out of three 
directors in the board. Therefore, 安徽學雲教育 is classified as an associate of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

d. The Group holds 20% of the registered capital of 長沙憶不容辭, and has the power to appoint one director out of five directors in 
the board. Therefore, 長沙憶不容辭 is classified as an associate of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

e. The Group holds 40% of the registered capital of 雲啟智慧, and has the power to appoint two directors out of five directors in the 
board. Therefore, 雲啟智慧 is classified as an associate of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted investment:

Cost of investments 24,000 24,000

Share of post-acquisition losses (9,023) (7,437)
  

Group’s share of net assets of joint ventures 14,977 16,563
  

Proportion of ownership Country of
interest and voting rights establishment/

Name of entities held by the Group operation Registered capital Principal activities

2021 2020

福建省國騰信息科技有限公司 60.0% 60.0% PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Application of information technologies,
 (“國騰”) (Note a)  virtual reality and AR technology

昆明網龍華漁科技發展有限公司 60.0% 60.0% PRC RMB50,000,000 Provision of training and software-as-a-service
 (“昆明網龍華漁”) (Note b)

Promethean Middle East and 57.0% N/A The Cayman USD100 Inactive
 Africa Limited (“PMEA”) (Note c) Islands

Notes:

a. 國騰 is a joint venture company of the Group although the Group has 60% ownership interest and voting rights in 國騰. The 

directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has joint control over 國騰 based on whether decisions about the 

relevant activities of the arrangement can be made without the consent of the Group. Pursuant to an agreement signed between the 

three joint venturers, the other two joint venturers act in concert and own 40% of shareholdings in 國騰 in aggregate, and that at 

least two-thirds of the voting rights are required to make decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangement. After assessment, 

the directors of the Company concluded that decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangement cannot be made without the 

consent of the Group and therefore the Group has joint control over 國騰.

b. 昆明網龍華漁 is a joint venture company of the Group although the Group has 60% ownership interest and voting rights in 昆明網

龍華漁. The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has joint control over 昆明網龍華漁 based on whether 

decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangement can be made without the consent of the Group. Pursuant to an agreement 

signed between the two joint venturers, and at least two-thirds of the voting rights are required to make decisions about the relevant 

activities of the arrangement. After assessment, the directors of the Company concluded that decisions about the relevant activities of 

the arrangement cannot be made without the consent of the Group and therefore the Group has joint control over 昆明網龍華漁.

c. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group established PMEA with an independent third party and has the power to 

appoint three directors out of five directors in the board. PMEA is a joint venture company of the Group although the Group has 

57% ownership interest and voting rights in PMEA. The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has joint 

control over PMEA based on whether decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangement can be made without the consent 

of the Group. Pursuant to an agreement signed between the two joint venturers, unanimous written consent and authorisation are 

required to make material business decisions. After assessment, the directors of the Company concluded that decisions about the 

relevant activities of the arrangement cannot be made without the consent of the Group and therefore the Group has joint control 

over PMEA.
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20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity securities listed in Canada (Note a) 8,105 10,808

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC (Note b) – –
  

8,105 10,808
  

Notes:

a. The above listed equity investment represents ordinary shares of an entity listed in Toronto Stock Exchange. The investment is not held 

for trading, instead, it is held for long-term strategic purpose. The directors of the Company have elected to designate this investment 

in equity instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss 

would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising their performance 

potential in the long run.

b. The above unlisted equity investment represents the Group’s equity interests in a private entity established in the PRC. The directors of 

the Company have elected to designate this investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that the investment is not held 

for trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS/DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at FVTPL:

 – Equity-linked warrants 1,852 3,723

 – Unlisted funds (Note i) 266,078 281,194

 – Others – 2,058
  

267,930 286,975
  

Analysed for financial reporting purpose:

Current 1,852 5,781

Non-current 266,078 281,194
  

267,930 286,975
  

Derivative financial instruments:

 – Convertible and exchangeable option (Note 39) – –

 – Unlisted warrants (Note ii) 42,565 40,894
  

42,565 40,894
  

Notes:

(i) The unlisted funds represent a portfolio of investments managed by fund managers, most of the portfolio assets are invested in the 

listed securities in Hong Kong and the PRC. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term purposes. 

The Group is not expected to realise the funds within twelve months from the end of the reporting period, therefore the unlisted funds 

are classified as non-current assets.

(ii) The unlisted warrants are simultaneously issued with the convertible and exchangeable bonds as detailed in Note 39.
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed-rate loan receivables 2,102 3,631

Variable-rate loan receivables 28,325 28,832
  

30,427 32,463
  

Analysed as:

 Current 22,207 22,042

 Non-current 8,220 10,421
  

30,427 32,463
  

The effective interest rates (which are equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group’s loan receivables are as follows:

2021 2020

Effective interest rates:

 Fixed-rate loan receivables (per annum) 4.15% 2.91% – 4.15%

 Variable-rate loan receivables (per annum) 2.15% – 5.00% 2.15% – 5.00%
  

Included in loan receivables, RMB8,523,000 (2020: RMB10,217,000) represents loans to certain key management and 

staff. Loan receivables are not past due or credit-impaired at the end of the reporting period. The loans are either repayable 

by instalments until 2022, 2023 or 2035 (2020: 2021, 2022, 2023 or 2035) or repayable in whole in 2022. All 

amounts are unsecured.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 48.
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23. GOODWILL

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 459,655 465,473

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 44) – 19,165

Exchange adjustments (8,477) (24,983)
  

At 31 December 451,178 459,655
  

IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 218,323 152,145

Impairment loss recognised for the year 19,165 75,226

Exchange adjustments (3,397) (9,048)
  

At 31 December 234,091 218,323
  

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 217,087 241,332
  

Particulars regarding impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in Note 24.
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE 
USEFUL LIVES

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives set out in Notes 23 and 17 

have been allocated to eleven individual or groups of CGUs. The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks as at 31 

December 2021 and 2020 allocated to these units are as follows:

Goodwill Trademarks

2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Online and mobile games:

CGU-1 – – – –

CGU-2 – – – –

CGU-3 – 18,830 – –
    

– 18,830 – –
    

Education:

CGU-4 – – – –

CGU-5 – – – –

CGU-6 217,087 222,167 229,500 234,871

CGU-7 – – – –

CGU-8 – – – –

CGU-9 – 335 – –
    

217,087 222,502 229,500 234,871
    

Mobile solution, products and marketing:

CGU-10 – – – –

CGU-11 – – – –
    

– – – –
    

At 31 December 217,087 241,332 229,500 234,871
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE 
USEFUL LIVES (Cont’d)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs arising from online and mobile games, education and mobile solution, products and 

marketing business were determined individually based on value in use calculations. Those value in use calculations use 

cash flow projections based on cash flow forecasts approved by management covering a five-year period and discount 

rates of CGU-3, CGU-6 and CGU-9 are 25.13% (2020: 23.50%), 29.34% (2020: 27.26%) and 14.87% (2020: 

14.69%) respectively. Cash flows beyond five-year period is extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 

ranging from 2.0% to 3.0%). Cash flow projections during the forecast period for the CGUs are based on the estimated 

growth rates during the forecast period. Estimated growth rates were determined based on past performance and the 

management’s expectations for the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any 

of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of CGU-6 to exceed its respective recoverable amount resulting 

in impairment.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the CGU-3 and CGU-9 (2020: CGU-7, CGU-8 and CGU-10) incurred loss 

and its recoverable amount was assessed to be less than the carrying amount.

The directors have consequently determined impairment of goodwill directly related to the CGU-3 and CGU-9 amounting 

to RMB18,830,000 and RMB335,000, respectively (2020: CGU-7 and CGU-10 amounting to RMB47,747,000 and 

RMB27,479,000, respectively). The impairment loss has been included in “other expenses and losses”.

The directors have consequently determined impairment of trademarks with indefinite useful lives directly related to the CGU-

7 and CGU-8 amounting to RMB25,111,000 and RMB27,576,000, respectively during the year ended 31 December 

2020. The impairment loss has been included in “other expenses and losses”.

No other write-down of the assets of the CGU-3 and CGU-9 (2020: CGU-7, CGU-8 and CGU-10) units is considered 

necessary during the year ended 31 December 2021. The recoverable amounts of the CGU-3 and CGU-9 (2020: CGU-

7, CGU-8 and CGU-10) units are RMBNil. Management of the Group determines that there is no impairment of the 

remaining CGUs containing goodwill or trademarks with indefinite useful lives.

Taking into account the operating and industry environment of the Group and the nature of its business, the Group 

measured the recoverable amounts of the CGUs based on value in use using the discounted cash flow method.

There were no significant changes in the valuation method adopted from those adopted in the previous years.
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25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 135,076 43,437

Deferred tax liabilities (80,111) (90,907)
  

54,965 (47,470)
  

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements thereon during the current and 

prior years:

Deferred Accelerated tax Intangible

revenue depreciation assets Inventories Tax losses Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 6,364 (168) (118,330) 1,822 11,867 24,152 (74,293)

Credited (charged) to profit or loss 2,014 63 28,660 (215) (7,753) 4,798 27,567

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 44) – – (4,133) – – – (4,133)

Exchange adjustments (520) 6 5,886 (90) (74) (1,819) 3,389
       

At 31 December 2020 7,858 (99) (87,917) 1,517 4,040 27,131 (47,470)

Credited (charged) to profit or loss 753 32 (7,335) 557 104,205 3,131 101,343

Exchange adjustments (188) 4 1,709 (35) 131 (529) 1,092
       

At 31 December 2021 8,423 (63) (93,543) 2,039 108,376 29,733 54,965
       

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has taxable temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of 

PRC subsidiaries of RMB7,576,317,000 (2020: RMB6,092,230,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised 

for these undistributed earnings because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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25. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMB566,906,000 (2020: RMB15,187,000) of the unused tax 

losses of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets arising 

from tax losses amounting to RMB3,068,861,000 (2020: RMB2,541,873,000) due to the unpredictability of the future 

profit streams and tax losses to be agreed with the PRC tax authority. The unrecognised tax losses will be expired in year 

2022, 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029, 2030 and 2031 are RMB271,182,000, RMB287,529,000, 

RMB380,042,000, RMB415,981,000, RMB526,969,000, RMB150,844,000, RMB225,808,000, 

RMB220,197,000, RMB310,974,000 and RMB279,335,000 (2020: expired in year 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 

2025 are RMB412,299,000, RMB425,184,000, RMB493,557,000, RMB623,570,000 and RMB587,263,000) 

respectively, which are five years or ten years from year in which the loss was originated, to offset against future taxable 

profits. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary differences of RMB95,111,000 (2020: 

RMB147,222,000). A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMB100,661,000 (2020: 

RMB154,616,000) of such differences of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021. No deferred tax asset 

has been recognised in respect of the remaining differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Others mainly represented deferred tax assets related to accrued expenses and other miscellaneous items.
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26. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PROPERTIES FOR SALE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Properties under development 316,872 263,915

Properties for sale 205,273 253,367
  

522,145 517,282
  

The Group’s properties under development are situated in the PRC. All of the properties under development are stated at 

the lower of cost and net realisable value. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the properties under development are 

expected to be realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, RMB145,000 was transferred from properties under development to 

properties for sale and then transfer to investment properties.

Analysis of leasehold lands:

RMB’000

At 1 January 2021

Carrying amount 210,590
 

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amount 204,946
 

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land component. 

No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 

December 2021 and 2020.
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27. INVENTORIES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 5,490 5,671

Finished goods 679,627 311,238
  

685,117 316,909
  

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 858,250 554,403

Less: Allowance of credit losses (26,264) (29,050)
  

831,986 525,353
  

As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to RMB689,360,000.

The Group generally allows a credit period ranging from 30 days to 90 days to its distribution and payment channels/

trade customers.
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28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the date of 

delivery of goods/date of rendering of services which approximated the respective revenue recognition dates.

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade debtors

0 – 30 days 374,790 253,872

31 – 60 days 264,081 115,077

61 – 90 days 107,186 35,820

Over 90 days 85,929 113,985

Receivables aged over 90 days with extended credit terms

Due within one year – 6,599
  

831,986 525,353
  

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount 

of RMB241,251,000 (2020: RMB118,310,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due 

balances, RMB69,986,000 (2020: RMB59,658,000) has been past due 90 days or more but are not considered as 

credit-impaired having regard to the historical repayment from the trade debtors, as well as forward-looking information that 

is available without undue cost or effort. Accordingly, the corresponding expected credit loss is insignificant. The Group 

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Before accepting any new distributor/customer, the Group uses an internal credit assessment policy to assess the potential 

distributor/customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by distributor/customer. Management closely monitors the credit 

quality of trade receivables and considers the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good 

credit quality.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in Note 48.
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29. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments to suppliers 86,077 90,870

Prepayments for rented premises, utilities and server 56,684 58,751

Refundable rental and guarantee deposits 77,278 77,035

Other receivables from agent for repurchasing the shares of the Company 19,941 65,645

Prepayment for convertible and exchangeable bonds interest 47,818 48,937

Prepayment for promotion expenses 21,447 20,088

Interest receivables 14,690 4,722

Other tax recoverable 68,115 60,675

Government grant receivables 62,712 –

Compensation receivables 10,137 –

Others 54,099 35,655
  

518,998 462,378
  

Analysed for financial reporting purpose:

Non-current 37,543 62,841

Current 481,455 399,537
  

518,998 462,378
  

Included in refundable rental and guarantee deposits, there are balances of:

(i) RMB31,543,000 (2020: RMB31,468,000) which represents prepayment and deposit for potential lease contracts 

paid to a related company 福州楊振華851生物工程技術研究開發有限公司 (Fuzhou Yangzhenhua 851 Bio-

Engineering Research Inc.) (“Fuzhou 851”).

(ii) RMB25,000,000 (2020: RMB25,000,000) which represents deposit for technical support service paid to 褔州天

亮網絡技術有限公司 (Fuzhou Tianliang Network Technology Co., Limited) as at 31 December 2021.

Details of the impairment assessment of other receivables are set out in Note 48.
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30. CONTRACT ASSETS

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Mobile solution, products and marketing services 10,501 10,619

Education equipment and related goods 1,191 1,617
  

11,692 12,236
  

As at 1 January 2020, contract assets amounted to RMB18,333,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to retention receivables on education equipment and related goods, and the Group’s 

right to consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights are conditional on the Group’s future 

performance in achieving specified milestones at the reporting date on the provision of mobile solution, products and 

marketing services. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in Note 48.

31. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

Amount due from a related company disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as 

follows:

Name of related 

company Terms

Balance at 

31 December 

2021

Balance at

31 December 

2020

Maximum

amount 

outstanding 

during 

the year

2021

Maximum 

amount 

outstanding 

during 

the year 

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

北京企航互動網絡科技

 有限公司(“北京企航”)

 (Note)

Unsecured, non-interest

 bearing and repayable

 on demand – 47 47 849
    

Note: 北京企航 is an entity wholly owned by Mr. Zheng Hui, who is the executive director of the Company.

Details of the impairment assessment of amount due from a related company are set out in Note 48.
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32. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the amounts due from joint ventures are not trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest 

bearing and repayable on demand.

Details of the impairment assessment of amounts due from joint ventures are set out in Note 48.

33. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK DEPOSITS WITH 
ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER THREE MONTHS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits with original maturity over three months and bank 

balances carry interest at prevailing banking deposit rates which ranges from 0.001% to 2.550% (2020: 0.001% to 

2.600%) per annum.

Details of the impairment assessment of restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits with original 

maturity over three months and bank balances are set out in Note 48.
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34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables (Note a) 681,135 361,934

Accrued staff costs 331,730 286,563

Government grants (Note b) 24,941 66,915

Receipt in advance 140 169

Other tax payables 28,352 25,713

Advertising payables 18,242 11,973

Payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment 104,930 115,222

Consultancy fee payables 7,215 15,137

Consideration payables 6,400 28,641

Payables for purchase of intangible assets – 10,230

Accrued expenses 156,252 106,327

Payable for share repurchase 7,381 12,780

Compensation payable 23,035 –

Others (Note c) 76,231 55,174
  

1,465,984 1,096,778
  

Analysed for financial reporting purpose:

 Current 1,455,221 1,091,369

 Non-current 10,763 5,409
  

1,465,984 1,096,778
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34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

Notes:

(a) The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 90 days 614,099 307,331

91 – 180 days 6,599 7,707

181 – 365 days 5,391 23,131

Over 365 days 55,046 23,765
  

681,135 361,934
  

(b) The amount represents government grants which are (i) the costs incurred by the Group in conducting and launching research and 

development projects in Fujian Province, the PRC, relating to compensation for development costs already incurred and (ii) the costs 

incurred by the Group for purchasing property, plant and equipment, which will recognise in profit or loss on a systematic basis 

over the estimated useful life of the property, plant and equipment related to the government grants on capital expenditure. The 

following table discloses the movement of government grants:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 66,915 43,634

Additions 9,346 180,899

Release to profit or loss during the year (51,320) (157,618)
  

At 31 December 24,941 66,915
  

Analysed for financial reporting purpose:

 Current 14,178 61,506

 Non-current 10,763 5,409
  

24,941 66,915
  

(c) Others mainly represent office and server service expenses payables and other miscellaneous items for operating activities.



ANNUAL REPORT 243

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

35. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Online and mobile games (Note i) 45,086 53,326

Education equipment and related goods (Note i) 222,620 214,547

Mobile solution, products and marketing services (Note i) 3,470 2,228

Educational services (Note i) 60,856 37,629

Property project (Note ii) 25,208 97,753
  

357,240 405,483
  

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to RMB529,497,000.

Notes:

(i) The contract liabilities include unutilised game points on online and mobile games, advance payments from customers for contracted 

education equipment and related goods, advance payments from customers for mobile solution, products and marketing services 

and advance payments from customers for educational services. The contract liabilities are transferred to revenue when customers 

control and receive the goods, services and benefits.

As at 31 December 2021, RMB64,000 and RMB45,022,000 (2020: RMB14,412,000 and RMB38,914,000) are contract 

liabilities in respect of unutilised game points relating to the sales through distributors and direct sales customers respectively.

(ii) The amount represents the pre-sale deposits and advance payment received from customers for property project prior to the 

respective properties have been completed and delivered to the customers which is a point in time when customers have the ability 

to direct the use of the properties and obtain substantially all the remaining benefits of the properties. The Group receives a fixed 

amount of RMB50,000 as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement. The deposits and advance 

payment schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property construction period until the customer obtains 

control of the completed property. The significant decrease in contract liabilities from the property project in the current year was 

due to sale of properties by the Group in 2021.

Revenue amounting to RMB280,233,000 recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 

RMB243,947,000) was included in contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the reporting period. There was no 

revenue recognised during the year that related to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.
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36. LEASE LIABILITIES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 63,571 56,224

Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years 57,866 50,384

Within a period of more than two years but not more than five years 36,303 63,304

Within a period of more than five years 1,201 2,765
  

158,941 172,677

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under current liabilities (63,571) (56,224)
  

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current liabilities 95,370 116,453
  

The effective interest rate on the Group’s lease liabilities was 5.20% (2020: 5.28%) during the year ended 31 December 

2021.

37. PROVISIONS

Warranty

RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 69,867

Additional provisions 28,858

Utilisation of provisions (24,387)

Exchange adjustments (2,837)
 

At 31 December 2020 71,501

Additional provisions 47,428

Utilisation of provisions (27,754)

Exchange adjustments (2,391)
 

At 31 December 2021 88,784
 

The Group provided warranty on its education equipment sold to its customers. The warranty provision is calculated by 

estimating the possible failure rates of the Promethean Group’s hardware, with the exception of projectors which are 

covered by a third party warranty. The length of warranty period ranges from one to seven years and varies depending on 

both the product and the country the product is sold to.

The timing and frequency of product failures are inherently uncertain and for this reason the warranty provision has been 

disclosed as current.
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38. AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE/A JOINT VENTURE

The amounts are trade in nature, aged within 90 days, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

39. CONVERTIBLE AND EXCHANGEABLE BONDS

On 9 March 2020, Best Assistant issued convertible and exchangeable bonds with an aggregate principal amount 

of USD150,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,038,900,000) to Nurture Education (Cayman) Limited (the “Investor”). 

Simultaneously, the Company issued unlisted warrants to the Investor in March 2020. The warrants shall entitle the Investor 

to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. The convertible and exchangeable bonds bear interest accruing at a rate 

of 5% per annum on the aggregate principal amount of the convertible and exchangeable bonds and will be due on the 

fifth anniversary from the bond issue date (“Maturity Date”). The convertible and exchangeable bonds are denominated in 

USD.

Convertible and exchangeable option

The convertible and exchangeable bonds are exercisable at the option of bondholders, in whole or in part and can either 

be (i) convertible into ordinary shares of Best Assistant at an initial conversion price of USD0.5367 per conversion share 

at any time and from time to time during the period from the conversion period; or (ii) exchangeable for ordinary shares of 

Promethean, a wholly owned subsidiary of Best Assistant and non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, at an initial 

exchange price of USD2.2146 per exchange share at any time and from time to time during the exchange period, in the 

event that Promethean pursues a qualified initial public offering which refers to a firmly underwritten initial public offering 

of ordinary shares of Promethean on an internationally recognised exchange with a minimum net proceeds and market 

capitalisation as set out in the terms and conditions of the convertible and exchangeable bonds. At initial recognition, the 

convertible and exchangeable option was classified as derivative financial instrument. The fair value of the convertible 

and exchangeable option was insignificant and the carrying amount is recognised as nil at initial recognition and at 31 

December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

Warrants

Simultaneously with the issue of the convertible and exchangeable bonds, the Company issued to the Investor the warrants 

with a subscription price of HKD21.1998 per share. The warrants are allotted to subscribe at any time and from time to 

time during the issue date to Maturity Date for up to 11,502,220 shares. At initial recognition, the warrants were classified 

as derivative financial instrument at a fair value of approximately RMB86,795,000.
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39. CONVERTIBLE AND EXCHANGEABLE BONDS (Cont’d)

Redemption

Best Assistant shall redeem the convertible and exchangeable bonds, upon the request of the Investor at any time on or after 

the occurrence of an early redemption event, or if not early redeemed, converted, exchanged or purchased and cancelled, 

on the Maturity Date, at an amount that would provide the bondholders with an amount equal to the redemption amount 

(i.e. an amount that would provide the bondholders an internal rate of return on the principal amount of the convertible and 

exchangeable bonds of 15% per annum, inclusive of all interest received on the principal amount of the convertible and 

exchangeable bonds). The early redemption event is contingent upon the occurrence of any of (i) the third anniversary from 

the bond issue date; or (ii) change of control of Best Assistant or Promethean; or (iii) a liquidity event. The early redemption 

option is considered as closely related to the host debt and is therefore accounted for as part of the amortised cost 

accounting of the host debt contract.

The effective interest rate of the debt host component is 16.62%. The movement of the debt host component of the 

convertible and exchangeable bonds for the year is set out as below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 992,116 –

Issue of convertible and exchangeable bonds, net of transaction costs – 948,093

Interest accrued 165,181 129,865

Settlement of interest (48,435) (25,641)

Exchange adjustments (23,988) (60,201)
  

1,084,874 992,116

Less: Interest payable within one year (shown under current liabilities) (15,000) (15,351)
  

Amount shown under non-current liabilities 1,069,874 976,765
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40. BANK BORROWINGS

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings are repayable*:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 365,300 121,774

Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years – 184,244

Within a period of more than two years but within five years – 6,829
  

365,300 312,847

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings that contain a repayable 

 on demand clause (shown under current liabilities) but repayable:

 Within one year 37,610 32,823
  

402,910 345,670

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (402,910) (154,597)
  

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities – 191,073
  

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings is as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Variable-rate borrowings 191,544 273,099

Fixed-rate borrowings 211,366 72,571
  

402,910 345,670
  

Secured 368,509 310,464

Unsecured 34,401 35,206
  

402,910 345,670
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40. BANK BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

The Group’s variable-rate borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2021 carry interest at (i) one-month HIBOR plus 

2.20% to 2.35% per annum, (ii) three-month Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield rate two business days prior to date of 

borrowing plus 1.50%, (iii) the United States Prime rate plus 0.5% or (iv) interest rate of 1.00% or 3.85% per annum.

The Group’s variable-rate borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2020 carry interest at (i) one-month HIBOR plus 

2.20% to 2.35% per annum, (ii) higher of twelve-month LIBOR plus 0.50% or 3.40% per annum, (iii) benchmark interest 

rate of three-year borrowings of the People’s Bank of China (“the PBC”) plus 0.10% to 0.35% per annum, (iv) benchmark 

interest rate of five-year borrowings of the PBC plus 0.10% per annum or (v) interest rate of 1.00% or 3.85% per annum.

The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:

2021 2020

Variable-rate borrowings 2.26% to 3.75% 2.30% to 5.20%

Fixed-rate borrowings 1.00% to 3.85% 1.00% to 3.85%

As at 31 December 2021, the borrowings were secured by a pledge of property of a subsidiary, right-of-use assets, 

corporate guarantee provided by the Company and corporate guarantee provided by its subsidiaries (2020: a pledged 

bank deposit, a pledge of property of a subsidiary, right-of-use assets, corporate guarantee provided by the Company and 

corporate guarantee provided by its subsidiaries).
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41. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

On 13 February 2015, Best Assistant, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company issued 180,914,513 

Series A convertible preferred shares of par value of USD0.001 each at an aggregate issue price of USD52,500,000 

(equivalent to approximately RMB321,762,000) to IDG-Accel China Growth Fund-L.P., IDG-Accel China Growth Fund-A 

L.P., IDG-Accel China Investors L.P. (which collectively own approximately 7.82% of the issued share capital of the 

Company, “IDG Investors”), Vertex Legacy Continuation Fund Pte Ltd. (“Vertex Legacy”), Hong Kong Alpha Group Limited 

(“Hong Kong Alpha”), Catchy Holdings Limited, DJM (in which Mr. Liu Dejian and Mr. Zheng Hui, executive directors and 

beneficial owners of the Company together have 100% equity interest), Creative Sky International Limited and NetDragon 

Websoft Inc. (“NetDragon BVI”), a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Series A convertible preferred 

shares are denominated in USD.

On 2 May 2018, Best Assistant issued 112,560,245 Series B convertible preferred shares of par value of USD0.001 

each at an aggregate issue price of USD122,500,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB780,713,000) to Fortis Advisors 

LLC as a consideration to acquire Edmodo. The Series B convertible preferred shares are denominated in USD.

Conversion

The Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares shall be converted, at the option of the holder thereof, at any 

time after the issue date of the convertible preferred shares, into ordinary shares of the subsidiary of the Company at 

the applicable conversion ratio which was initially one ordinary share for each convertible preferred share. The initial 

conversion ratio of 1:1 is subject to certain adjustments (such as proportional adjustment and anti-dilution adjustment).

The Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares shall be automatically converted into ordinary shares upon 

occurrence of an underwritten public offering of the ordinary shares of the subsidiary of the Company wherein the pre-

offering market capitalisation of the subsidiary of the Company is no less than USD1,000,000,000 and net proceeds to 

the subsidiary of the Company are in excess of USD100,000,000.

Dividends

The holders of the outstanding Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares shall be entitled to receive dividends, 

when, as and if declared by the board of the subsidiary of the Company, out of the funds lawfully available therefor, in 

preference and priority to any declaration or payment of any distribution on ordinary shares or other equity securities. The 

right to receive dividends on the Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares shall not be cumulative, and no rights to 

such dividends shall accrue to holders of convertible preferred shares.
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41. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES (Cont’d)

Liquidation

The holders of the Series A convertible preferred shares have preference over holders of ordinary shares and other equity 

securities with respect to payment of dividends and distribution of assets and funds upon liquidation of the subsidiary of 

the Company. The holders of the Series A convertible preferred shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equivalent to 

300% of the issue price of the Series A convertible preferred shares, plus all declared but unpaid dividends (the “Series A” 

preference amount).

The holders of the Series B convertible preferred shares shall be entitled to receive for each of the outstanding Series B 

convertible preferred shares held, an amount equal to the Series B adjusted price, plus all declared but unpaid dividends (the 

“Series B” preference amount). The Series B adjusted price means, at any given time, the Series B issue price by a fraction, 

(i) the numerator of which is equal to the original Series B value minus the aggregate indemnification claim amount, and (ii) 

the denominator of which is the original Series B value; provided that the Series B adjusted price will not be reduced below 

USD0.001 per share.

If the assets and funds thus distributed amount the preferred shareholders shall be insufficient for the full payment of the 

Series A and Series B preference amount to all the preferred shareholders, then the entire assets and funds of Best Assistant 

legally available for distribution shall be distributed rateably among the preferred shareholders in proportion to the 

aggregate preference amount each such preferred shareholder is otherwise entitled to receive.

The financial liability component of the Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares is classified as financial liabilities 

at FVTPL and is measured at fair value on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial 

recognition, the financial liability component of Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares is measured at fair value, 

with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value of the convertible preferred shares is nil.
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42. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 

shares Nominal value

USD RMB’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of USD0.01 each

At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and 

 31 December 2021 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 75,771
   

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of USD0.01 each

At 1 January 2020 530,594,816 5,305,948 38,822

Issue of new shares (Note i) 33,000,000 330,000 2,318

Shares issued upon exercise of share options (Note i) 345,700 3,457 24

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (Note ii) (2,920,000) (29,200) (213)
   

At 31 December 2020 561,020,516 5,610,205 40,951

Shares issued upon exercise of share options (Note i) 456,792 4,568 29

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (Note ii) (16,232,000) (162,320) (1,185)
   

At 31 December 2021 545,245,308 5,452,453 39,795
   

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, 456,792 (2020: 345,700) share options were exercised and as a result of 

456,792 (2020: 345,700) ordinary shares were issued. Approximately RMB29,000 (2020: RMB24,000) and RMB6,534,000 

(2020: RMB2,665,000) were recorded as share capital and share premium, respectively. During the year ended 31 December 

2020, 33,000,000 ordinary shares were issued to DJM which is wholly-owned by a controlling shareholder of the Company, 

Mr. Liu Dejian. Approximately RMB2,318,000 and RMB694,309,000 were recorded as share capital and share premium, 

respectively.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company repurchased 16,232,000 (2020: 2,920,000) of its own shares 

through purchases on the Stock Exchange. The shares had been cancelled upon being repurchased. The total amount incurred to 

acquire the shares was approximately RMB242,384,000 (2020: RMB43,308,000).
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 12 June 

2008. The Old Scheme has expired on 12 June 2018 and a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was 

approved and adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2018. 

Subject to early termination, the Old Scheme and the New Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 

years from 12 June 2008 and 24 May 2018, respectively. The purpose of the Old Scheme and the New Scheme 

is to provide the eligible participant (“Eligible Participants”) as defined in the Old Scheme and the New Scheme 

with the opportunity to acquire interests in the Company and to encourage the Eligible Participant to work towards 

enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. 

Eligible Participants of the Old Scheme and the New Scheme include employees, executives and officers of the 

members of the Group (including executive and non-executive directors of the members of the Group) and business 

consultants, agents and legal and financial advisers to the members of the Group whom the board of directors 

considers, in its sole discretion, will contribute or have contributed to the members of the Group.

At 31 December 2021, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained 

outstanding under the Old Scheme was 1,358,917 (31 December 2020: 2,111,384), representing 0.25% (31 

December 2020: 0.38%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. As at the date of this report, the number 

of securities of the Company available for issue under the New Scheme was 47,041,969 (31 December 2020: 

47,041,969), representing approximately 8.63% (31 December 2020: 8.39%) of the issued share capital of the 

Company as at the date of this report. The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under 

the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior 

approval from the Company’s shareholders. However, the total maximum number of the shares which may be issued 

upon exercise of all outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from 

time to time. The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible 

Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total 

number of shares in issue as at the date of grant. Where any further grant of options to an Eligible Participant would 

result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all the options granted and to be granted 

to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including 

the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the total number of shares in issue, such further 

grant must be separately approved by the shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible Participant and his close 

associates (or his associates if the Eligible Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting. Options granted 

to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their respective 

associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based 

on the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange at 

the date of the grant) in excess of HKD5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval 

in advance in a general meeting.



ANNUAL REPORT 253

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal 

consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. Options may be exercised at any time for a period determined by 

its directors which shall not be later than the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. 

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but 

the board of directors of the Company is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time 

of grant of any particular option. The exercise price of the share options must be at least the highest of (i) the nominal 

value of an ordinary share on the date of grant; (ii) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily 

quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of the share options; and (iii) the average closing 

price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days 

immediately preceding the date of the offer.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Batch 1:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

28 April 2011 28 April 2011 – 

27 April 2012

28 April 2012 – 

27 April 2021 – 1,440

28 April 2011 28 April 2011 – 

27 April 2013

28 April 2013 – 

27 April 2021 – 8,427

28 April 2011 28 April 2011 – 

27 April 2014

28 April 2014 – 

27 April 2021 – 28,825

28 April 2011 28 April 2011 – 

27 April 2015

28 April 2015 – 

27 April 2021 – 25,875

28 April 2011 28 April 2011 – 

27 April 2016

28 April 2016 – 

27 April 2021 – 277,300
  

– 341,867
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

Batch 2:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

22 July 2011 22 July 2011 – 

21 July 2013

22 July 2013 – 

21 July 2021 – 101

22 July 2011 22 July 2011 – 

21 July 2014

22 July 2014 – 

21 July 2021 – 5,500

22 July 2011 22 July 2011 – 

21 July 2015

22 July 2015 – 

21 July 2021 – 2,399
  

– 8,000
  

Batch 3:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

23 April 2012 23 April 2012 – 

22 April 2013

23 April 2013 – 

22 April 2022 5,167 5,167

23 April 2012 23 April 2012 – 

22 April 2014

23 April 2014 – 

22 April 2022 9,225 10,950

23 April 2012 23 April 2012 – 

22 April 2015

23 April 2015 – 

22 April 2022 12,300 17,000

23 April 2012 23 April 2012 – 

22 April 2016

23 April 2016 – 

22 April 2022 24,625 39,500

23 April 2012 23 April 2012 – 

22 April 2017

23 April 2017 – 

22 April 2022 34,350 54,900
  

85,667 127,517
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

Batch 4:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

12 September 2012 12 September 2012 – 

11 September 2013

12 September 2013 – 

11 September 2022 4,200 4,200

12 September 2012 12 September 2012 – 

11 September 2014

12 September 2014 – 

11 September 2022 6,300 6,300

12 September 2012 12 September 2012 – 

11 September 2015

12 September 2015 – 

11 September 2022 8,400 8,400

12 September 2012 12 September 2012 – 

11 September 2016

12 September 2016 – 

11 September 2022 14,250 14,250

12 September 2012 12 September 2012 – 

11 September 2017

12 September 2017 – 

11 September 2022 17,100 17,100
  

50,250 50,250
  

Batch 5:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

16 January 2013 16 January 2013 – 

15 January 2014

16 January 2014 – 

15 January 2023 3,350 3,350

16 January 2013 16 January 2013 – 

15 January 2015

16 January 2015 – 

15 January 2023 5,025 5,025

16 January 2013 16 January 2013 – 

15 January 2016

16 January 2016 – 

15 January 2023 6,700 25,300

16 January 2013 16 January 2013 – 

15 January 2017

16 January 2017 – 

15 January 2023 8,875 38,125

16 January 2013 16 January 2013 – 

15 January 2018

16 January 2018 – 

15 January 2023 24,550 59,450
  

48,500 131,250
  



ANNUAL REPORT256

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

Batch 6:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

4 December 2013 4 December 2013 – 

3 December 2014

4 December 2014 – 

3 December 2023 159,000 159,000

4 December 2013 4 December 2013 – 

3 December 2015

4 December 2015 – 

3 December 2023 238,500 238,500

4 December 2013 4 December 2013 – 

3 December 2016

4 December 2016 – 

3 December 2023 477,000 477,000
  

874,500 874,500
  

Batch 7:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

25 April 2014 25 April 2014 –  

31 December 2016

1 January 2017 –  

24 April 2024 – 139,000

25 April 2014 25 April 2014 –  

31 December 2017

1 January 2018 –  

24 April 2024 – 139,000
  

– 278,000
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

Batch 8:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 – 

30 March 2018

31 March 2018 – 

30 March 2027 75,000 75,000

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 – 

30 March 2019

31 March 2019 – 

30 March 2027 75,000 75,000

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 – 

30 March 2020

31 March 2020 – 

30 March 2027 150,000 150,000
  

300,000 300,000
  

Batch 9:

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

24 January 2020 24 January 2020 – 

23 January 2021

24 January 2021 – 

23 January 2030 1,349,000 1,599,000

24 January 2020 24 January 2020 – 

23 January 2022

24 January 2022 – 

23 January 2030 1,349,000 1,599,000

24 January 2020 24 January 2020 – 

23 January 2023

24 January 2023 – 

23 January 2030 1,352,000 1,602,000

24 January 2020 24 January 2020 – 

23 January 2024

24 January 2024 – 

23 January 2030 1,250,000 1,500,000
  

5,300,000 6,300,000
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

The following table discloses the movement of the share options during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Exercise Outstanding at Outstanding at

price 1 January Granted Exercised Forfeited 31 December

Option batch HKD 2021 during year during year during year 2021

Batch 1 4.80 341,867 – (46,192) (295,675) –

Batch 2 4.60 8,000 – (8,000) – –

Batch 3 5.74 127,517 – (41,850) – 85,667

Batch 4 7.20 50,250 – – – 50,250

Batch 5 11.16 131,250 – (82,750) – 48,500

Batch 6 15.72 874,500 – – – 874,500

Batch 7 14.66 278,000 – (278,000) – –

Batch 8 23.65 300,000 – – – 300,000

Batch 9 21.07 6,300,000 – – (1,000,000) 5,300,000
     

8,411,384 – (456,792) (1,295,675) 6,658,917
     

Exercisable at the end 

 of the year 2021 2,707,917
 

Weighted average 

 exercise price HKD19.25 HKD20.11
  



ANNUAL REPORT 259

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

The following table discloses the movement of the share options during the year ended 31 December 2020:

Exercise Outstanding at Outstanding at

price 1 January Granted Exercised Forfeited 31 December

Option batch HKD 2020 during year during year during year 2020

Batch 1 4.80 341,867 – – – 341,867

Batch 2 4.60 8,000 – – – 8,000

Batch 3 5.74 430,017 – (302,500) – 127,517

Batch 4 7.20 50,250 – – – 50,250

Batch 5 11.16 174,450 – (43,200) – 131,250

Batch 6 15.72 874,500 – – – 874,500

Batch 7 14.66 278,000 – – – 278,000

Batch 8 23.65 300,000 – – – 300,000

Batch 9 21.07 – 6,300,000 – – 6,300,000
     

2,457,084 6,300,000 (345,700) – 8,411,384
     

Exercisable at the end  

 of the year 2020 2,111,384
 

Weighted average 

 exercise price HKD12.77 HKD19.25
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i) Equity-settled share option scheme (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 6,300,000 share options were granted on 24 January 2020. The 

estimated fair value of the share options granted on that date was approximately RMB56,249,000. The fair value 

was calculated using the Binomial option pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Closing price of the Company’s shares on grant date HKD20.20

Exercise price HKD21.07

Risk-free interest rate 1.511%

Expected volatility 50.604%

Expected dividend yield 1.485%

Expected volatility was determined by reference to the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded 

rates of return on the daily average adjusted share price.

The weighted average remaining contractual lives of the Company’s share options as at 31 December 2021 is 6.93 

years (2020: 7.51 years). The exercise prices of the Company’s share options outstanding as at 31 December 

2021 range from HKD5.74 to HKD23.65 (2020: HKD4.8 to HKD23.65).

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB11,472,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 

RMB27,760,000), in relation to share options granted by the Company.
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(ii) Share award scheme by the Company

Pursuant to a circular to shareholders of the Company dated 3 September 2008, the Company introduced a share 

award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), whereby eligible participants are conferred rights by the Company to 

be issued or transferred fully-paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Award”).

The rationale of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise the contributions by certain employees and to provide 

incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable 

personnel for further development of the Group. The selected employee are not required to pay for the grant of the 

Award or for the shares allotted or allocated pursuant to the Award.

The aggregate number of the Award is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company from 

time to time. The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a selected employee under the Share Award 

Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The eligibility of employees to participate in the Share Award Scheme and number of shares which are the subject 

of each Award at each date of grant to a selected employee in accordance with the Share Award Scheme shall 

be determined at the absolute discretion of the committee, which comprised the directors of the Company duly 

appointed by the board of directors to administer the Share Award Scheme (the “Committee”), which shall take into 

consideration various factors including the general financial condition of the Group, the rank and performance of 

the relevant employee and such other general criteria as the Committee may consider appropriate as well as other 

limitations set forth under the Listing Rules and those rules of the Share Award Scheme.

In determining the number of shares to be awarded each year, the Committee shall have reference to the financial 

performance of the Group as reflected in the profit before taxation of the financial year.

The grant of the Award to the selected employee shall be accepted by the selected employee within 28 days from 

the date of offer. The selected employee may accept or refuse the whole but not part of a grant of the Award. If the 

grant of the Award is not accepted by the selected employee within 28 days from the date of offer, the offer shall 

upon the expiry of the 28 days period automatically lapse and shall be null and void.

Performance conditions (the “Performance Conditions”) refers to the condition or conditions imposed by the Company 

on the selected employee’s employment with the Company which must be fulfilled or satisfied by the selected 

employee prior to his eligibility for the Award. Performance period refers to the period of a participant employment 

with the Group which is used to assess the selected employee’s work performance for the purpose of determining the 

grant of the selected employee’s award.
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(ii) Share award scheme by the Company (Cont’d)

The current Performance Conditions proposed by the Committee is that shares will only be vested to the employees 

after rendering services for certain period. Each employee needs to render the agreed period of service in order to 

be entitled to the shares granted.

Fair value of the Award at the grant date is determined by reference to the market price immediately available upon 

the grant date. The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately RMB2,372,000 for the year ended 31 

December 2021 (2020: approximately RMB4,283,000 in relation to share awards.

Movements in the share awards granted during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Outstanding at Awards Outstanding at

Name of category 1 January Granted vested Forfeited 31 December

of participant Date of grant 2021 during year during year during year 2021

Other employees 19 April 2018 340,320 – (112,790) (79,450) 148,080

Director 19 April 2018 436,320 – (190,890) (27,270) 218,160

Director 26 March 2021 – 120,000 (120,000) – –
     

776,640 120,000 (423,680) (106,720) 366,240
     

Year ended 31 December 2020

Outstanding at Awards Outstanding at

Name of category 1 January Granted vested Forfeited 31 December

of participant Date of grant 2020 during year during year during year 2020

Other employees 19 April 2018 676,800 – (127,430) (209,050) 340,320

Director 19 April 2018 654,480 – (190,890) (27,270) 436,320

Director 13 January 2020 – 120,000 (120,000) – –
     

1,331,280 120,000 (438,320) (236,320) 776,640
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(ii) Share award scheme by the Company (Cont’d)

Among the Award granted on 19 April 2018, 303,680 share awards were vested during the year ended 31 

December 2021 (2020: 318,320 share awards). 366,240 share awards will be vested on 30 April 2022. 

106,720 share awards were forfeited during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Among the Award granted on 13 January 2020, 120,000 share awards were granted and vested during the year 

ended 31 December 2020.

Among the Award granted on 26 March 2021, 120,000 share awards were granted and vested during the year 

ended 31 December 2021.

(iii) Share awarded by a subsidiary of the Company

On 7 August 2012, Best Assistant adopted a share award scheme as amended on 13 February 2015 (the “Best 

Assistant Share Award Scheme”) in which selected participants include senior management employees of Best 

Assistant Group, consultants to Best Assistant Group employed by any member of the Company, its associated 

companies or their subsidiaries (excluding Best Assistant Group) and any person who contributes to the development 

of Best Assistant Group which has been certified and determined by the board of directors of Best Assistant with the 

affirmative vote of one director appointed by IDG Investors, Vertex Legacy or Hong Kong Alpha.

Subject to early termination, the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten 

years commencing on 7 August 2012. Best Assistant may also transfer shares awarded under the Best Assistant 

Share Award Scheme whether vested or unvested to other trusts and if there is a change in control of Best Assistant, 

all awarded shares shall immediately be vested. The board of directors of Best Assistant may also waive any vesting 

conditions with the affirmative vote of one director appointed by IDG Investors, Vertex Legacy or Hong Kong Alpha. 

The maximum number of shares which may be granted to the participants under the Best Assistant Share Award 

Scheme shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total issued share capital of Best Assistant from time to time or such 

number of shares as determined by the board of directors of Best Assistant with the affirmative vote of one director 

appointed by IDG Investors, Vertex Legacy or Hong Kong Alpha.
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43. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(iii) Share awarded by a subsidiary of the Company (Cont’d)

Pursuant to the rules of the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme, Best Assistant has signed an agreement with the 

trustee, for the purpose of administering the Best Assistant Share Award Scheme and holding the awarded shares 

before they are vested.

Subject to, inter alia, the receipt by the trustee of (i) the prescribed transfer documents duly signed by the selected 

participants within the period stipulated in the vesting notices; and (ii) confirmation from Best Assistant that all vesting 

conditions having been fulfilled, the awarded shares will be transferred to the selected participants at nil consideration 

upon vesting.

Among the share awards granted by Best Assistant on 1 July 2018, 600,000 share awards were granted and 

120,000, 120,000, 120,000 and 120,000 share awards were vested on 1 July 2018, 1 July 2019, 1 July 

2020 and 1 July 2021, respectively. 120,000 share awards will be vested on 1 July 2022.

Among the share awards granted by Best Assistant on 1 July 2019, 400,000 share awards were granted and 

80,000, 80,000 and 80,000 share awards were vested on 1 July 2019, 1 July 2020 and 1 July 2021, 

respectively. 80,000 and 80,000 share awards will be vested on 1 July 2022 and 1 July 2023, respectively.

Fair value of the share award at the grant date is estimated using a discounted cash flow model, which included 

some assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices or rates upon the grant date. The Group 

recognised the total expenses of approximately RMB41,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 

RMB82,000) in relation to the share awards.
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of 成都掌沃

On 31 December 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with independent third parties to acquire 52.65% equity 

interests of 成都掌沃 with consideration of RMB25,800,000. 成都掌沃 is engaged in development of online and mobile 

games in the PRC and was acquired with the objective of expanding the Group’s business in the PRC. The transaction 

was completed on 8 May 2020. The acquisition had been accounted for as acquisition of business using the acquisition 

method.

Consideration transferred

RMB’000

Consideration paid 11,531

Other payable 14,269
 

Total 25,800
 

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RMB’000

Non-current assets

Equipment 34

Intangible assets 27,598

Current assets

Trade receivables 670

Other receivable, prepayment and deposit 733

Bank balances 6,394

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals (14,556)

Borrowing from a shareholder (3,500)

Non-current liability

Deferred tax liability (4,133)
 

Net assets acquired 13,240
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 成都掌沃 (Cont’d)

The fair values of the above identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were based on estimation used by the management 

of the Group with reference to valuation carried out by an independent professional valuer. Key assumptions and estimation 

used by the management included terminal value, discount rates and growth rates in the preparation of the discounted cash 

flows.

The fair values of trade receivables and other receivables were RMB670,000 and RMB733,000 respectively, which were 

also the gross contractual amounts of these receivables acquired. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual 

cash flows expected to be collected was the then entire outstanding amounts.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interest (47.35%) in 成都掌沃 recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the 

proportionate share of recognised amounts of identifiable net assets of 成都掌沃 and amounted to RMB6,270,000.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of 成都掌沃

RMB’000

Consideration transferred 25,800

Add: Non-controlling interests 6,270

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (13,240)
 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 18,830
 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of 成都掌沃 because the acquisition included the assembled workforce of 成都掌

沃. This benefit could not be separately recognised from goodwill because they did not meet the recognition criteria for 

identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to be deductible for tax purpose.
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 成都掌沃 (Cont’d)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of 成都掌沃

RMB’000

Consideration paid in cash 11,531

Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (6,394)
 

5,137
 

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for year ended 31 December 2020 was the loss of RMB788,000 attributable to the additional 

business generated by 成都掌沃. Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 attributable to the additional business 

generated by 成都掌沃 approximated RMB10,114,000.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2020, revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 of the Group 

would have been RMB6,138,114,000, and the profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been 

RMB913,748,000. The proforma information was for illustrative purpose only and was not necessarily an indication of 

revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed 

at the beginning of the year, nor was it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had 成都掌沃 been acquired at the beginning of the year, 

the directors of the Company calculated depreciation and amortisation of equipment based on the recognised amounts of 

equipment at the date of acquisition.
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 101 Cayman, 101 Education Technology Co. Ltd., 101 Education Technology (Hong Kong) Co. 

Limited and 福建創思教育科技有限公司 (“福建創思教育”) (collectively referred to as “101 Education Group”)

Before the acquisition, Best Assistant, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, held 49% equity interests 

in 101 Education Group. During the year ended 31 December 2020, Best Assistant entered into agreements with the 

existing shareholders of 101 Cayman to acquire the remaining 51% equity interests of 101 Cayman, with the objective of 

expanding the Group’s education business, with aggregate consideration of USD566,000 (equivalent to approximately 

RMB3,796,000). The consideration was settled by cash of USD566,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB3,796,000) 

and 10,810,741 ordinary shares of Best Assistant with fair value of USDNil (equivalent to approximately RMBNil). The 

transaction was completed on 2 November 2020. 101 Education Group is engaged in provision of online education 

and related application business. The acquisition had been accounted for as acquisition of business using the acquisition 

method.

Consideration transferred

RMB’000

Cash 3,796

Issue of 10,810,741 ordinary shares of Best Assistant –
 

3,796
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 101 Cayman, 101 Education Technology Co. Ltd., 101 Education Technology (Hong Kong) Co. 

Limited and 福建創思教育科技有限公司 (“福建創思教育”) (collectively referred to as “101 Education Group”) (Cont’d)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RMB’000

Non-current asset

Equipment 27

Current assets

Inventories 3,561

Other receivable, prepayment and deposit 3,620

Bank balances 14,733

Current liabilities

Trade payables (7)

Other payables and accruals (1,698)
 

Net assets acquired 20,236
 

The fair values of other receivables was RMB3,614,000, which was also the gross contractual amount of the receivables 

acquired. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows expected to be collected was the then entire 

outstanding amounts.

Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of 101 Education Group

RMB’000

Consideration transferred 3,796

Add: Interests in associates 9,916

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (20,236)
 

Bargain purchase gain on acquisition (6,524)
 

Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of 101 Education Group was recognised in profit or loss for the year. The Group 

becoming the new controlling shareholder of 101 Education Group was expected to strengthen its capital base, meet its 

working capital requirements and facilitate its future business development and expansion. In the opinion of the directors of 

the Company, the above were the key factors leading to the recognition of the bargain purchase gain.
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 101 Cayman, 101 Education Technology Co. Ltd., 101 Education Technology (Hong Kong) Co. 

Limited and 福建創思教育科技有限公司 (“福建創思教育”) (collectively referred to as “101 Education Group”) (Cont’d)

Net cash inflow on acquisition of 101 Education Group

RMB’000

Consideration paid in cash equivalent 3,796

Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (14,733)
 

(10,937)
 

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 was the loss of RMB89,000 attributable to the additional 

business generated by 101 Education Group. Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 attributable to the 

additional business generated by 101 Education Group approximated RMB264,000.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2020, revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 of the Group 

would have been RMB6,137,829,000, and the profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been 

RMB908,626,000. The proforma information was for illustrative purpose only and was not necessarily an indication of 

revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed 

at the beginning of the year, nor was it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had 101 Education Group been acquired at the beginning 

of the year, the directors of the Company calculated depreciation and amortisation of equipment based on the recognised 

amounts of equipment at the date of acquisition.
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Acquisition of 福建一零一教育科技有限公司 (“福建一零一教育”)

Before the acquisition, the Group held 49% equity interests of 福建一零一教育. On 21 February 2020, the Group entered 

into an agreement with an existing shareholder to acquire 45% equity interests of 福建一零一教育 with cash consideration 

of RMB14,000. Upon the completion of the acquisition, 福建一零一教育 becomes a subsidiary of the Group with 6% 

non-controlling interests. 福建一零一教育 is engaged in provision of online education and related application business 

and was acquired with the objective to expand the Group’s education business. The transaction was completed on 28 

December 2020. The acquisition had been accounted for as acquisition of business using the acquisition method.

Consideration transferred

RMB’000

Consideration paid 14
 

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RMB’000

Non-current asset

Equipment 78

Current assets

Inventories 60

Loan receivables 7

Other receivable, prepayment and deposit 826

Bank balances 1,599

Current liability

Other payables and accruals (2,911)
 

Net liabilities acquired (341)
 

The fair values of other receivables was RMB826,000, which was also the gross contractual amounts of these receivables 

acquired. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows expected to be collected was the then entire 

outstanding amounts.
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 福建一零一教育科技有限公司 (“福建一零一教育”) (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interest (6.0%) in 福建一零一教育 recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the 

proportionate share of recognised amounts of identifiable net liabilities of 福建一零一教育 and amounted to RMB20,000.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of 福建一零一教育

RMB’000

Consideration transferred 14

Less: Non-controlling interests (20)

   Fair value of previously held equity interest in 福建一零一教育 –

Add: Fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired 341
 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 335
 

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to be deductible for tax purpose.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of 福建一零一教育

RMB’000

Consideration paid in cash 14

Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (1,599)
 

(1,585)
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of 福建一零一教育科技有限公司 (“福建一零一教育”) (Cont’d)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

No loss or profit from 福建一零一教育 was included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2020. No revenue 

from 福建一零一教育 was generated for the year ended 31 December 2020 and therefore no revenue from 福建一零一

教育 was included in the Group’s revenue since the acquisition.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2020, profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 of the Group 

would have been RMB917,592,000. The proforma information was for illustrative purpose only and was not necessarily 

an indication of results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been 

completed at the beginning of the year, nor was it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had 福建一零一教育 been acquired at the beginning of 

the year, the directors of the Company calculated depreciation and amortisation of equipment based on the recognised 

amounts of equipment at the date of acquisition.

45. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of 北京網中軟件科技有限公司 (“北京網中”)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with independent third parties to 

acquire 90% equity interests of 北京網中 with cash consideration of RMB50,000,000. The transaction was completed on 

8 January 2020.

The transaction was accounted for as acquisition of assets by the Group as it did not constitute an acquisition of business 

because no input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs had been 

acquired by the Group.
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45. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont’d)

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of 北京網中軟件科技有限公司 (“北京網中”) (Cont’d)

Consideration transferred

RMB’000

Consideration paid 43,000

Other payable 7,000
 

Total 50,000
 

Asset and non-controlling interest recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RMB’000

Non-current asset

Intangible assets 55,556

Current asset

Other receivable, prepayment and deposit 950

Non-controlling interests (6,506)
 

50,000
 

Intangible assets represent the acquired software copyright for producing office software from the acquisition of 北京網中.

Cash outflow arising in the acquisition of 北京網中

RMB’000

Consideration paid in cash 43,000
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46. SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 167,871 167,871

Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,162,447 1,477,469
  

2,330,318 1,645,340
  

Current assets

Other receivables and prepayment 20,350 66,220

Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,085,277 1,050,802

Bank balances 77,018 32,046
  

1,182,645 1,149,068
  

Current liabilities

Other payables 40,796 46,293

Amounts due to subsidiaries 307,810 1,894

Derivative financial instruments 42,565 40,894
  

391,171 89,081
  

Net current assets 791,474 1,059,987
  

Net assets 3,121,792 2,705,327
  

Capital and reserves

Share capital 39,795 40,951

Share premium and reserves 3,081,997 2,664,376
  

3,121,792 2,705,327
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46. SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

Movement in the Company’s reserves:

Employee

Capital Treasury share-based

Share redemption Other Dividend share compensation Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 1,565,863 6,652 (2,219) 118,824 (25,841) 29,033 44,291 1,736,603
        

Profit and total comprehensive 

 income for the year – – – – – – 497,586 497,586
        

Issue of new shares 694,309 – – – – – – 694,309

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (43,095) 213 – – – – (213) (43,095)

Shares issued upon exercise of 

 share options 2,665 – – – – (665) – 2,000

Recognition of equity-settled 

 share-based payments – – – – – 35,109 – 35,109

Awarded shares forfeited – – – – – (3,066) – (3,066)

Awarded shares vested to employees – – – – 6,706 (7,580) 874 –

Final dividend for 2019 paid – – – (118,824) – – (7,466) (126,290)

Interim dividend for 2020 

 declared and paid – – – – – – (128,780) (128,780)

Final dividend for 2020 proposed – – – 118,044 – – (118,044) –
        

At 31 December 2020 2,219,742 6,865 (2,219) 118,044 (19,135) 52,831 288,248 2,664,376
        

Profit and total comprehensive 

 income for the year – – – – – – 942,824 942,824
        

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (241,199) 1,185 – – – – (1,185) (241,199)

Shares issued upon exercise of 

 share options 6,534 – – – – (2,046) – 4,488

Recognition of equity-settled 

 share-based payments – – – – – 18,904 – 18,904

Awarded shares and share options 

 forfeited – – – – – (11,841) 6,781 (5,060)

Awarded shares vested to employees – – – – 6,482 (7,001) 519 –

Final dividend for 2020 paid – – – (118,044) – – 944 (117,100)

Interim dividend for 2021 

 declared and paid – – – – – – (185,236) (185,236)

Special interim dividend 

 for 2021 proposed – – – 632,197 – – (632,197) –

Final dividend for 2021 proposed – – – 178,317 – – (178,317) –
        

At 31 December 2021 1,985,077 8,050 (2,219) 810,514 (12,653) 50,847 242,381 3,081,997
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47. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank borrowings and equity attributable to owners of 

the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the directors consider 

the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued share capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure 

through the payment of dividends as well as issue new shares or return capital to owners.

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost 5,425,500 5,034,301

Equity instruments at FVTOCI 8,105 10,808

Financial assets at FVTPL 267,930 286,975
  

5,701,535 5,332,084
  

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 2,413,289 1,953,053

Convertible preferred shares at FVTPL – –

Derivative financial instruments 42,565 40,894
  

2,455,854 1,993,947
  

Lease liabilities 158,941 172,677
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, amount due from 

a related company, amounts due from joint ventures, loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables, refundable 

rental deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits with original maturity over three months, 

bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amount due to an associate, amount due to a joint venture, bank 

borrowings, lease liabilities, convertible preferred shares, derivative financial instruments and convertible and exchangeable 

bonds. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 

instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these 

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. There has been no significant 

change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the PRC, the USA and the UK. Most of its monetary assets, liabilities and transactions 

are principally denominated in the functional currency of respective group entities, which is RMB, USD and Great 

Britain Pound (“GBP”). However, the Group also has operations in Hong Kong, Australia and Europe and the 

business transactions conducted in these areas during the year were mainly denominated and settled in HKD, 

Australian dollar (“AUD”) and European dollar (“EURO”) respectively. The Group currently does not have hedging 

policy in respect of the foreign currency risk. However, the management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure 

to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s major foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities (including 

loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank 

deposits with original maturity over three months, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, lease liabilities 

and bank borrowings) at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2021 2020 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

HKD 91,848 105,064 62,273 65,713

USD 759,677 1,350,445 1,086,403 1,124,227

GBP 613 282 – –

AUD 2,295 2,091 – –

EURO 82,633 21,282 762 1,184
    

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity analysis to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against HKD, USD, 

GBP, AUD or EURO. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 

personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 

translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase 

in post-tax profit where RMB strengthen 5% against relevant foreign currencies and vice versa. For a 5% weakening 

of RMB against the relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit/

loss and vice versa.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Post-tax profit/loss

HKD (1,109) (1,476)

USD 12,252 (8,483)

GBP (23) (11)

AUD (86) (78)

EURO (3,070) (754)
  

(ii) Interest rate risk

The interest income is derived from the Group’s trade receivables, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, 

bank deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances that carry interest at the respective banking 

deposit rate of the banks located in the PRC and Hong Kong and loan receivables.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loan receivables (Note 22), lease liabilities 

(Note 36), convertible and exchangeable bonds (Note 39) and bank borrowings (Note 40).

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate restricted bank balances, pledged 

bank deposits, bank deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances (Note 33), variable-rate 

loan receivables (Note 22) and variable-rate bank borrowings (Note 40) carried at prevailing banking deposit 

rate. The cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR (2020: HIBOR, LIBOR 

and benchmark interest rate of the PBC) arising from the Group’s bank borrowings. The Group aims at keeping 

borrowings at variable rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising 

from any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The management will review the proportion 

of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of 

some interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Several of the Group’s HIBOR bank 

loans may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average 

(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate 

approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group is still assessing 

the impact of the interest rate benchmark reform and has not yet determined whether to retain the bank loans 

under HIBOR until the maturity date. The Group will closely monitor the market and managing the transition to new 

benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate 

borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the variable-rate borrowings 

outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2020: 50 

basis points) increase or decrease in HIBOR is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 

personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were 

held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by 

RMB718,000 (2020: RMB1,024,000).
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due 

to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised 

financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk of trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables, refundable rental deposits and 

loan receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit 

approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, 

the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs 

impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances based on provision matrix, and trade receivables and contract 

assets which are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The credit risk on restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits with original maturity over three months 

and bank balances are limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international 

credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks located in the PRC. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that 

the ECL on these balances is insignificant.

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of the associates, joint ventures and related companies. The 

Group’s credit risks in these balances are mitigated through the value of the assets held by these entities and the power 

to participate or jointly control the relevant activities of these entities. The directors of the Company believe that there are 

no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based 

on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the ECL for these balances were 

insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with good credit ratings and there is no 

significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets with 

exposure spreading over a number of counterparties and customers.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal

credit rating Description

Trade receivables/

contract assets

Other financial assets/

other items

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and

 does not have any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 12m ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates 

 but usually settle in full

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk

 since initial recognition through information

 developed internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in

 severe financial difficulty and the Group has

 no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s trade receivables, other receivables, loan receivables, 

amount due from a related company, amounts due from joint ventures, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, 

bank deposits with original maturity over three months, bank balances and contract assets which are subject to ECL 

assessment:
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost

External Internal

credit credit 12m or 2021 2020

Notes rating rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Loan receivables 22 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 30,427 32,463

Trade receivables 28 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 845,342 536,455

Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 12,908 858,250 17,948 554,403
  

Other receivables 29 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 204,021 166,349

Contract assets 30 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 11,692 12,236

Amount due from a

 related company 31 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL – 47

Amounts due from

 joint ventures 32 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 2,945 974

Restricted bank balances 33 IG* N/A 12m ECL 7,828 15,611

Pledged bank deposits 33 IG* N/A 12m ECL 1,047 146,073

Bank deposits with original

 maturity over three months 33 IG* N/A 12m ECL 630,000 33,021

Bank balances 33 IG* N/A 12m ECL 3,717,174 4,114,333

* Investment Grade – The Standard & Poor’s rating of the Group’s significant bank accounts.

Notes:

1. In determining the ECL for loan receivables, other receivables, amount due from a related company and amounts due from joint 

ventures, the management of the Group has taken into account the historical default experience and forward-looking information, as 

appropriate. The Group has considered the consistently low historical default rate in connection with payments, and concluded that 

credit risk inherent in these Group’s outstanding balances is insignificant. Accordingly, no loss allowance on ECL was provided for 

these assets.

2. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance 

at lifetime ECL. Except for credit-impaired debtors, the Group determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, 

grouped by internal credit rating.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Cont’d)

Provision matrix for trade receivables and contract assets – internal credit rating

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers on trade receivables 

and contract assets which are assessed based on provision matrix as at 31 December 2021 within lifetime ECL. The 

following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets which are 

assessed based on provision matrix as at 31 December 2021 within lifetime ECL. Trade receivables with credit-impaired 

with gross carrying amount of RMB12,908,000 (2020: RMB17,948,000) as at 31 December 2021 were assessed 

individually. As disclosed in Note 28, out of the past due balances, RMB69,986,000 (2020: RMB59,658,000) has 

been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as credit-impaired and considered as recoverable due to long term 

and on-going relationship with good repayment record from these customers based on historical experience.

Gross carrying amount

2021 2020

Average Trade Average Trade

loss rate receivables loss rate receivables

RMB’000 RMB’000

Low risk 0.17% 604,091 0.14% 418,144

Watch list 0.29% 200,278 0.50% 69,512

Doubtful 28.68% 40,973 20.83% 48,799
  

845,342 536,455
  

2021 2020

Average Contract Average Contract

loss rate assets loss rate assets

RMB’000 RMB’000

Low risk 1.15% 11,692 1.07% 12,236
  

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and 

are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Cont’d)

The management of the Group assessed the expected loss on trade receivables by estimation based on historical credit loss 

experience, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment both the current 

as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that 

trade receivables with gross carrying amount of RMB845,342,000 (2020: RMB536,455,000) are not credit-impaired, 

as for they are still considered fully recoverable due to long term/on-going relationship and good repayment record from 

these customers. Accordingly, RMB13,356,000 (2020: RMB11,102,000) loss allowance on ECL for trade receivables 

based on provision matrix is recognised as at 31 December 2021. However, gross carrying amount amounted of 

RMB12,908,000 (2020: RMB17,948,000) of the balance of trade receivables are considered as credit-impaired as for 

there is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired as at 31 December 2021.

No loss allowance on ECL for contract assets based on provision matrix is recognised during the years ended 31 

December 2021 and 2020 as the amount is considered as insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group provided RMB6,598,000 (2020: reversed RMB7,680,000) 

impairment allowance for trade receivables, based on the provision matrix. Impairment allowance of RMB1,802,000 

(2020: RMB6,078,000) were made on credit-impaired debtors.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Cont’d)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables.

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime

ECL (credit-

impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2020 18,890 12,690 31,580

Impairment losses recognised, net of reversal (7,680) 6,078 (1,602)

Impairment written off – (98) (98)

Acquisition of a subsidiary 35 – 35

Exchange adjustments (143) (722) (865)
   

As at 31 December 2020 11,102 17,948 29,050

Impairment losses recognised, net of reversal 6,598 1,802 8,400

Impairment written off – (10,796) (10,796)

Transfer to credit-impaired (4,232) 4,232 –

Exchange adjustments (112) (278) (390)
   

As at 31 December 2021 13,356 12,908 26,264
   

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty 

and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, or when the trade receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs 

earlier.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending 

covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major 

financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has 

been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group 

can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment 

dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating-rate, the undiscounted 

amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity tables

Weighted On demand Total

average or less undiscounted Carrying

interest rate than 1 year Over 1 year cash flows amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2021

Trade and other payables – 924,569 – 924,569 924,569

Amount due to an associate – 936 – 936 936

Bank borrowings

 – variable rate 3.48 192,997 – 192,997 191,544

 – fixed rate 2.74 212,324 – 212,324 211,366

Lease liabilities 5.20 70,256 100,083 170,339 158,941

Convertible and exchangeable bonds

 – debt component 16.62 15,000 1,590,236 1,605,236 1,084,874
    

1,416,082 1,690,319 3,106,401 2,572,230
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Liquidity tables (Cont’d)

Weighted On demand Total

average or less undiscounted Carrying

interest rate than 1 year Over 1 year cash flows amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2020

Trade and other payables – 611,091 – 611,091 611,091

Amounts due to associates – 3,484 – 3,484 3,484

Amount due to a joint venture – 593 – 593 593

Bank borrowings

 – variable rate 3.96 120,447 167,412 287,859 273,099

 – fixed rate 2.48 38,648 36,026 74,674 72,571

Lease liabilities 5.28 64,143 125,208 189,351 172,677

Convertible and exchangeable bonds

 – debt component 16.62 15,351 1,627,449 1,642,800 992,116

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests – 99 – 99 99
    

853,856 1,956,095 2,809,951 2,125,730
    

Bank borrowings with a repayable on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than 1 year” band in the 

above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings amounted 

to RMB37,610,000 (2020: RMB32,823,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the 

Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate 

payment. The directors of the Company believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid within one year after the end of 

the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which are 

set out in the table below:
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Maturity Analysis – Bank borrowings with a repayable on demand clause based on scheduled repayments.

Total

Less than undiscounted Carrying

1 year cash flows amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2021 37,655 37,655 37,610
   

31 December 2020 32,863 32,863 32,823
   

Fair value

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 

period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are 

determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into 

which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 

measurements is observable.

‧ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets 

or liabilities.

‧ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 

are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

‧ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability 

that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Fair value (Cont’d)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont’d)

Financial assets/

financial liabilities

Fair value as at

Fair value

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

Significant

unobservable input(s)

Relationship

of unobservable

inputs to fair value

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity instrument at FVTOCI 8,105 10,808 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an

 active market.

N/A N/A

Financial assets at FVTPL 

 – Equity-linked warrants

1,852 3,723 Level 3 Valuation of financial

 assets at FVTPL:

 Binomial valuation model

 using key input:

 expected volatility.

Volatility 90.20%

 (2020: 160.71%)

 is estimated based on the

 historical volatilities of the

 comparable companies.

The higher the expected

 volatility, the higher the

 fair value.

Financial assets at FVTPL

 – Unlisted funds

266,078 281,194 Level 2 Price provided by the

 financial institution with

 reference to underlying

 investment portfolios which

 have observable quoted

 price in active markets.

N/A N/A

Financial assets at FVTPL

 – Others

– 2,058 Level 2 Price provided by the

 financial institution with

 reference to underlying

 investment portfolios

 which have observable

 quoted price in 

 active markets.

N/A N/A

Derivative financial instruments

 – Convertible and

  exchangeable option

– – Level 3 Binomial valuation model

 using key input:

 expected volatility.

Volatility 59.31%

 (2020: 54.68%) is 

 estimated based on

 the historical volatilities of 

 the comparable companies.

The higher the expected

 volatility, the higher

 the fair value.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Fair value (Cont’d)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont’d)

Financial assets/

financial liabilities

Fair value as at

Fair value

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

Significant

unobservable input(s)

Relationship

of unobservable

inputs to fair value

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Derivative financial instruments

 – Unlisted warrants

42,565 40,894 Level 3 Binomial valuation

 model using key input:

 expected volatility.

Volatility 48.95%

 (2020: 45.13%) is

 estimated based on the

 historical volatilities of the

 comparable companies.

The higher the expected 

 volatility, the higher

 the fair value.

Convertible preferred shares – – Level 3 Black-Scholes pricing model

 using key input:

 expected volatility.

Volatility 59.45% (2020:

 54.18%) is estimated

 based on the historical

 volatilities of the 

 comparable companies.

The higher the expected

 volatility, the higher

 the fair value.

There is no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during both years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised 

cost recognised in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values at the end of each reporting period.
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets

Financial

assets at

FVTPL

RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 1,492

Fair value changes 2,424

Exchange adjustments (193)
 

At 31 December 2020 3,723

Fair value changes (1,810)

Exchange adjustments (61)
 

At 31 December 2021 1,852
 

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss, RMB1,810,000 (2020: RMB2,424,000) relates to 

financial assets at FVTPL held at the end of the current reporting period. Fair value gains or losses on financial assets at 

FVTPL are included in ‘Fair value change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Fair value (Cont’d)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont’d)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial liabilities

Derivative

financial

instruments

RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 –

Issue of unlisted warrants 86,795

Fair value changes (43,323)

Exchange adjustments (2,578)
 

At 31 December 2020 40,894
 

At 1 January 2021 40,894

Fair value changes 2,879

Exchange adjustments (1,208)
 

At 31 December 2021 42,565
 

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss, RMB2,879,000 (2020: RMB43,323,000) relates to 

derivative financial instruments held at the end of the current reporting period. Fair value gains or losses on derivative 

financial instruments are included in ‘Fair value change on derivative financial instruments’.
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49. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the assets pledged by the Group to secure the bank borrowings 

granted to the Group as set out in Notes 33 and 40 are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 329,842 353,372

Right-of-use assets 43,566 44,710

Pledged bank deposits 1,047 146,073
  

374,455 544,155
  

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB158,941,000 (2020: RMB172,677,000) are recognised with related right-of-use 

assets of RMB384,712,000 (2020: RMB410,301,000) as at 31 December 2021. The lease agreements do not impose 

any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets 

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

50. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Defined contribution plan

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC 

government. The Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement 

benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to 

make the specified contributions under the scheme.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of 

the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group contributes 5% 

of relevant payroll costs or HKD1,500 per person per month to the scheme, whichever is lower, which is matched by 

employees.

Contributions to the above schemes for the year ended 31 December 2021 made by the Group amounted to 

RMB159,756,000 (2020: RMB144,038,000).
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51. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is ultimately controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Shareholders, Messrs. Liu Dejian, Liu Luyuan and Zheng Hui, 

who have entered into agreement to collectively govern the financial and operating policies of the Company and various 

subsidiaries.

The Group had the following significant related party transactions during the year with certain companies in which some 

directors and shareholders of the Company can exercise significant influence or control.

2021 2020

Nature of transactions RMB’000 RMB’000

Service cost paid to 國騰 85 1,047

Education equipment and related

 goods purchased from 福建創思教育 – 189

Technical services fee paid to 北京企航 – 721

Goods purchased from 國騰 – 16

Goods sold to 國騰 (1,469) (217)

Goods sold to 昆明網龍華漁 (1,107) (132)

Goods sold to 雲啟智慧 (3,515) (2,357)

Service revenue from 雲啟智慧 (1,904) –

Service revenue from 國騰 (2,750) (90)

Interest income from 福建一零一教育 – (12)

Interest receivable/received on loan advanced to key management (373) (392)
  

Included in loan receivables as at 31 December 2021 was loan advanced to key management of approximately 

RMB7,532,000 (2020: RMB7,629,000) and the amounts are unsecured and repayable by instalments until 2022 or 

repayable in whole on 14 January 2022, 30 April 2022 and 31 August 2022 and carries interest rate of 4.15% to 5.00% 

(2020: 4.15% to 5.00%) per annum.
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51. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and other short-term employee benefits 90,284 61,570

Contribution to retirement benefits schemes 602 544

Share-based payments expense 15,750 27,511
  

106,636 89,625
  

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the 

performance of individuals and market trends.

52. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following capital commitments contracted for but not provided in the 

consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the capital injection in a joint venture 606,000 606,000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 278,328 285,450

Capital expenditure in respect of properties under development 544,329 610,269
  

1,428,657 1,501,719
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53. OPERATING LEASE

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was approximately RMB4,792,000 (2020: RMB5,349,000). The property 

is expected to generate rental yields of 6.2% (2020: 5.7%) per annum on an ongoing basis. The property held has 

committed tenants for the 1.92 to 3.25 years.

The Group had contracted with tenant for the following future minimum lease payments:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 1,935 3,193

In the second year 1,882 3,218

In the third year 1,313 3,218

In the fourth year 324 3,044

In the fifth year – 538
  

5,454 13,211
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54. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, 

classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Convertible and

exchangeable

bonds

Bank

borrowings

Dividend

payables

Lease

liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 992,116 345,670 99 172,677 1,510,562

Financing cash flows – 68,101 (302,435) (64,636) (298,970)

New leases – – – 52,656 52,656

Interest paid (48,435) – – (8,723) (57,158)

Non-cash changes:

 Exchange adjustments (23,988) (10,861) – (1,756) (36,605)

 Finance costs recognised 165,181 452 – 8,723 174,356

 Dividends declared – – 302,336 – 302,336

 Facility arrangement fee – (452) – – (452)
     

At 31 December 2021 1,084,874 402,910 – 158,941 1,646,725
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54. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Cont’d)

Convertible and

exchangeable

bonds

Bank

borrowings

Dividend

payables

Lease

liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 – 407,203 – 163,406 570,609

Financing cash flows 948,093 (52,618) (255,070) (62,815) 577,590

New leases – – – 75,059 75,059

Interest paid (25,641) – – (8,966) (34,607)

Non-cash changes:

 Exchange adjustments (60,201) (13,847) – (2,973) (77,021)

 Finance costs recognised 129,865 952 – 8,966 139,783

 Dividends declared – – 255,070 – 255,070

 Dividend payable to 

  non-controlling

  interests of a subsidiary – – 99 – 99

 Facility arrangement fee – 480 – – 480

 Acquisition of a subsidiary – 3,500 – – 3,500
     

At 31 December 2020 992,116 345,670 99 172,677 1,510,562
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55. DETAILS OF THE COMPANY’S PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/

Issued and
fully paid up

ordinary share/

Proportion of registered capital
/issued share capital/equity
interests and voting power

held by the Company
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital directly indirectly Principal activities

2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %

NetDragon BVI BVI USD222,203.93 100 100 – – Investment holding

NetDragon (Fujian)* PRC RMB10,100,000.00 – – – – Operation of online games

TQ Digital# PRC RMB545,000,000.00 – – 100 100 Development of online games
 and licensing and servicing
 of the developed games

NetDragon Websoft Inc. USA USD600,000.00 – – 100 100 Provision of support services
 to the Group

NetDragon Websoft
 (Hong Kong) Limited
 (網龍香港有限公司)

Hong Kong HKD1.00 – – 100 100 Licensing and servicing of the
 developed games and
 provision for support
 services to the Group

Glory More Limited 
 (展凱有限公司)

Hong Kong HKD1.00 – – 100 100 Investment holding 

TQ Online# PRC RMB620,000,000.00 – – 100 100 Development of online games
 and licensing and servicing
 of developed games

Cherrypicks Limited
 (創奇思有限公司)

Hong Kong HKD150,000.00 – – 92.2 92.2 Mobile solution, products
 and marketing business

Cherrypicks Alpha
 Resources 
 (創奇思科研有限公司)

Hong Kong HKD10,000.00 – – 100 100 Development and provision of
 products in AR and computer
 vision with machine
 learning technology

Best Assistant Cayman Islands USD1,682,237.80 – – 90.28 90.08 Investment holding

Fujian Tianquan PRC RMB500,000,000.00 – – 90.28 90.08 Operation and development
 of online education business 

Fujian Huayu* PRC RMB200,000,000.00 – – – – Operation and development of
 online education business

Promethean UK GBP20,320,000.00 – – 90.28 90.08 Sale of education hardware
 and software products

福建天景房地產開發有限公司^ PRC RMB10,000,000.00 – – 100 100 Property development
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55. DETAILS OF THE COMPANY’S PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

* The Group’s control over, and beneficial interest in the equity of, these entities exist by virtue of certain contractual arrangements 

entered into with the Ultimate Controlling Shareholders involving these entities, which are established as limited liability companies 

under PRC law. The Group does not hold ownership interest in the registered capital of these subsidiaries. However, under the 

contractual agreements entered into among the entities, the Ultimate Controlling Shareholders who are the owners of the registered 

capital of these entities and the Group, the Group controls these entities by way of controlling all voting rights in owners’ meetings 

of these entities and governing their financial and operating policies. Under the contractual arrangements, management committees 

are established to oversee the businesses and operations of these entities in order to ensure and facilitate the implementation of the 

contractual arrangements. The management committees shall comprise members, all of whom have to be directors of TQ Digital and 

Fujian Tianquan, subsidiaries of the Company, in order that the decision-making rights and the operating and financing activities 

of these entities are ultimately controlled by the Company. The Company is also entitled to substantially all of the operating profits 

and residual benefits by charging service fee equal to net profit generated by these entities under the contractual arrangements. 

In addition, the owners of the registered capital of these entities have irrecoverably authorised TQ Digital and Fujian Tianquan to 

exercise all their voting rights in NetDragon (Fujian) and Fujian Huayu, including the appointment and removal of the directors of 

these entities. As a result, these entities are regarded as subsidiaries under the control of the Group. Accordingly, the results of these 

entities, if any, and their assets and liabilities are included in the consolidated financial statements.

# Wholly foreign owned enterprise.

^ Limited liability company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally 

affected the result or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in 

particulars of excessive length.
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55. DETAILS OF THE COMPANY’S PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of 

these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong, the UK, the USA and the PRC. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are 

summarised as follows:

Principal activities
Principal place
of business Number of subsidiaries

2021 2020

Investment holding Hong Kong 22 21

Investment holding UK 2 2

Investment holding PRC 1 1

Investment holding BVI – 1

Operation of games PRC 1 1

Development of online and mobile games PRC 3 2

Development of software PRC 1 1

Provision of support to the Group PRC 11 12

Provision of support to the Group Hong Kong 1 1

Provision of online education and related

 application business PRC 3 3

Provision of online education and related

 application business Hong Kong 1 1

Provision of mobile solution, products and

 marketing business to the Group Hong Kong 10 18

Provision of mobile solution, products and

 marketing business to the Group PRC 2 2

Provision of mobile solution, products and

 marketing business to the Group Indonesia 1 1

Provision of education business to the Group PRC 11 15

Provision of education business to the Group Thailand 1 1

Provision of education business to the Group Macau 1 1

Provision of education business to the Group USA 1 1

Provision of education business to the Group HK 1 –

Sale of education hardware and software products UK 1 1
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Principal activities
Principal place
of business Number of subsidiaries

2021 2020

Sale of education hardware and software products USA 1 1

Sale of education hardware and software products Germany 1 1

Sale of education hardware and software products France 1 1

Sale of education hardware and software products PRC 8 6

Sale of education hardware and software products India 1 1

Sale of education hardware and software products Russia 1 1

Sale of education hardware and software products Turkey 1 –

Provision of AR and virtual reality services Hong Kong 1 1

Developing, publishing and distributing multimedia

 educational gaming software and online content USA 3 3

Developing, publishing and distributing multimedia

 educational gaming software and online content India 1 1

Investment in private equity investment fund and

 venture investment fund PRC 1 –
  

95 102
  

55. DETAILS OF THE COMPANY’S PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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